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Foreword by the Chief Executive

The last year has been another of continuing financial 
constraints, rising demand and system pressure and I am 
pleased to be able to say, that once again our staff have risen 
to the challenge and achieved national response time targets 
in Emergency Care and made great strides to improve 
patient transport; implemented the North East’s NHS 111 
service and delivered £5.428 million savings, as well as many 
other achievements. 
Our staff, across all disciplines, whether patient-facing 
or behind the scenes, worked tirelessly to produce these 
results and we wish to record here our appreciation of their 
dedication to patient care in challenging times. 

We recognise that it is becoming more challenging for our 
staff to continue to serve the needs of our patients here in 
the North East, being part of a wider system of urgent and 
emergency care service that we know is creaking and is not 
sustainable in its current form. We do need to move at pace 
to change the way we work. We must not however lose 
sight of what we stand for, in delivering the right care in 
the right place at the right time, and we are committed to 
enabling and empowering our staff to uphold this mission. 

Post Francis, we are ensuring that there continues to 
be the focus on patient care and that our learning is 
making us a better employer and a stronger leader in 
providing emergency and urgent care. There have been 
occasions when things have not happened as they should 
and we do everything we can to ensure the likelihood 
of occurrence is minimised. As well as change the way 
we manage complaints and incidents, we have initiated 
an Organisational Development Programme that will 
support us to make a profound cultural change that 
we believe is essential for us to continue to deliver high 
performing results for our patients and service users. Our 
Commissioners have bought into our transformational plans 
and have committed to a two year contract that will enable 
us to make, some, but not all of the changes necessary to 
future proof the organisation. We have already agreed to 
make some changes and invest in aspects of our service 
provision to protect what we do and keep our patients safe, 
which includes providing much needed clinical leadership to 
our front-line workforce.  

Foreword by the Chief Executive
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Foreword by the Chief Executive

On a disappointing note, the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) completed an inspection of us in February, and 
whilst much positive feedback was obtained from our 
patients and staff regarding the quality of the services 
we deliver, we were found to be non-compliant in some 
regulatory areas. Some areas we were already working 
on and made the necessary changes and we intend to 
continue, at pace, to take further corrective action and 
strengthen our governance arrangements wherever 
possible. 

We continue to be recognised for our outstanding 
contributions to the NHS, having recently been approved 
as Chapter Co-ordinator and Dr Kyee Hann, our Medical 
Director, serving as Chapter Medical Director for 
International Trauma Life Support (ITLS). We have been 
invited to join the National Partnership Network for our 
work on Values Based Recruitment. We are also awaiting 
the results of the UK National Contract Centre Awards for 
2014 for which we have three shortlisted nominees.

During the year, we said goodbye to two long-servicing 
Non-executive Directors, Alison Fellows and John Pescott, 
both of whom served the Board diligently during an 
important phase of its development. The Board was joined 
by Hamish Moore who has assumed Chairmanship of the 
Audit Committee. Our Director of Clinical Care & Patient 
Safety left the Trust for a new role in the NHS and was 
replaced by Joanne Baxter, who joined us from an acute 
hospital foundation trust.

I myself will retire at the end of July 2014 after almost 
fifteen years in post, during which time the organisation 
has been involved in two mergers, has consistently 
delivered ambulance response time since targets were first 
set in 2000, provided a much valued patient transport 
service, achieved foundation trust status and delivered 
innovative developments such as the birth of NHS111. 

We could not possibly have achieved all of this without the 
dedication and commitment of our staff, support from our 
partner organisations and Commissioners and our service 
users and carers, our governors, members and last, but not 
least, our volunteers. On behalf of the Board I would like to 
thank everyone for their continued commitment to NEAS 
and the people who benefit from our services. 

Simon Featherstone 
Chief Executive 
29 May 2014
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Strategic Report and Business Review

About us
The North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
is one of the highest performing ambulance services in 
England operating across Northumberland, Tyne and 
Wear, Durham and Teesside. Our partners include eight 
acute hospital Trusts, two mental health trusts and 12 
local unitary authorities, as well as the police and fire 
services in the North East. We also work very closely with 
St John Ambulance Service and the British Red Cross who 
have provided us with much needed additional capacity 
throughout 2013/14.

We employ over 2,900 people who serve the North East 
population of over 2.6million people and our annual 
budget is £115 million.

We provide emergency and urgent care and patient 
transport services for an area of around 3,230 square miles 
and also now host the North East NHS 111 service. 

We became a foundation trust in November 2011 which 
means we are a membership based, public benefit 
corporation. Our members elect our governing body, our 
Council of 32 Governors. This body holds to account the 
Board of Directors for the management and performance 
of the Trust. 

We are proud of our performance and it reflects the hard 
work and commitment of our staff. We are committed 
to improving a work life balance for our employees, 
recognising our urgent and emergency care system is  
under pressure and this is not unduly placed on our staff. 
Last year we:

• answered 449,749 emergency calls across our two 
contact centres

• responded to 389,832 emergency and urgent incidents, 
this was an increase of 5% on the previous year.

• carried out 944 high dependency transfers

• undertook 911,990 patient journeys for patients 
requiring healthcare or treatment services at outpatient 
appointments.

• answered 555,860 NHS 111 calls

• provided 253 First Aid at Work Training courses

In line with our mission, ‘Right Care, Right Place, Right 
Time’, and strategic direction of travel, we up-skilled 45 
Paramedics through our CQUIN scheme and this has 
enabled us to keep more people out of hospital. We call 
this our ‘See & Treat’ activity and last year we were able 
to treat and care for 6,650 more patients in this way than 
the previous year. We also referred 1,311 more people to 
an alternative service through the regional Directory of 
Services which continues to be populated with alternative 
community services. 

Our Contact Centre over the last year has undergone 
further change. We now have in place an effective Team 
Management structure providing support and mentorship 
for our call handlers. This year we have three shortlisted 
nominees for the UK National Contact Centre Awards 
2014 in the categories of Recruitment Champion and Team 
Leader/Managers of the year.

Within PTS, more and more people are getting to their 
appointments closer to their appointment time as we 
move away from the use of ‘banding times’, and our PTS 
apprenticeship scheme has had great success, with two 
of our apprentices winning regional awards, ‘Intermediate 
apprentice of the year’ and ‘Apprentice who has made the 
greatest contribution to patient experience of the year’.

We have extended our training services, providing First Aid 
refresher training to Oil Rig medics. This was carried out in 
our Scotswood training facility.  

We have received formal accreditation as the North East 
Chapter for International Trauma Life Support (ITLS). Dr 
Kyee Hann, our Medical Director serves as Chapter Medical 
Director for this service.

We achieved all three of our Emergency Care response time 
targets:

• Category A Red 1 – 76.95% in 8 minutes

• Category A Red 2 – 78.94% in 8 minutes

• Category A Red Transports – 96.96% in 19 minutes

Despite our high performances reported and high quality 
of services recognised through our patient experience 
programmes and the Care Quality Commission (CQC), 

Strategic Report and Business Review
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Strategic Report and Business Review

during their unannounced inspection in February 2014, the 
CQC also identified four areas where we were not meeting 
certain standards of regulation. These were; relating to 
workers (moderate concern); assessing and monitoring the 
quality of service provision (moderate concern); supporting 
workers (minor concerns); and management of medicines 
(minor concern).  

Historically, we have held a very strong record of 
compliance, up until this point. As a top performing 
organisation, integrity, honesty and openness are 
embedded in our values and we have reported throughout 
the last year our concern about the pressures we, and the 
whole system, place our staff under. Our weaknesses in 
aspects of regulation are reflective of those pressures but 
do not excuse it. Through our own controls and learning 
from incidents, complaints, the Mid Staffordshire NHS 
Foundation Trust public inquiry and the Clywd-Hart report, 
we had already started to address identified weaknesses in 
a number of ways:

• Extensive staff surveys and reviews which led to priority 
actions and task and finish groups to address late 
finishes and late meal breaks.

• Expediting conclusion of the Team Leader review to 
be ready for implementation early 2014/15, which will 
enable us to address how we support and supervise 
workers.

• Overhaul of the incident reporting system and 
improvements are continuing to be made.

• Extensive and varied communications regarding the 
management of medicines which includes the disposal 
of out of date drugs, and we commenced a review of 
our Cold Chain Storage procedures directly following the 
inspection findings.

• Initiation of a strategic development to integrate 
care and transport across our two major service lines 
Emergency Care and PTS to secure efficiencies and align 
resources more appropriately to meet patient need.  

• Addressed the shortfalls in our rolling programme of 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checking process, 
addressing both moderate concerns that were identified.

The latter point led to the Trust receiving an enforcement 
action from the CQC. In respect of this action plan all 
checks were undertaken in the last quarter of last year 
and all staff requiring a DBS check has one. A number of 
changes have been made to the process and it is now a key 
reporting metric on the monthly Trust Board report. 

We have documented and shared our plans to correct the 
areas where we are not meeting the standards and these 
actions are to be completed throughout the early part of 
next year.A key action is an external review of our patient 
facing policy which will be concluded in May and reported 
to our Board in June. Another is a review of our governance 
arrangements to be completed by an external organisation. 
At this present time we are awaiting feedback from 
Monitor regarding our Governance Risk Rating for Quarter 
4 of 2013/14. 

Operating and financial review
This section of our annual report sets out how we are 
measured operationally and looks at how we have 
managed our financial affairs and contributed to our 
strategic intention “to have sound financial health”, for the 
period ended 31st March 2014. 

We are regulated by both Monitor and the CQC, assessing 
our performance against mandatory targets and also 
against a set of national safety and quality outcomes 
on patient safety, clinical and cost effectiveness and 
governance.

Our performance  - key healthcare targets

The business of the Trust is delivered predominantly 
through three core service lines; Emergency Care Services 
(ECS), Patient Transport Service (PTS) and Contact Centres.

The Trust’s fourth service line is Commercial Business 
Services which brings in additional income through 
provision of a variety of healthcare related training. Our 
intention is to significantly grow this service line to bring 
further income and opportunities and make improvements 
across all of our services.
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Emergency Care and Contact Centre
We believe the UK has some of the toughest performance 
targets of any ambulance service in the world set out by 
the Department of Health, and demand for our emergency 
service continues to rise every year. The Trust successfully 
met and exceeded all challenging performance targets for 
2013/14:

Category A (Red 1 and Red 2) 8 

Life threatening emergency calls, presenting conditions 
which may be immediately life threatening and should 
receive an emergency response within 8 minutes 
irrespective of location in 75% of cases. 

Category A (Red) 19 

Life threatening emergency calls, presenting conditions 
which require a fully equipped ambulance vehicle to attend 
the incident, must have an ambulance vehicle arrive within 
19 minutes in 95% of cases.

Key Performance 
Indicator

National target Actual performance 
2013/14

Actual performance 
2012/13

Category A (Red - all) 8 75% 78.90% 76.41%

Category A (Red 1) 8 75% 76.95% 76.59%

Category A (Red 2) 8 75% 78.94% 76.50%

Category A (Red) 19 95% 96.96% 96.98%

Strategic Report and Business Review
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The Trust is committed to the delivery of the national 
response targets set for ambulance services and proactively 
monitors daily forecasts and actual performance. The 
impressive year-on-year track record of success, in the face 
of an increased demand on health services, continues to 
provide strong assurance for patients and Commissioners 
that we are able to respond to patient need and 
achieve national response targets. We actively targeted 
improvement in our more rural areas and delivered slight 
improvements in performance as shown.

Category A Red performance 2012/13 2013/14 Variance 71st percentile*

NHS Northumberland CCG 68.30% 70.75% +2.45% 08:05

NHS North Tyneside CCG 79.72% 81.84% +2.12%

NHS Newcastle North and East CCG 85.82% 87.48% +1.66%

NHS Newcastle West CCG 90.23% 91.38% +1.15%

NHS Gateshead CCG 78.89% 80.89% +2.00%

NHS South Tyneside CCG 82.54% 85.14% +2.60%

NHS Sunderland CCG 78.76% 82.19% +3.43%

NHS North Durham CCG 69.05% 70.92% +1.87% 08:02

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 63.36% 68.51% +5.15% 08:27

NHS Darlington CCG 81.21% 82.01% +0.80%

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-On-Tees CCG 77.56% 78.94% +1.38%

NHS South Tees CCG 78.78% 80.77% +1.99%

*We closely monitor the average response time at the 71st percentile for our more rural CCGs.

Strategic Report and Business Review
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Clinical Audit
We monitor a range of performance information and continued to drive through improvements last year.

Key Performance Indicator Actual Performance 
2012/13

Actual Performance 2013/14

1. Call abandonment rate 2.19% 2.52%

2. Re-contact rate following discharge of care

Re-contact rate following discharge 
of care by telephone

15.81% 14.53%

Re-contact, following discharge of care from 
treatment at the scene

4.99% 4.63%

3. Outcome from cardiac arrest-return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC)

ROSC at time of arrival at hospital (Overall) 24.0% 24.7%*

ROSC at time of arrival at hospital (Utstein**) 52.2% 59.2%*

4. Service experience Net promoter score is being introduced from 2014/15

5. Outcome from acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) (Heart attack)

Percentage of STEMI patients receiving 
thrombolysis within 60 minutes of call

NEAS does not practice thrombolysis. The Trust worked to PPCI 
instead (see indicator below)

The percentage of patients suffering a STEMI 
who are directly transferred to a centre capable 
of delivering primary percutaneous coronary 
intervention (PPCI) and receive angioplasty within 
150 minutes of call.

95.9% 92.5%*

85.4% 85.1%*

6. Outcome from stroke for ambulance patients

The percentage of Face Arm Speech Test (FAST) 
positive stroke patients (assessed face to face) 
potentially eligible for stroke thrombolysis, who 
arrive at a hyperacute stroke centre within 60 
minutes of call.

78.7% 76.5%*

The percentage of suspected stroke patients 
(assessed face to face) who receive an appropriate 
care bundle.

97.6% 98.0%*

Strategic Report and Business Review
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Key Performance Indicator Actual Performance 
2012/13

Actual Performance 2013/14

7. Outcome from cardiac arrest – survival to discharge

Survival to discharge 6.3% 7.0%*

Survival to discharge [Utstein**] 29.7% 31.3%*

8. Time to answer call

Median (seconds) 1 1

95th percentile (seconds) 1 - 67 40-47

9. Time to treatment- Category A calls (immediately life threatening)

Median (minutes and seconds) 5:33 – 6:42 5:42 - 6:23

95th percentile 14:24 – 20:45 15:57 - 20:14

99th percentile 18:09 – 34:13 24:21 - 34:07

10. Ambulance calls closed with telephone advice or managed without transport to A&E (where clinically 
appropriate)

Calls closed with telephone advice 3.35% 4.49%

Incidents managed without the need to transport 
to A&E. 

33.07% 30.63%

*Data only cover first three quarters of 2013/14
**Utstein is a set of uniform reporting rules and criteria for studying episodes and outcomes of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest which focus on cases of witnessed cardiac 
arrest due to ventricular fibrillation or pulseless ventricular tachycardia.

Strategic Report and Business Review
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For the third year running, we were reported as the best 
Ambulance Service in England and Wales for transporting 
STEMI patients within the recommended timeframe.

We are continuing to promote to staff the importance 
of recording the delivery of the appropriate care bundle 
for patients presenting with stroke, hypoglycaemia and 
STEMI. This data is monitored monthly and we benchmark 
against the national standard. This information is reported 
to the Clinical Audit Steering Group and the Trust’s 
Quality Committee. The Quality Improvement Officers 
clinically review those cases where the appropriate care 
bundle was not delivered or were not transported within 
the recommended timeframe to identify the time range, 
reasons for delay, identify any clinical risk that may have 
arisen and the divisions which are most responsible.

The Quality Improvement Officers are also reviewing 
operational clinical performance on an individual basis and 
sharing this information with Operational Team Leaders so 
that clinical concerns can be resolved more effectively.  

We are currently part way through a peer review of all of 
the AQIs, not just those clinical, for their benchmarking 
validity. There are some clear differences in performance 
across the country and improved performances that we 
wish to learn from others.

We actively participate in other national clinical audit as well 
as undertake local audits. Last year we reviewed:

• The potential use of activated charcoal for overdose 
patients in line with NICE Guidance, NICE (2004) which 
led to a recommendation to the Clinical Audit Group to 
consider introducing its use.

• Audit of under twos not conveyed showed that of the 
patients who were not conveyed to hospital there were 
no cases found where re-contact had been made for the 
child within 48 hours.

• An audit of airway management was undertaken to 
assess whether clinicians are following the Airway and 
Breathing Management protocol. Assurance was provided 
that staff follow the stepwise approach in the majority 
of cases however; whenever intubation was carried it 
was not possible to determine that a bougie was used to 
assist with the correct placement of the tube. This issue is 
being addressed by the Quality Improvement Officers and 
through our Annual Essential Training.

Strategic Report and Business Review
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How we monitor national and local targets

We have a robust monitoring tool where key performance 
indicators from various departments within the Trust 
are recorded. This tool is called the Integrated Quality & 
Performance Report, and contains information which allows 
us to build up a fulsome picture of Trust performance and 
assurance. The report cover metrics such as: 

•  Rate of complaints and appreciations received

•  Serious incidents and never events

•  Call answer performance in our contact centres

•  Response time performance for our emergency vehicles

•  Staffing levels

•  Staff sickness absence

•  Rate of staff training and staff appraisals 

•  Financial performance and cost improvement savings 

•  Safeguarding referrals

•  Patient safety incidents (all adverse events are measured 
and monitored for both staff and patients)

In addition to our Integrated Quality & Performance 
Report, we produce a Quarterly Quality & Performance 
Report which is a qualitative report reported to the Trust 
Board each quarter and provides an overview of Trust 
performance and compliance. We also monitor our Quality 
Risk Profile (QRP) closely. The QRP is a document produced 
by our independent regulator, the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC). It holds information on various areas of performance 
within our Trust and highlights where we may need to 
make improvements in line with other NHS providers. We 
have monitored the QRP every time the CQC have released 
one (there are currently nine QRPs released every year) and 
implemented action plans which track any negatively rated 
risks at Board committee level.

Patient Transport Service
National targets do not exist for our Patient Transport 
Service. We monitor some internally and in response to our 
new appointment based service introduced in October last 
year we now regularly report on a number of new metrics 
such as time spent travelling to appointments. The metrics 
are still under review and are reported within the Quality 
Report section of this report.

Strategic Report and Business Review
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NHS 111 Service
The Trust reports on a number of metrics for the new NHS 
111 service, the key metrics are shown below. The full 
service went live on 3 April 2013.

The performance of our NHS 111 throughout last year 
continued to improve. We are responsive to patients calling 
the service delivering a high overall response standard. 
There have been dips in performance and we have worked 
hard to match our staffing resources to the profile of the 
calls to ensure optimal performance, but we still have more 
to do. 

Through call and clinical audit activity we have being doing 
a lot of learning and have made a number of changes in 
response. For example, a bespoke training package was 
developed for our call handlers to focus on questions and 
pathways that were generating the most inappropriate 
dispositions.

Work continues to improve warm transfers, call back and 
transfer activity.

Key Performance Indicator National target Actual performance 
2013/14

Actual performance 
2012/13

Calls answered within 80 seconds >95% 97.1% 94.5%

Warm Transfers >98% 82.2% 90.8%

Time take for call backs 100% 66.9% 44.6%

Transfer to 999 <10% 11.0% 14.5%

Attend ED <5% 3.4% 5.4%

Strategic Report and Business Review
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Financial Performance 
This section of our annual report looks at how we have 
managed our financial affairs and contributed to our 
strategic intention “to have sound financial health”, for the 
period ended 31 March 2014 and how we have performed 
against our mandatory targets. 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view in accordance with the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/2014. Directors have 
a reasonable expectation that the Trust has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason the Trust continues to 
adopt the going concern principle in preparing the annual 
accounts and annual report.

Our full accounts, presented at the end of the report, have 
been prepared in accordance with the directions made 
under paragraph 24 of schedule 7 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 and Monitor, the Independent Regulator 
of NHS Foundation Trusts. 

Summary performance

It has been another financially challenging year for the Trust 
as we continue to develop the services we provide for the 
people of the North East whilst at the same time dealing 
with increasing demands for our services and delivering 
efficiency savings. We achieved a normalised surplus of 
£1.2 million (£2.3million in 2012/13). This is reflective of 
the financial strain the Trust is under. The Trust has always 
been the Trust with the lowest reference cost and this is 
starting to affect our financial performance. Our end of 
year cash balance was £13.5 million and we made a capital 
investment of £3.7m which was less than our plan of £7.4 
million due to a delay in the procurement of our Emergency 
Care vehicles. 

Overall our income for the year was ahead of our original 
plan that we submitted to Monitor (our independent 
regulator). This was due to a number of factors including:

• Increased Emergency Care activity volumes above 
contract and Monitor plan

• Increased Extra Contractual Referrals for patients 
requiring transport out of our area

• Increased PTS activity in Cumbria

• Increased sporting and event cover activity

The majority of our income does come from the provision 
of our Emergency Care and Patient Transport Services 
through our main contract which we have in place for the 
12 CCGs in our geographical area.

Emergency Care contracts are based on a locally agreed tariff 
for an agreed volume of incidents relating to the number of 
calls answered and triaged and then either treated on scene 
or transported to hospital. Any activity in addition to the 
contracted volumes is charged at a marginal rate.  

Strategic Report and Business Review
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Our Patient Transport Service Contract is based on a block 
contract and is for transporting patients to out-patient 
appointments, day centres, Out of Hours treatment centres 
and Primary Care Centres. Additional income is also 
received for our NHS111 service.

The Trust has complied with Section 43(2A) of the NHS 
Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 
2012) which requires that the income from the provision of 
goods and services for the purposes of the health service in 
England must be greater than its income from the provision 
of goods and services for any other purposes. The impact 
of other income on the Trust is insignificant.

Our running costs continue to be tightly controlled with a 
number of areas underspending as follows:-

•  fuel, mainly due to improved purchasing as we moved 
over to bunkered fuel

•  vehicle insurance

•  vehicle leases

•  training

However there were a number of overspends by the end of 
the year in the areas of:-

• Pay - both in Emergency Care and PTS 

• Agency staff - in our Contact Centre

• Use of third party transport providers  

• Drugs and clinical supplies

• Vehicle maintenance 

• External consultancy

Our cost improvement programme is pivotal to achieving 
financial performance and we over achieved our CIP 
target by 14% (or £667,000), however this was based 
on achievement of non-recurrent savings, which has only 
compounded the CIP target for future years.

Whilst overall, financial performance ended on a strong 
note, we are investing in areas during 2014/15 recurrently, 
such as the Team leader review, and we will need to utilise 
our currently healthy financial reserve to do so. We also 
intend to invest in Agile working which will further reduce 
our cash position, but we are positive that these are wise 
investments in support of our future plans. The Agile 
working programme is set to deliver savings from 2016/17.

Patient activity 
(local tariff)

Plan 2013/14 Contract 2013/14 Outturn 2013/14 Outturn 2012/13

Calls 466,448 491,564 441,329 443,399

Hear and Treat 13,269 13,534 12,033 12,302

See and Treat 73,465 76,290 79,535 80,248

See and Convey 296,795 288,136 309,845 308,884

Neo-natal 587 574 619 700

Strategic Report and Business Review
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There are risks to achieving these plans and the Board is 
confident they will be effectively managed and controlled 
through sound financial management and ongoing firm 
contract agreements with our Commissioners. We have 
already agreed with our Commissioners to review our tariff 
in light of ‘rewarding for value rather than volume’. 

Fraud and Corruption

The Trust’s contracts with Commissioners for healthcare 
include specific clauses and schedules regarding counter 
fraud arrangements.

Local Counter Fraud Specialist Services (LCFS) are provided 
to the Trust via contract arrangements with Sunderland 
Internal Audit Services (SIAS). Individuals appointed as 
LCFS have been approved as suitable for this role by the 
Counter Fraud and Security Management Service (CFSMS). 
An annual plan, updates on progress against the plan 
and an annual report on compliance against the Counter 
Fraud arrangements are presented to the Audit Committee 
regularly. The Trust’s Counter Fraud Policy is available on 
the organisations website.

Prudential borrowing limit

We are no longer required to have a working capital facility 
and do not require it.

Better Payment Practice Code

The Government’s ‘Better Payment Practice Code’ requires 
public sector bodies to pay all trade creditors within 30 days 
or within the agreed terms. 

The Trust is an approved signatory of the prompt payment 
code, hosted by the Institute of Credit Management on 
behalf of the Department of Business Innovation and Skills. 
As a result the Trust is committed to:

• Pay suppliers within agreed terms

• Ensure suppliers know how to invoice them

• Encourage good practice

The Trust paid 95% and 96% of its non-NHS invoices 
within 30 days by number and value respectively and 
similarly 97% and 98% on its NHS invoices within 30 days 
by number and value respectively.

During 2013/2014 no interest was payable under the Late 
Payments of Commercial Debts (interest) Act 1998.

Principal risks and uncertainties  
facing the Trust
We have a robust approach to recognising and monitoring 
risk within our organisation, through our directorate and 
organisational risk registers. We are aware that our business 
and the services we provide form part of the broader 
NHS and we must be aware of the changing environment 
in healthcare, commissioning and the general operating 
environment. The principal risks and threats faced by the 
Trust are aligned to corporate objectives and mission, ‘Right 
Care, Right Place, Right Time’.

We perceive the principal risks facing our organisation at 
present to be:

• Pressures on maintaining quality whilst under financial 
pressure and the demand for our services continues to rise. 

• We need to be able to actively reduce the number of 
conveyances to hospital and increase our See and Treat 
activity to evidence base our transformation programme. 
This is key to securing additional income and agreeing a 
contract that is based on value rather than volume. There 
is a degree of uncertainty of how much commissioners 
are willing and are able to invest in NEAS to support 
hospital avoidance initiatives. 

•  The Integrated Transport Solution we are looking to 
implement is untested and there are expectations that 
this will help contribute to improving EC response 
times in rural areas and be more responsive to other 
transport requirements such as End of Life. These are key 
objectives of the transformational work programme but 
its impact has not yet been quantified. The investment 
is also being made non-recurrent; therefore we need to 
evidence key positive outcomes to secure a longer term 
financial commitment.

•  We acknowledge we have a weakness in workforce 
supervision and it will take some time to correct this. 
Interim arrangements have been put in place. 

Strategic Report and Business Review
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•  Delivery of our cost improvement programme is 
becoming an increasing challenge. We are the lowest 
cost base ambulance service (reference costs) and are 
still subject to the same efficiency targets. There is some 
uncertainty on how the target will be formed in future 
years. This may benefit the Trust.

These are our principal risks, however all risks are captured 
in our registers and we have fully reviewed our risks as part 
of our production of the Trust’s annual Board Assurance 
Framework which can be found on our website.

Our Workforce
Due to financial constraints investment in the Trust’s 
establishment in recent years has been focussed on new 
services mainly through the Contact Centre, such as NHS 
111. There has been some increase in PTS staffing in 
relation to the new Renal Dialysis Service we now provide in 
the South of Tyne area and also to enable service changes 
outlined in our PTS Strategy document in 2012/13.

Non-pay investment has been targeted towards new 
equipment, drugs and treatments to benefit patients, 
research and development and our essential estates 
programme. We do receive income that we are required to 
spend in the area of research and development. 

The following table shows the latest position regarding 
our staff numbers and going forward we will start to see 
increases in these numbers as part of our Operational Plan 
to invest in Team Leaders and develop a new Paramedic 
Practitioner role. 

2012/13 FTE 2013/14 FTE

Emergency Care 1088.00 1094.00

PTS 428.78 455.28

Contact Centre 292.92 309.76

Service Line 
Management

73.00 82.60

Support Services 337.95 340.90

We also employ 278 volunteers (car drivers and porters) 
across the Trust and 377 Community First Responders.

In Emergency Care we have a committed and capable 
workforce and over the last year we have been training our 
staff to deal with more patients on scene. We are rolling 
out our programme of Enhanced CARe throughout the 
next two years and will support staff in this approach, still 
ensuring patients receive appropriate care and do go to 
hospital when necessary.

The Team Leader review was concluded and it has been 
agreed to recruit an additional 60 staff into a ‘Team 
Leader’ role. There are changes being made to the role 
which will provide our front-line staff with more visible 
line management, clinical support and supervision and 
leadership.

Other staff within the Trust are also under pressure 
to do more. Patient transport activity has increased, 
and no additional staff has been able to be recruited 
due to financial constraints. Similarly, due to our lean 
infrastructure, support staff, who ensure our staff have 
vehicles, get paid on time, are trained and have secured 
employment through contract negotiations, are also having 
to absorb more work.

Over the last year we have seen a deterioration in staff 
morale. Productivity is high in patient care and staff are 
being placed under pressure to do more. There are a 
number of initiatives underway for 2014/15 to address this.

One indicator we use to monitor the health and well-being 
of our staff is the staff absence rate. We have had in place 
a target of 5% for the last few years, and over the last year 
we have had absence fall to this level. In PTS and Contact 
Centre we experienced staff absence close to 5% however, 
from December onwards absence started to increase and 
at the end of the year our absence rate was at an average 
of 5.92%. This is 46,930 FTE days lost to sickness out of 
792,922.
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Mix of our workforce

The Trust’s senior management workforce (Band 8a and 
above) make up 2% of the total workforce. Our workforce 
numbers are high in Band 5 (34%) with our front-line 
workforce making up the most of these numbers. 

We have more male workers than female (60/40 split) and 
2% of our workforce are of BME. 

The gender breakdown across the grades is shown below:

Male Female

Executives 4 2

Senior Managers 23 16

All employees 1,358 915

The Trust supports seconded staff and career breaks and 
has a successful apprenticeship scheme. Our apprenticeship 
scheme, supported by Gateshead College, provides young 
people with an opportunity to experience a year as a 
member of our PTS. Two of our apprentices have won 
national awards for their commitment, dedication and 
approach whilst in post. We will be increasing further the 
number of apprenticeships on offer during 2014/15.

Social and Community Matters
Estates and fleet management

Employment of an Environmental and Sustainability 
Manager and the restructure of the Estates Department 
have ensured carbon reduction is a key focus of the Trust. 
We are working towards a 34% reduction target by 2020. 
Last year the Estates Team has completed a number of 
projects that not only cut carbon but produced financial 
efficiencies by reducing dependency on fossil fuels.

• Installation of 26 automatic gas meters which allows us 
to see real time usage and monitoring across these sites 
and target reductions accordingly.

• Installation of Solar photovoltaic (PV) technology at four 
of our stations. Generating our own electricity from the 
sun’s rays will save us over £6,000 in electricity costs in 
the first year of operating; they also have the benefit of 
qualifying for a government feed in tariff, generating a 
further £7,000 in the first year.

• Use of LED lighting technologysaving approximately 
£20,000 in electricity cost in the first year of operation.

• Replacement boiler programme and heating controls.

These and other general estates projects we have 
generated over £60,000 utility savings and achieved a 
carbon reduction of 203 tonnes which is a reduction of 
8.5% from 2012/13 estates carbon footprint.

We have continued to invest in more fuel efficient vehicles 
and have started work exploring the use of an electric 
vehicle focussing firstly on pool and Customer Care cars. 

Many of these successful projects will be rolled into future 
year’s estates programme and it is our intention to roll out 
a programme of environmental awareness across the Trust 
and recruit interested parties to become environmental 
champions and help us to achieve further environmental 
savings long term.
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Through policy we ensure that all procurement is 
considerate of our sustainability agenda and our approved 
Sustainable Development Management Plan is keeping 
our programme of work on track and is being regularly 
reviewed for progress. 

Community Engagement

Over the last year we recruited and trained 73 Community 
First Responders, specifically targeting recruitment in rural 
areas taking our total to 377 across the North East. Our first 
responders would be dispatched to patients with breathing 
difficulties and respiratory arrest, chest pains, heart attack, 
cardiac arrest or those who are unconsciousness (when not 
due to a trauma) or have collapsed.

Our Community First Responder team also deliver a “heart 
start” program to local communities and trained 5,471 
members of the public in what to do in an emergency. 
Within our safety workshops we teach children from as 
young as three years what do if an emergency should 
occur.

Our role in the community is becoming more important in 
relation to health and accident preventions. Throughout 
last year our staff have visited schools, clubs, fetes, melas, 
organisations, events and career road shows across the 
region helping to educate the public about accident 
prevention, the work of an emergency service as well as 
promoting the North East Ambulance Service as a potential 
employer.

Our role in the rural community is one that is becoming 
much more integrated with the wider health and social 
care network. We have community paramedics who are 
based in GP surgeries where they work alongside primary 
and community care where they undertake Electro 
Cardio Graphs (ECGs)for patients, take bloods and event 
visitpatients at home if they have chronic conditions such 
as Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disorder (COPD). They 
are also helping Practice Nurses by visiting patients who 
may not have had a health check in over a year and are 
supporting GPs by responding to urgent home visits. This 
means that GPs can remain at their surgery to see more 
patients and reduce the number of appointments being 
delayed or rescheduled. Further integration with community 
teams is high on our agenda and we have been supporting 
the development of Better Care Fund plans in our region.

The Trust’s volunteer porter scheme, introduced three 
years ago now, continues to thrive and we supported five 
people into employment last year. The scheme is also now 
delivered in partnership with Northumberland College and 
we are supporting a number of student placements for 
years 2 and 3 of their study.

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors

Simon Featherstone 
Chief Executive 
29th May, 2014
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Directors’ Report 
Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for formulating and 
driving strategy, ensuring accountability and shaping culture. 
It is ultimately accountable for everything that goes on 
in the organisation and it is responsible for putting the 
right people, the right quality of information and the right 
systems in place to make decisions. It operates through a 
scheme of delegation within a robust framework of systems 
and reporting which ensures that core business and risks 
are being controlled. The Board gains assurance through 
its committee structure and sources of other assurance 
and it meets formally, both in public and private sessions 
throughout the year to discharge its duties and receive 
those assurances. Our Chairman and Chief Executive have 
complementary roles in leadership:

• Our Chairman leads the Board of Directors and ensures 
its effectiveness and he chairs the Council of Governors.

• The Chief Executive leads our Executive Team and the 
organisation.

All Directors subscribe to the ‘Codes of Conduct and 
Accountability in the NHS’ and in January 2013, the 
Board adopted a set of Standards that were issued by the 
Professional Standards Authority and which bring together 
the essential skills that are expected of leaders in the NHS; 
in their personal behaviour, technical competence and 
business conduct.  

The Board of Directors has a range of skills and experiences 
gained from both the public and private sectors that 
complement all areas of our business including clinical, 
contact centre management, logistics, finance, human 
resource management and operations management. 
This range of skills ensures balance, completeness and 
appropriateness of membership of the Board of Directors. 

The roles of Executive and Non-Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors contribute to the development 
of strategy and play an important role in scrutinising the 
management in achieving agreed goals and objectives and 
monitoring the reporting of performance. Non-Executive 
Directors are drawn from the local community and can 
ensure that the voice of the public is heard in decision-
making processes and that the interests of patients remain 
at the heart of Board discussions. Non-Executives also have 
a role in working with the Chairman in the appointment 
and remuneration of the Chief Executive and other 
Executive Directors as members of the Trust’s Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee.

Executive Directors share the same corporate responsibilities 
as Non-Executive colleagues but bring detailed knowledge 
of the organisation’s management systems and processes 
and of the health sector, as well as specialised clinical and 
managerial expertise. The Trust has six Executive Directors 
who are all employed by the Trust on permanent contracts 
with a six month notice period.  

All Non-Executive Directors are considered to be 
independent by the Trust

Appointments and removal of directors are completed in 
accordance with the NHS Act 2006.

Non-Executive Directors, John Pescott and Alison Fellows 
left the Trust in Quarter 3 2013/14 and a new appointment 
has been made. Hamish Moore took up the position of 
Non-Executive Director and Audit Committee Chairman 
with effect from 1 November 2013. Mr Moore is currently 
a senior partner at a private consultancy firm based in 
Newcastle and has chaired Newcastle City Council’s Audit 
Committee since 2005. The Panel had confirmed that Mr 
Moore would undertake the job effectively and that he had 
demonstrated his outstanding ability to fulfil the role. This 
has provided a more balanced Board of Directors. 

Director’s Report
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The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance, and 
NEAS’ Constitution, authorises the Council of Governors 
to appoint one of the Non-Executive Directors as Deputy 
Chairman of the Trust “for such a period as it may specify 
(not to exceed the remainder of his/her term as a Non-
Executive Director)”. The previous Deputy Chairman, 
John Pescott, left the Trust at the end of October 2013 
and as such the Chairman had canvassed the remaining 
Non-Executive Directors for expressions of interest in 
taking up the role. Peter Wood had put himself forward. 
The Governor Nomination & Remuneration Committee 
supported the proposal that Peter Wood be appointed as 
Deputy Chairman and in doing so, had taken into account 
Peter’s experience and performance over the previous year; 
noting that he had ‘exceeded all objectives set, by some 
distance’. The Council agreed to the appointment of Peter 
Wood as Deputy Chairman for the remainder of his current 
term which ends on 31 October 2015.

The NHS Foundation Trust Code also recommended that 
the Board of Directors, in conjunction with the Council of 
Governors, appointed one of the Non-Executive Directors 
as the Senior Independent Director (SID). The Council of 
governors was aware that Alison Fellows had previously 
fulfilled this role, but left the Trust at the end of October 
2013. The Chairman had sought expressions of interest 
from the remaining Non-Executive Directors in taking up 
that role and Helen Tucker had put herself forward.

The Board of Directors had agreed that Helen Tucker should 
be appointed to the role of SID for the remainder of her 
‘initial’ term and the Governor Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee supported this decision. The Committee 
reviewed Mrs Tucker’s performance in April and agreed that 
she had performed well; making a significant contribution 
to Board and Committee debates, balancing constructive 
challenge while supporting the Executive members.

The Chief Executive has announced his intention to retire 
at the end of July 2014, having spent the last 15 years 
providing exemplary leadership ofthe Trust.

Under the Foundation Trust Constitution, removal of 
the Chairman or Non-Executive Directors requires the 
approval of three-quarters of the members of the Council 
of Governors. Appointments will also be terminated if, in 
accordance with the Constitution, they become disqualified 
from holding their appointment or they resign from office 
by giving notice.
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Director’s Report

Name and position Background  
(Skills, experience and 

expertise)

Board of 
Directors 
(out of 22 
meetings 

held)

Audit 
(out of 7 
meetings 

held)

Nomination & 
Remuneration 

(out of 3 
meetings held)

Council of 
Governors

Executive Directors

Simon Featherstone, 
Chief Executive

Simon has announced 
his retirement from 
the Trust in July 2014.

• Chartered Accountant

• Exemplary leader as Chief 
Executive of the North 
East Ambulance NHS 
Trust since it was formed 
in 2006 from the merger 
of North East Ambulance 
Service with Teesside, 
East and North Yorkshire 
Ambulance Trusts.

22 1 N/A 4

Roger French, 
Director of Finance 
& Resources and 
Deputy Chief 
Executive

• Chartered CIPFA 
Accountant

• Roger is a long serving 
Director of Finance in  
the NHS

22 7 N/A 2

Paul Liversidge, Chief 
Operating Officer

• Extensive operational and 
general management

19 4 N/A 1

Rod MacLeod, 
Acting Associate 
Director of 
Strategy, 
Contracting & 
Performance

(until June 2013)

• Chartered Accountant

• Significant public sector 
experience acting as 
Director of Finance for 
South Tyneside PCT for a 
number of years

0 N/A N/A N/A

Nichola Fairless, 
Associate Director 
of Strategy, 
Contracting & 
Performance

(from June 2013 due 
to maternity leave) 

• MBA (University of 
Durham Business School)

• BSc (Hons) in 
Mathematics

• Extensive experience 
in performance 
management, business 
and strategic planning in 
the public sector

20 N/A N/A 2
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Name and position Background (Skills, 
experience and 
expertise)

Board of 
Directors 
(out of 22 
meetings 

held)

Audit 
(out of 7 
meetings 

held)

Nomination & 
Remuneration 

(out of 3 
meetings held)

Council of 
Governors

Executive Directors Continued

Ann Fox Director 
of Clinical Care & 
Patient Safety

(until April 2013)

• Ann has an extensive 
clinical background, 
working in the NHS for 
over 25 years starting 
with a career in nursing

2 1 N/A 1

Paul Fell, Acting 
Director of Clinical 
Care & Patient 
Safety

(from May 2013 until 
July 2013)

• Consultant Paramedic

• Providing leadership in 
clinical care and patient 
safety

8 2 N/A N/A

Jo Baxter, Director 
of Clinical Care & 
Patient Safety, RGN

(from 1stAug 2013)

• MBA

• BSc (Hons)

• Executive nurse, with 26 
years’ of experience of 
working in the NHS

12 3 N/A 2

Joanne Machers 
Director of 
Workforce & 
Organisational 
Development

(From 1st July 2013)

• Fellow of the Chartered 
Institute of Personnel & 
Development (CIPD) and 
was awarded an MSc in 
2011.  

• Joanne has extensive 
public sector experience 
in a number of strategic 
HR roles since 1983 and 
has held a number of 
strategic HR roles on 
Tyneside, Teesside and in 
County Durham.  

20 4 N/A 3

Kyee Han, Medical 
Director, MBBS, 
FRCS, FCEM

(from January 2014)

• Consultant in Accident 
and Emergency Medicine

• Honorary Clinical Senior 
Lecturer

17 N/A N/A 1
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Name and position Background (Skills, 
experience and 
expertise)

Board of 
Directors 
(out of 22 
meetings 

held)

Audit 
(out of 7 
meetings 

held)

Nomination & 
Remuneration 

(out of 3 
meetings held)

Council of 
Governors

Non-Executive Directors

Ash Winter, 
Chairman

The Chairman’s 
appointment is due 
for review in June 
2014.

• Former chairman and 
managing director of 
Patterson Motor Group

• Extensive business 
experience and 
involvement in local 
charities

22 1 (observing) 3 4

John Pescott, 
Non-Executive 
Directorand 
Deputy Chairman 
(until October 2013)

• John was Deputy 
Chairman for the Trust 
before he left at the end 
of October 2013.

14 4 2 2

Helen Tucker,  
Non-Executive 
Director, and 
Senior Independent 
Director from Dec 
2014

Appointed until Sept 
2014, 2nd term

• Retired Executive Director 
of Nursing.

• Member of the Trust 
Board for 7 years.

19 6 1 3

Alison Fellows, Non-
Executive Directorand 
Senior Independent 
Director(until Nov 
2013)

• Alison is a solicitor and 
was formerly a partner.

• Extensive legal 
knowledge specialising in 
commercial law and has 
extensive public sector 
experience.

14 2 2 3

Jeff Fitzpatrick,  
Non-Executive 
Director

Appointed until 
March 2016  
(2nd term)

• Extensive experience in 
Human Resources and 
industrial relations and 
general management.

22 7 3 4
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Name and position Background (Skills, 
experience and 
expertise)

Board of 
Directors 
(out of 22 
meetings 

held)

Audit 
(out of 7 
meetings 

held)

Nomination & 
Remuneration 

(out of 3 
meetings held)

Council of 
Governors

Non-Executive Directors Continued

Wendy Lawson, 
Non-Executive 
Director

Appointed until 1st 
Nov 2014 (1st term)

• Extensive experience 
in Contract Centre 
business, running her 
own consultancy based 
in Newcastle. 

22 6 2 3

Peter Wood, Non-
Executive Director 
and Deputy 
Chairman

Appointed until Oct 
2015 (2nd term)

• Extensive private sector 
experiencing and banking 
industry.

19 7 2 3

Phil Murray,  
Non-Executive 
Director

Appointed until Nov 
2014 (1st term)

• BA Honours in 
Accountancy and 
Marketing, 

• Chartered accountant.  

• Group Finance Director at 
Gentoo, and is Managing 
Director at Romag Ltd.

14 3 1 2

Hamish Moore,  
Non-Executive 
Director

Appointed until 
March2015 (1st term)

• Senior Partner with 
DrummondHR, a private 
firm of management 
consultants specialising 
in Organisation 
Development, Change 
and Performance.

• Extensive, both private 
and public sector 
experience 

8 3 0 1
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Director’s Report

Under Monitor’s compliance regime and as a Foundation 
Trust, the Board of Directors is required to make a number 
of declarations and statements on a quarterly basis in that 
it has complied with the conditions of its Licence (issued 
by Monitor) in relation to healthcare targets (Governance), 
that its financial position is sound and that there are no 
other matters requiring an exception report to Monitor. 
The Board of Directors aligned its work and as such, its 
meetings, to reflect this quarterly reporting and conducts 
the majority of its business in public session in April, July, 
October and January.Whilst the Board has meetings in 
other months, the Agenda is restricted albeit these are 
open to the public to attend. Members of the Board have 
attended a number of seminar events throughout the year 
where a range of themed developmental sessions and 
briefings were delivered.

The Board delegates some of its powers to a committee 
of Directors or to an Executive Director and these are set 
out in the Trust’s scheme of delegation. Decision making 
for the operational running of the Trust is delegated to the 
Executive Management Team. 

Our Board level committees

The Trust has a robust committee structure, to provide 
assurance that our governance arrangements are strong 
and effective. The committees within the Trust are 
underpinned by numerous working groups, made up of 
members of operational staff, support services, directors 
and senior management. These groups can identify risks 
which are then raised at committee level. Our Board of 
Directors produces the strategic direction for the Trust, 
ratifies policies and procedures, reviews organisational 
performance, ensures the availability of adequate financial 
resources, approves budgets and is accountable to the 
public for the organisation’s performance. In addition 
to the routine committee meetings, the Executive Team 
meet every two weeks in a formal capacity to review 
organisational performance and other matters. 

In 2013/14 the Executive Team was made up of Executive 
Directors, the Trust Secretary and Assistant Director of 
Communications and Engagement. 

Performance evaluation of our Board of Directors

Executive Directors: The Chief Executive appraises the 
performance of each Executive Director on a quarterly basis 
and reviews progress against their key objectives which are 
derived, at the beginning of each year, from the Annual 
Strategic Plan. The Board receives a position statement 
in September where progress is reported and the Trust’s 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee (consisting of 
Non-Executive Directors) takes account of the performance 
of each Director and that of the Executive arm of the Board 
as part of its annual salary review discussions.

The Trust’s Chairman appraises the performance of the 
Chief Executive at quarterly intervals and the above process 
is also adopted for the setting of objectives albeit national 
considerations are taken into account.

Non-Executive Directors: As a Foundation Trust, it is 
the role of the Council of Governors to ensure there is an 
effective and meaningful performance assessment and 
appraisal process in place for both the Chairman and Non-
Executive Directors. The new process has been undertaken 
for 2013/14. The outcome of the performance reviews was 
considered by the Governor Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee which reported to the Council of Governors the 
performance of each of the Non-Executives. Members of 
the Committee agreed that the assessment and appraisal 
process was rigorous with clear evidence of achievement. 
The Chairman has agreed objectives with each Non-
Executive Director and has developed his own personal 
objectives, which were also presented to the Council of 
Governors in April 2014. 
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Committees: All Board Committees (and those 
groups reporting to them) conduct a formal ‘Review of 
Effectiveness’ on an annual basis. Each Committee (and 
group) is required to demonstrate to the  Board (and 
each group to its senior committee) that it has fulfilled 
its remit, remained within its Terms of Reference and has 
satisfactorily discharged its duties; adding value in terms of 
assurances and identifying and mitigating risk. This process 
is led by the Non-Executive Chair of the Committee.  

Board of Directors: The Board of Directors undergo an 
annual performance evaluation in the form of a two-day 
Board development event where the Board evaluates how 
it has performed and where it can improve. The Board 
engaged in a rigorous assessment of its governance, the 
culture of the Board and listening to staff in order to equip 
it to more effectively meet future challenges. The Board 
reflected on governance challenges and the culture and 
behaviours of a ‘good’ NHS Board, looking at best practice 
and exploring the results of a cultural barometer. The Board 
listened to staff concerns, generated solutions and came up 
with positive action plans. Discussions took place around 
the need to constantly review a range of material to ensure 
the right priorities were drawn out from the messages and 
information. 

The Board also uses Monitor’s Quality Governance 
Framework, to evidence that; it accurately understands the 
quality of the care provided by the Trust, it is able to assess 
and mitigate risks to quality, and that quality is seen as a 
responsibility of the entire Board, not only the medical and 
nursing directors. The Trust is committed to continuous 
quality improvement and have put in place tools to address 
poor performance.

Declaration of Interests

It is a requirement that the Chairman and all members of 
the Board of Directors should declare any conflict of interest 
that arises in the course of conducting NHS business. Upon 
appointment, members of the Board of Directors are asked 
to declare any business interests, directorships, positions 
of authority in a charity or voluntary body in the field of 
health and any connection with contracting bodies for NHS 
services. All such declarations are entered in a register and 
are available for public scrutiny. You can obtain a copy of 
the register of interests by writing to our Trust Secretary, 
using the contact information at the end of this report.  

Trust Constitution

No changes have been made to the Trust’s constitution 
during the last year.

Director’s Report



Annual Report 2013 - 2014  |  31

Director’s Report

Council of Governors
Our Governors

The Council of Governors is the accountability forum 
between the Board of Directors and its stakeholders. It 
represents local interests and holds the Non-Executive 
Directors to account, as well as exercising its statutory 
powers which include: 

•  Appointing (and removing) the Chairman and other 
Non-Executive Directors, deciding on remuneration and 
allowances;

• Appointing (and removing) the Trust’s Auditors through 
a fair tendering process involving a task and finish group, 
and receiving the annual accounts and the annual report; 
and

• In preparing the Trust’s forward strategic plan, the Board 
of Directors must have regard to the views of the Council 
of Governors. It meets formally and in public four 
times a year and has constituted a number of Governor 
Committees to help it fulfil its role.

Our Council of Governors has been operating formally 
for over three years now and has discharged many of 
its statutory duties, including the appointment of the 
Chairman and re-appointment of a number of Non-
Executive Directors and appointing the Trust’s external 
auditors. The Constitution has been amended to reflect the 
Health & Social Care Act 2012 and has been approved by 
the Council of Governors.    

The Council of Governors established two Committees, 
namely the Nomination & Remuneration Committee 
and a Membership & Engagement Committee and there 
is a majority of Governor membership on the Quality 
Account Task & Finish Group and the Annual Planning 
Working Group as well as attendance at the Trust’s 
Equality & Diversity Group. Over the year, there has been 
a programme of themed seminars and update sessions to 
ensure that the Council fully understands the business of 
the Trust and its various activities so that Governors can 
fulfil their important role of engaging with the public and 
ensuring that our services continue to improve in line with 
the wishes of the membership.

The Governors reviewed its performance and meeting 
dynamics, including the Council Agenda, governor 
participation, the information it receives, the frequency and 
timing of meetings, its committees and working groups and 
community engagement.

There have been a number of formal and informal meetings 
involving Governors with the full Council Meeting regularly 
taking place. In previous discussions with Governors on 
how they could discharge their ‘new’ duties under the 
Health & Social Care Act 2012; specifically the duty relating 
to holding Non-Executive Directors to account for the 
performance of the Board, it was agreed that each Non-
Executive Director Chair would present – to the Council at 
its quarterly meetings – the work of their respective Board 
Committee (on a rotational basis) supported by the lead 
Executive and members of the Directorate. In the session 
on 21 October 2013 Governors had the opportunity to 
raise questions and seek clarification about the work of 
the Business, Investment and Finance Committee and learn 
more on the various departments and functions with the 
Finance and Performance Directorates. Feedback at, and 
following the meeting, was positive.

The Governors also had an opportunity to ask any 
questions around the Francis recommendations and its 
implications for NEAS. A bespoke session was held on 
13 November 2013 for Governors providing them with 
a high level briefing in relation to the Review of the Mid 
Staffordshire NHS FT Public Inquiry and the Trust’s proposed 
response and actions to subsequent reviews such as; 
Keogh, Berwick, Cavendish and East of England Ambulance 
Service. 

All NEAS Governors attended a one day course on 
‘Accountability’ aimed at helping Governors build an 
effective accountability relationship with their Board of 
Directors. All of the newly appointed Governors have 
attended the ‘core module’ of the National Governor 
Training Programme ‘GovernWell’ (hosted by the FTN) 
which is designed to support Trusts in fulfilling their 
responsibilities in respect of training. The Trust is committed 
to ensuring that Governors are equipped with the skills and 
knowledge they need and that future training which will 
support them in fulfilling their role is offered.
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The Governor Governance Task & Finish Group has 
contributed to the development of a process for managing 
the future allocation of membership to Governor Groups 
and Committees, guidance/etiquette for the use of the 
Governor on-line Forum and a process for the rotational 
attendance of Governors at future Board of Director 
meetings in public session.

One of the full Council meetings took place on Monday 
27 January 2014. At that meeting, Governors received 
a detailed report on the circumstances surrounding the 
deficiencies identified in the Trust’s internal controls 
in respect of the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) 
employment checks. The report also set out the immediate 
actions taken to address the problems and assurances were 
given that full account was also being taken of the longer 
term governance arrangements to ensure similar issues 
do not reoccur.  In liaison with other Governors, the Lead 
Governor had pre-submitted a number of questions that 
Governors wished to raise and these were responded to by 
way of a written briefing.

Positive reports were also received by Governors at the 
meeting, covering sound Operational Performance, strong 
financial health, delivery of the Quality Report Priorities and 
achievement of the CQUIN schemes.

Other events held during the quarter where Governors had 
participated included:

• A Mental Health and Wellbeing Awareness event during 
January hosted by the Trust’s Occupational Health Team. 

• Involvement in the formulation of the Annual Plan.

• A session on the corporate objectives for 2014/15; 
seeking views on whether these objectives were the 
right ones and to consider the challenges the Trust 
would face in delivering them.

• An awareness session on the Trust’s Enterprise 
Information System (EIS) which is a significant project for 
the Trust. Governors also received presentations from the 
Trust’s External Auditors on the audit plan and timetable 
and a verbal briefing was given on the outcome of the 
CQC inspection.

Quarter 4 was a busy period for members of the Annual 
Planning Working Group and the Quality Account Task 
& Finish Group in developing the priorities and service 
improvements to be included in both sets of plans. The 
Governance Task & Finish Group had reviewed the recent 
publication issued by Monitor “Your Statutory Duties – A 
Reference Guide for Governors” and also considered the 
“NHS FT Code of Governance”.   

How do we elect and appoint our Council of 
Governors? 

The Trust sourced and engaged a supplier to run the 
process to elect Governors to nine public seats across the 
four constituencies. John Temple (North of Tyne) and Mary 
Carter (Teesside) had not put themselves forward for re-
election. Violet Rook (North of Tyne), Jim Falade (South of 
Tyne) and Mike Dalton (Durham), had been unsuccessful 
for re-election. New Governors were elected during this 
quarter across the constituencies as follows:

• Durham (Mike Wilson was elected)

• South of Tyne (George Smith was elected)

• North of Tyne x 2(Peter Berry and Peter Loyd were 
elected)

All seats will be for three year tenure. The Council has a 
vacancy within the Teesside constituency which will be 
carried forward to the elections in 2014.

In addition, Andy Summerbell has been replaced by Stuart 
Marshall as the Appointed Governor (Local Resilience 
Forum).

Following his retirement from Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys 
(TEWV) NHS Foundation Trust, Chris Parsons will no longer 
serve on the Trust’s Council of Governors as a Stakeholder 
Governor. Rob Cowell has been appointed by TEWV as 
a ‘replacement’ Governor and, in accordance with our 
Constitution, Rob’s initial term of office will be for the 
unexpired balance of Chris’ term which will be up to 31 
October 2014. The Trust will then invite TEWV to appoint 
Rob for a three year term as from 1 November 2014.

The table below shows the Council of Governors and each 
Governor’s term of election and their attendance at the 
Council of Governors
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Region or organisation Governor name Term of appointment CoG meetings 
(max 4)

North of Tyne Region Mary Mallatratt 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 3

Kevin Mason 3 years(from 1 November 2011) 2

Jane Tomlin 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 4

Sid Walker 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 4

Peter Berry 2 years (from 1 November 2013) 1

Peter Loyd 3 years (from 1 November 2013) 1

Violet Rook 2

John Temple 2

South of Tyne Region George Smith 3 years (from 1 November 2013) 1

Michael Glickman 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 4

Bill Graham 2 years (from 1 November 2011) 3

Stephanie Smith 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 3

Shobha Srivstava 2 years (from 1 November 2011) 3

James Falade 2

Durham Region Robert Alabaster 
(Lead Governor)

3 years (from 1 November 2011) 4

Ricky Clayton 2 years (from 1 November 2011) 3

Michael Wilson 3 years (from 1 November 2013) 1

Michael Hemingway 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 4

Dorothy Maskery 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 2

Michael Dalton 3

Teesside Region Ray Stephenson 2 years (from 1 November 2011) 3

Vacancy 

Mary Fletcher 3 years (from 1 November 2011)

Jean McKenna 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 3

Frederick Lewis-Bynoe 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 4

North East Ambulance Service 
(Staff Governors)

Claire Hardy (A&E) 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 0

Chris Ward (PTS) 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 1

Frazer Gregory (Control 
and Contact Centres)

3 years (from 1 November 2011) 2

Joanne Coyne (Support 
Services) 

1 year 9 months(from 1 
November 2011)

3
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Region or organisation Governor name Term of appointment CoG meetings 
(max 4)

Voluntary Organisations’ Network 
North East (Stakeholder Governor)

Jo Whaley 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 3

Association of North East Councils Lynne Caffrey 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 0

Doreen Huddart 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 3

Richard Dodd 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 4

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust

Chris Parsons left 
31st March 2014

3 years (from 1 November 2011) 2

Teesside University Eileen Martin 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 2

North Tyneside Primary Care Trust Mary Coyle left 31st 
March 2014

3 years(from 1 November 2011) 0

Northumbria Healthcare NHS Trust David Thompson 3 years (from 1 November 2011) 3

Cleveland Emergency Planning Unit Andy Summerbell

Stuart Marshall

3 years 1 month (from 17 
September 2013)

0

1

Declarations of interest

Similarly to our Board of Directors, all of our Governors 
must declare details of any company directorships or 
other significant interests which could conflict with their 
responsibilities as a Governor of the North East Ambulance 
Service. A Register of Interests is maintained by the Trust, 
and is available through request to the Trust Secretary. 
Address details can be found at the end of this report. 

The Board and Governor relationship

Our Board of Directors recognises the importance 
of receiving and reacting to views of our Council of 
Governors. 

As a Foundation Trust from November 2011, the Board of 
Directors was keen to understand the statutory powers of 
the Council of Governors and to support it in creating the 
forums where the Council could hold the Board of Directors 
to account for its actions, decisions and behaviours through 
formal meetings and by providing all of the information 
that the Board has at its disposal. The forums used during 
this reporting period include:

• The Quality Account Task and Finish Group (Governors 
and Trust officers)

• The Annual Planning Working Group (Governors 
and Trust officers) specifically to ensure the views of 
Governors are captured and then taken into account in 
formulating plans for the years ahead

• The Governor Nomination & Remuneration Committee

Non-Executive Directors have attended meetings of the 
Council and there will be joint-meetings or sessions of the 
Board and the Council during 2014/15.

At the Governor Events, our Governors were updated on 
the new Risk Assessment Framework, the new Code of 
Governance and their implications. The Governors also 
received GovernWell training.  

Audit committee
The Trust’s Audit Committee has responsibility to act 
independently from the Executive, to provide assurance to 
the Board based on a challenge of evidence and assurance 
obtained, that the interests of the Trust are properly 
protected in relation to financial reporting and internal 
control. To keep under review the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control; that is the systems established 
to identify, assess, manage and monitor risks both financial 
and otherwise, and to ensure the Trust complies with all 
aspects of the law, relevant regulation and good practice.
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The Audit Committee reports to the Board on any matters 
in respect of which the Committee considers that action or 
improvement is needed and to make recommendations as 
to the steps to be taken.

The Chair of the Audit Committee is Hamish Moore. All 
Non-Executive Directors are members of the committee, 
and Executive Directors and Auditors attend by invitation. 

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board 
of Directors and details of its meetings and member 
attendance are set out earlier in this report.

Areas of issues considered and scrutiny included:

•  the content of Internal Audit Tactical Plan – requiring 
additional areas for audits e.g., professional registration 
(including third parties), occupational health and pre-
employment checks -  and also the scope of audits with 
‘patient safety/risk’ being a mandatory element

•  equipment losses – requiring action which brought 
about ‘personal issue’ of some devices to staff 

•  business continuity and continued scrutiny – bringing 
about additional management resources and tighter 
governance arrangements

•  NHS 111 ‘conversion [to 999] rate – requiring 
benchmarking and a written report from management

•  vehicle daily inspection – seeking assurances and 
requiring Executive action including a task & finish group 
activity

•  quality of training, training staff and course content 
– requiring details of suitability, competency and 
qualifications.

The Audit Committee reviews annually the effectiveness of 
the external audit process. At the January 2014 meeting, 
the Committee Chair and Trust Secretary were assigned 
to consider the most effective Framework in order for the 
Audit Committee to evaluate the robustness of the external 
audit process. 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
This Committee has delegated authority to set 
remuneration for all Executive Directors, monitor their 
performance, consider nominations for Executive 
Director vacancies and make recommendations on such 
appointments.

All Non-Executive Directors are members, including 
the Trust Chairman, who is the Committee Chair. The 
Committee meets at least once per financial year, and 
details of its meetings and member attendance are detailed 
above.

The Chief Executive (Simon Featherstone) and the Trust 
Secretary (Dorothy Teasdale) attended all of these meetings 
in an advisory capacity and the Director of Workforce and 
Organisational Development Joanne Machers attended one 
meeting in an advisory capacity.

Foundation Trust membership eligibility and 
constituency boundaries 

There are no limits to how many members we can have 
as a Foundation Trust. Anyone who is over 16 years old 
and lives in the North East region can join. We can request 
that certain people do not become members, for example, 
someone who has threatened, harassed, harmed or abused 
NHS staff, patients or visitors in any way, and members 
of staff who have submitted their notice of resignation 
(though if eligible they may apply to become a public 
member rather than a staff member). Our membership is 
split into four public constituencies across the North East.

North of Tyne: Newcastle upon Tyne, Northumberland 
and North Tyneside

South of Tyne: Gateshead, South Tyneside and 
Sunderland

Durham: County Durham and Darlington

Teesside: Hartlepool, Stockton, Middlesbrough and 
Redcar & Cleveland
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Membership profile

The profile of our public membership is compared against 
the records held by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) to 
determine how representative NEAS membership is of the 
North East population.

Age Profile

Public Constituency Number of members Eligible population 
in North East

Over or under 
representation index

0-16 0 33,375 0

17-21 357 163,816 53

22+ 8,828 2,276,292 95

NB: Age is not mandatory and do not reflect total membership number

Gender Profile

Public Constituency Number of members Eligible population 
in North East

Over or under 
representation index  
(100 = ideal 
representation)

As of 11 March 2014 9,995 2,473,483

New members 2,964

Members leaving 2,590

Male 4,756 1,229,127 95

Female 5,208 1,244,356 103

NB: Age is not mandatory and do not reflect total membership number

Staff Constituency Number of members

As of 11 March 2014 2,030

New members 0

Members leaving 2
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Ethnicity Profile

Public Constituency Number of members Eligible population 
in North East

Over or under 
representation index  
(100 = ideal 
representation)

White 9,162 2,362,676 95

Mixed 105 20,940 124

Asian 204 67,559 74

Black 29 12,296 58

Other 46 10,012 113

Socio economic sub group profile

Public Constituency Number of members Eligible population 
in North East

Over or under 
representation index  
(100 = ideal 
representation)

ABC1 5,270 819,948 159

C2 2,874 307,459 231

D 341 385,890 21

E 1,198 382,396 77

Membership by constituency

Public Constituency Number of members

Staff- EC 921

Staff- PTS 431

Staff- Contact Centres 424

Staff- Support Services 422

Public- Durham 2,693

Public- North of Tyne 3,540

Public- South of Tyne 3,219

Public- Teesside 2,505

Total Members 14,155
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Our membership strategy

One indicator of the appropriateness of the size of the 
member base is to establish the ideal sample size for the 
region, using data from the Office of National Statistics. 
On the current member base, we have a statistical 95% 
confidence level with a standard deviation of one that 
our membership is representative and credible. This was 
achieved through our targeted recruitment last year.

Members who wish to contact their Governor should 
email governors@neas.nhs.uk or alternatively write to our 
Membership Officer who will direct the contact to the 
appropriate Governor, using the address at the end of this 
report.

Members who wish to contact a Director should either 
address a letter to the Director concerned, at the address 
on the last page of this report, or alternatively call our 
switchboard on 0191 4302000. We operate in an open and 
transparent manner and members are welcome to get in 
touch if they have a query or comment.  
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Quality governance in the North East 
Ambulance Service
At the North East Ambulance Service we strive to 
put quality at the heart of everything we do, and our 
authorisation as a Foundation Trust and failures such as 
that in Mid-Staffordshire has only served to concentrate our 
focus on quality.

We interpret our Board of Directors’ responsibilities for 
quality as follows:

• To ensure that the essential standards of quality 
and safety (as determined by CQC’s registration 
requirements) are at a minimum being met by every 
service that the organisation delivers;

• To ensure that the organisation is striving for continuous 
quality improvement and high quality clinical outcomes; 
and

• To ensure that every member of staff that has contact 
with patients or whose actions directly impact on patient 
care is motivated and enabled to deliver effective, safe 
and person-centred care.

There are arrangements in place to govern service quality. 
During 2013/14, we have assessed ourselves against 
Monitor’s quality governance frameworkto ensure that 
we have robust quality governance underpinned by our 
procedures and policies. We have regard to Monitor’s 
quality governance frameworkin evaluation of the 
organisation’s performance, internal controls, and the 
board assurance framework and have action plans in place 
to improve the governance of quality. During a bespoke 
session, the Board of Directors asked themselves some 
new key questions about the quality of services we are 
delivering, such as: 

• Does the Board provide a clear steer on the strategic and 
operational quality outcomes it expects the organisation 
to achieve?

• Do you know that a quality culture exists across the 
different layers of clinical and non-clinical leadership? 
What is your evidence of this?

• Does the Board understand the effectiveness of the 
methods used by the trust for communicating to and 
involving staff, patients and stakeholders in the quality 
agenda?

• How are you assured that the board is receiving the right 
type and level of quality information? 

• Have you compared the information you receive with 
other trusts of similar type and complexity? 

• Are the ‘hard’ facts and data consistent with what you 
are hearing and observing around your trust? 

• How are you assured that the data you use to inform 
decisions is robust and valid?

• Could you name the best and worst performing services 
from a quality perspective within your trust and how 
these services compare with other trusts? 

• What are the key sources of assurance upon which you 
rely? 

• Are you able to distinguish between assurance and 
reassurance? 

• Is there a clear trail of assurance underpinning the board 
statements and declarations? 

• Do you understand how quality governance assurance 
processes operate across the organisation’s committee 
structure? 

• Do you understand the role that your audit functions 
have in supporting board assurance on quality 
governance?

•  Are your BAF and local risk registers effective in 
capturing the risks to quality with your trust? 

• How assured are you that patient safety incidents are 
being reported and dealt with correctly and escalated to 
the board appropriately? 

•  How are you assured that efficiency programmes are not 
adversely impacting on the quality of patient care? 

The Board then identified evidence to support each 
component within Monitor’s Quality Governance 
Framework and undertook its own assessment against 
best practice. This means that when the Trust has to certify 
to Monitor (our regulator) that it meets the requirements 
of the ‘Quality Governance Framework’, it can do so 
confidently. 

Quality governance and quality are discussed in more detail 
within the annual governance statement and quality report.
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CQC Inspection

The CQC is the independent regulator of health and adult 
social care services, with whom the Trust is registered, and 
subject to regulation by. The Trust is required to comply 
with the CQC Essential Standards of Quality and Safety, 
comprised of 28 ‘outcomes’ covering all aspects of care. 

The CQC completed its routine annual unannounced 
inspection between 4th and 7th February 2014 looking at 
the personal care and treatment records of people who 
use the service. The purpose was to check that essential 
standards of quality and safety were being met in the 
following areas:

•  Respecting and involving people who use services

•  Care and welfare of people who use services

•  Management of Medicines

• Requirements relating to workers

• Supporting Workers

• Assessing and monitoring the quality of service provision

The Board of Directors was disappointed that the Trust 
was not compliant in four of the six areas reviewed. The 
Trust was found to be fully compliant in two areas and 
non-compliant with actions to take in four. The CQC 
has required action in three of the four non-compliance 
areas and have taken Enforcement action with regards 
to one (requirements relating to workers). The Trust has 
implemented action plans for all areas of non-compliance 
to address problems and has completely rectified the 
position with regards to the Enforcement notice. This 
was specifically in relation to a number of employees not 
having undertaken a record check with the Debarring 
and Disclosure Service (DBS). A full investigation was 
undertaken to establish the extent and nature of the failings 
and to ensure corrective action was taken to prevent this 
from reoccurring. 

CQC has issued and published its inspection report and the 
full document is available on their website. 

Internal audit

During last year Sunderland Internal Audit Service (SIAS) 
completed an audit of our CQC policy and procedures 
evidence. We received significant assurance and SIAS 
found that arrangements were operating satisfactorily. 
They identified one minor and one moderate concern with 
regards to draft procedures lacking formal approval and 
high turnover of the Monitoring and Compliance Officers 
position. Both issues have been addressed and closed.

Our audit of compliance with Monitor guidance also 
provided significant assurance. There was one action for 
us to address and this was to put in place a procedure 
regarding how we manage and assure action in relation to 
any new or changes in Monitor guidance. 

Through effective controls, including audit findings, the 
Trust Board is able to provide the following statement. 

“The Trust knows of no material inconsistencies between 
our Annual Governance Statement, our annual and 
quarterly Board statements which are required by 
Monitor as part of their Compliance Framework and the 
Risk Assessment Framework, the corporate governance 
statement submitted with the annual plan, our Quality 
Report, Annual Report, the Care Quality Commission’s 
Essential Standards of Quality and Safety and reports arising 
from Care Quality Commission planned and responsive 
reviews of the NHS foundation trust and any consequent 
action plans developed by the NHS foundation trust.”
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Improving patient care

Patients are at the heart of our organisation and our 
consistently high performance against national quality 
indicators and clinical audit shows how good our care is. 
We know there are some gaps and in the coming year we 
aim to build upon our success, further integrating with 
people around us in the wider network of health and social 
care, developing a shared purpose to improve the quality of 
the patient experience.

We know that the morale and motivation of our staff 
can influence the care provided, and as foundation trust 
we have built sufficient surplus to be able to invest in 
the development of the Team Leader role and recruit a 
substantial number to make a difference to our front-line 
workforce. 

Over the last year we have undertaken a number of 
developments to improve patient care including:

• Strengthening our safeguarding duties. We have 
enhanced the training, introduced an electronic referral 
process to speed up the process and capture all relevant 
information and have built up the use of case studies 
across agencies to improve sharing the learning from 
serious case reviews, domestic homicides and child 
deaths.

• We have introduced Major Haemorrhage packs to all 
emergency vehicles consisting of haemostatic agents and 
additional bandaging. 

• We have introduced Tranexamic acid to assist with 
clotting in major haemorrhaging with regard to Major 
Trauma patients. Our Enhanced CARe paramedics have 
Prednisolone, and additional pain killers such as Codeine 
Phosphate.

We also continually ask our patients what they think of our 
services and last year we introduced touchscreen tablets in 
hospitals, and with the help of PALS staff and volunteers, 
we were able to gather comments from patients who were 
arriving by  ambulance. People have also used social media 
and our website to tell us what they think. To get a head 
start in preparing for the use of the Friends and Family Test 
(FFT) in ambulance trusts we commissioned Ipsos Mori, to 
carry out a postal survey of patients to pilot the FFT.

We were rated highly by patients who use our services:

• 95%of Emergency Care users are very likely to 
recommend our services to a friend or relative should 
they require similar treatment or care

• 93%of PTS users are very likely to recommend our 
services to a friend or relative should they require similar 
treatment or care

Complaints and Compliments 

To ensure we continue to improve the patient experience, 
one of our most effective ways of improving, learning and 
actioning changes is through review of our complaints, 
concerns and compliments. We have recently reviewed 
our processes in light of the Hard Truths - The Journey 
to Putting Patients First (October 2013) and the more 
recent Clwyd Hart reviewand are in the process of making 
changes to further improve our approach to complaints 
handling which will be reflected in our revised Complaints 
Policy.

The CQC, during their inspection also reported that they 
felt our complaints were not dealt with in a timely manner. 
This was being addressed at the time with additional 
resources secured to assist the complaints team. 

How we deal with complaints

When we receive a complaint, concern or comment we:

• acknowledge it within three working days, either by 
phone or in writing; and 

• write to the person making the complaint within 
25 working days (or longer if agreed), outlining the 
investigation we have carried out and giving our findings 
along with any action being taken. 

The Trust Board and Executive Team are now monitoring 
the volume of agreed extended response times.

Director’s Report



42  |  Annual Report 2013 - 2014

What we do if we get it wrong

• We will offer an apology.

• We will review the care we provided or the way we 
managed the incident and reflect on what happened in 
a way that helps us to learn from the experience.

• We will use the experience we have gained from the 
incident to improve our policies and practice.

• Where appropriate, we will create a specific care plan, 
with the involvement and agreement of the patient 
involved.

• We do acknowledge that some complaints may highlight 
serious incidents and potentially lead to disciplinary 
proceedings. We do take complaints very seriously.

How many complaints we received 

Last year we received a total of 513 new complaints 
from people who wanted a written reply from the Chief 
Executive, made either directly to the Trust or as part of 
a complaint being managed by another organisation. To 
put our number of complaints into perspective we took 
over one million calls and responded face to face to over 
370,000 emergencies and undertook nearly one million 
patient journeys last year. We have a significant number of 
patient, carers and relative contacts every single day of the 
year. Our rate of complaints is therefore extremely low.  
This, by no means, does not mean that we cannot still learn 
from them. 

Service Line Complaints Ratio of 
Complaints

Emergency Care 
Services 

137 0.35 per 1,000 
journeys

PTS Operations 46 0.05 per 1,000 
journeys

Contact Centres* 330 0.24 per 1,000 
calls

Other 0 n/a

*Note – included in this figure are those complaints relating to the time taken 
for transport to arrive and not around the actions of Contact centre staff (i.e. 
emergency response times, urgent response times and Patient Transport Service).

The outcomes of our complaints from last year shows that 
for 58%, we were at fault, 11% we were partially at fault 
and for the remaining 31% the complaint was not upheld 
or not deemed to be our fault. 

What we receive complaints about 

The complaints we received in relation to our Emergency 
care service were about:

• The time waiting for an ambulance to arrive

• The attitude of our staff

• The quality of care we provided

• The outcome of the triage (the initial assessment in the 
contact centre) 

• The use of sirens on our vehicles

We also received complaints about the Patient Transport 
Service:

• Vehicle was late to pick up patient for appointment

•  Patient had to wait for transport after their appointment 

•  Vehicle failed to arrive

•  The attitude of our staff and the care provided

Late pick-ups and waits were also highlighted as a concern 
in our patient survey work. We have started to address this 
through the introduction of our new appointment based 
service but our most recent patient feedback and ongoing 
complaints does not evidence an improvement. We believe 
this is due in part to the fact that we have not been clear 
about what our patients can expect from an appointment 
based service and have pledged to produce a patient’s 
charter for next year.

What are the changes we have made as a direct 
result of learning from complaints and investigations 
undertaken 

• We now provide Head Injury Advice cards for front line 
emergency staff to hand to patients who have sustained 
a head injury but do not wish to attend hospital after 
being assessed by the attending ambulance crew. 

• Guidelines for staff, in relation to transporting Assistance 
Dogs have also been updated.

• Advice and support has been provided to other 
HealthCare Organisations (i.e. GP Surgeries and 
Hospitals) to support the access and use of both 
Emergency Care and Patient Transport Service.
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The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman 
(PHSO)

If a complaint is made to us and the complainant is not 
happy with how we have attempted to resolve it, the PHSO 
can be asked to review the complaint.

From April 1 2013 to March 31 2014, the PHSO have 
requested five complaints files held by us. Following 
the review, the ombudsman has reported that they had 
decided not to investigate any of the complaints further. 

Stakeholder relations

The Trust has a wide network of partners operating as a 
regional service. The Trust has long established relationships 
with Overview and Scrutiny Committees in the North 
East and has met with them throughout the last year. We 
have developed closer working relations with our Clinical 
Commissioning Colleagues, ensuring our own plans fit with 
theirs for their patients and we have continued to work 
with our acute partners on specific activities, including 
hospital handover delays, volunteer porters and integrating 
teams, all to benefit and improve patient care. 

We work very closely with Health Education North East 
(HENE) to develop our training and staff development 
programmes and last year four staff were recruited to one 
of four available Leadership Programmes funded and led by 
the North East Leadership Academy (NELA).

Further information is detailed in our Quality Report 
regarding information we provide to service users and other 
healthcare professionals.

Statement as to Disclosures to Auditors
The Directors confirm that so far as they are aware:

• There is no relevant audit information of which the North 
East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust auditors 
are unaware.

• They have taken all the steps they ought to have taken 
as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the 
North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust’s 
auditors are aware of that information. 

• Made such enquiries of his/her fellow directors and of 
the company’s auditors for that purpose; and 

•  Taken such other steps (if any) for that purpose, as are 
required by his/her duty as a Director of the company to 
exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence.

Additional Disclosures
Fair employment policy

We are committed to treat people with a disability in a 
fair and non-discriminatory manner and have signed up 
to the Disability Accreditation Award Scheme which is 
the ‘Two Ticks’ award. Under this scheme there are five 
commitments which we have agreed to adhere to, to 
demonstrate that we are positive about disabled people:

•  To guarantee an invitation to the first stage of the 
recruitment process for all applicants with a disability 
who meet the minimum criteria for a job vacancy.

•  To ensure there is a system in place to discuss with 
disabled employees their development requirements. 
This discussion can take place at any time but must be 
done at least on an annual basis.

•  If a member of staff becomes disabled, to ensure that 
every effort is made to retain their employment (such 
as making reasonable adjustments or considering 
alternative employment). We have examples of 
alternative employment being offered and taken up.

•  To take action to ensure that all employees develop the 
appropriate level of disability awareness necessary to 
achieve these commitments.

•  To review the five commitments annually and report on 
achievements and continuously plan ways to improve 
and inform staff and job centre plus of any progress and 
future plans.

Pension and Retirement Benefits

The provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme cover past and 
present employees. The scheme is an unfunded defined 
benefits scheme that covers NHS employers, General 
Practices and other bodies allowed under direction of the 
Secretary of State in England and Wales. The scheme is 
accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: 
the cost of participating in the scheme for an NHS body 
is taken to equal the contributions payable to the scheme 
for the accounting period. The total employer contribution 
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payable for 2013/14 was £11,085,031.

The scheme is a final value scheme and on advice from 
the scheme actuary, scheme contributions may be varied 
from time to time to reflect changes in the scheme’s 
liabilities. A more comprehensive accounting policy note on 
pension liabilities is included in the full set of the accounts. 
Information on directors’ pension entitlements can be 
found in the Remuneration Report which follows below. 
The Trust’s accounting policies for pensions and other 
retirement benefits are set out in Note 7 of the accounts. 
Further information is also disclosed in the Annual 
Governance Statement.

Pension Liabilities

There were four individuals who retired early on ill-health 
grounds during the period. This gave rise to additional 
pension liabilities of £224,000.

Audit Costs

PwC was the Trust’s external auditor for the period 1st 
April, 2013 to 31st March 2014. Their fee for auditing 
the accounts was £36,950 +VAT and for the audit of the 
Quality Account £8,950 +VAT.  During the year the Trust 
did not purchase any “non-audit services” from the external 
auditor.

Remuneration report
Remuneration of senior managers and policy on 
senior management contracts

The Council of Governors decides on the remuneration of 
the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors. In line with best 
practice and Monitor guidance, the Governor Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee, on behalf of the Council, 
considered professional advice to market test the pay levels 
and the other terms and conditions. For Executive Directors, 
the Board’s own Nomination & Remuneration Committee, 
consisting of Non-Executive Directors, sets the policy and 
authorises the remuneration packages and contractual 
terms that are sufficient to attract, retain and motivate 
Executive Directors whilst remaining cost effective. Proper 
regard to the Trust’s circumstances, performance and 
comparative information from within the NHS and other 
public sector organisation will be taken into account. Advice 
and guidance to this Committee is provided by the Trust 
Secretary, in respect of national guidance, Trust protocol 
and other related matters.

Performance conditions 

The Council of Governors has approved a performance 
assessment and appraisal process for the Chairman and 
Non-Executive Directors and the Governor Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee decided on some of the key 
elements of that. The Council was keen to ensure that best 
practice had been taken into account in its development 
and, prior to agreeing the process, it reviewed guidance 
which set out what a good process should encompass. 
In particular, the Committee was keen that the system 
adopted would enable all Governors to have a ‘voice’ in 
the entire appraisal process.  This was adopted by the full 
Council of Governors. 
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The Lead Governor and Senior Independent Director have 
a role in the assessment and appraisal of the Chairman, 
including performance against clear objectives and the 
Executive Directors also have a role in participating in the 
assessment of Non-Executive Directors. 

The Executive arm of the Board of Directors is monitored 
both collectively and individually, on delivery of key 
objectives with the Chief Executive appraising performance 
of Directors on a quarterly basis, and the Chairman 
reviewing the Chief Executive’s performance on the  
same basis.

Remuneration not subject to performance conditions

Performance bonus payments have, historically, been in 
line with the levels set by the Department of Health. There 
are no performance conditions for the current period 
and assessment and appraisal of performance will be 
undertaken against delivery of all objectives. 

Service contracts for senior managers

The details of the service contracts for our senior managers 
are shown in the table below.  All senior appointments 
were required to be renewed as of November 2011, on the 
North East Ambulance Trust becoming a Foundation Trust.

All of our Executive Directors are required to give six 
months’ notice upon deciding to leave the Trust, and any 
lesser period must be approved by the Board of Directors, 
which would assess the risk to the continuity of business. 
Non-Executive Directors can terminate their contract 
at any time. 

Senior manager’s remuneration and pension benefits are 
detailed in the tables on the following pages. Accounting 
policies for pension and other retirement benefits are set 
out within the accounts. No compensation for loss of office 
paid or receivable has been made under the terms of the 
approved Compensation Scheme. This is the only audited 
part of the remuneration report.  

Expense payments to Governors and Directors (not 
subject to audit)

Expenditure on governors travel expenses amounted to 
£4,700 (£5,600 2012/13). The total number of governors 
claiming was 19.

Directors’ expenses for the reporting period were £22,800 
(£21,300 2012/13). 

Signed

 

Simon Featherstone
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Remuneration of Senior Managers

Period 1st August 2013 - 31 March 2014 Period 1st August 2012 - 31 March 2013

Name and Title Salary Taxable 
Benefits

Annual 
Perfomance 
Rlated Bonus

Long Terms 
Performance 

Related Bonus

All Pension 
Related Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

Salary Taxable 
Benefits

Annual 
Perfomance 
Rlated Bonus

Long Terms 
Performance 

Related Bonus

All Pension 
Related Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

(bands of  
£5,000)

(nearest £100) 
Note 1

(Bands of  
£5,000)

(bands of  
£5,000)

(bands of  
£2,500) - Note 2

(bands of £5,000) (bands of 
£5,000)

(nearest £100) 
Note 1

(bands of £5,000) (bands of £5,000) (bands of £2,500) 
Note 2

(bands of £5,000)

£,000 £ £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £ £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Simon Featherstone - Chief Executive 145-150 5,000 0 0 102.5-105 255-260 130-135 8,400 0 0 5-7.5 145-150

Roger French - Director of Finance 110-115 0 0 0 225 - 227.5 335-340 90-95 0 0 0 (22.5-25) 65-70

Colin Cessford - Director of Strategy 
and Business Development (to Jun 12)

0 0 0 0 0 0 15-20 0 0 0 (40-42.5) (25-30)

Paul Liversidge - Chief Operating 
Officer

95-100 5,100 0 0 132.5-135 230-235 85-90 2,500 0 0 (10-12.5) 85-90

Ann Fox - Director of Clinical Care and 
Patient Safety (to Apr 13)

5-10 0 0 0 97.5-100 110-115 80-85 1,900 0 0 (10-12.5) 75-80

Joanne Baxter - Director of Clinical 
Care and Patient Safety (from Aug 13)

55-60 3,333 0 0 112.5-115 170-175 0 0 0 0 0 0

Kyee Han - Medical Director 55-60 0 0 0 0 40-45 60-65 0 0 0 0 50-55

Joanne Machers -  Director of 
Human Resources and Organisational 
Development (from Jul 12)

90-95 0 0 0 7.5-10 95-100 65-70 0 0 0 897.5-900 965-970

Nichola Fairless - Associate Director of 
Strategy and Performance

65-70 0 0 0 12.5-15 80-85 55-60 0 0 0 45-47.5 105-110

Anthony Dell - Chairman (to Dec 12) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ashley Winter - Chairman (from Jan 13) 40-45 0 0 0 0 40-45 40-45 0 0 0 0 40-45

John Pescott - Non-Executive Director 
(to Oct 13)

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

Alison Fellows - Non-Executive 
Director (to Oct 13)

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

Peter Wood - Non-Executive Director 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Helen Tucker - Non-Executive Director 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20

Wendy Lawson - Non-Executive 
Director 

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Jeffrey Fitzpatrick - Non-Executive 
Director

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Philip Murray - Non-Executive Director 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Hamish Moore - Non-Executive 
Director (from Nov 13)

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Note 1 - Taxable benefits includes the provision of a vehicle and telephone

Note 2 - This is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in accordance with the HMRC method.

Kyee Han pay includes all employer oncosts and pension contributions

Joanne Machers has no preserved NHS Pension Scheme membership prior to 01/07/2012.

Her scheme membership includes a transfer in of 30 years 327 days from the Local Government Pension Scheme.
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Remuneration of Senior Managers

Period 1st August 2013 - 31 March 2014 Period 1st August 2012 - 31 March 2013

Name and Title Salary Taxable 
Benefits

Annual 
Perfomance 
Rlated Bonus

Long Terms 
Performance 

Related Bonus

All Pension 
Related Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

Salary Taxable 
Benefits

Annual 
Perfomance 
Rlated Bonus

Long Terms 
Performance 

Related Bonus

All Pension 
Related Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

(bands of  
£5,000)

(nearest £100) 
Note 1

(Bands of  
£5,000)

(bands of  
£5,000)

(bands of  
£2,500) - Note 2

(bands of £5,000) (bands of 
£5,000)

(nearest £100) 
Note 1

(bands of £5,000) (bands of £5,000) (bands of £2,500) 
Note 2

(bands of £5,000)

£,000 £ £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £ £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Simon Featherstone - Chief Executive 145-150 5,000 0 0 102.5-105 255-260 130-135 8,400 0 0 5-7.5 145-150

Roger French - Director of Finance 110-115 0 0 0 225 - 227.5 335-340 90-95 0 0 0 (22.5-25) 65-70

Colin Cessford - Director of Strategy 
and Business Development (to Jun 12)

0 0 0 0 0 0 15-20 0 0 0 (40-42.5) (25-30)

Paul Liversidge - Chief Operating 
Officer

95-100 5,100 0 0 132.5-135 230-235 85-90 2,500 0 0 (10-12.5) 85-90

Ann Fox - Director of Clinical Care and 
Patient Safety (to Apr 13)

5-10 0 0 0 97.5-100 110-115 80-85 1,900 0 0 (10-12.5) 75-80

Joanne Baxter - Director of Clinical 
Care and Patient Safety (from Aug 13)

55-60 3,333 0 0 112.5-115 170-175 0 0 0 0 0 0

Kyee Han - Medical Director 55-60 0 0 0 0 40-45 60-65 0 0 0 0 50-55

Joanne Machers -  Director of 
Human Resources and Organisational 
Development (from Jul 12)

90-95 0 0 0 7.5-10 95-100 65-70 0 0 0 897.5-900 965-970

Nichola Fairless - Associate Director of 
Strategy and Performance

65-70 0 0 0 12.5-15 80-85 55-60 0 0 0 45-47.5 105-110

Anthony Dell - Chairman (to Dec 12) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ashley Winter - Chairman (from Jan 13) 40-45 0 0 0 0 40-45 40-45 0 0 0 0 40-45

John Pescott - Non-Executive Director 
(to Oct 13)

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

Alison Fellows - Non-Executive 
Director (to Oct 13)

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

Peter Wood - Non-Executive Director 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Helen Tucker - Non-Executive Director 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20

Wendy Lawson - Non-Executive 
Director 

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Jeffrey Fitzpatrick - Non-Executive 
Director

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Philip Murray - Non-Executive Director 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Hamish Moore - Non-Executive 
Director (from Nov 13)

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Benefits in kind include the provision of a vehicle and home telephone rental (Chief Operating Officer only)

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in their 
organisation and the median remuneration of the organisations workforce.

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust was 
£150,000.  This was 8 times the median remuneration of the workforce which was £19,268.

Total remuneration includes, salary, non-consolidated performance related pay, benefits in kind as well as severance 
payments.  It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions 
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Pension Benefits for Senior Managers 

Name and Title Period Real increase in 
pension at age 60

Real increase in 
pension lump 
sum at age 60

Total accrued 
pension at age 60 
at 31 March 2014 

Lump sum at age 60 
related to accrued 

pension at 31 March 2014 

Cash equivalent

Transfer Value at  
31 March 2014

Cash equivalent

Transfer Value at  
31 March 2013

Real increase in 
Employer Funded 
Cash Equivalent 
Transfer Value

Employers 
Contribution to 

Stakeholders 
Pension

(bands of £2,500) (bands of £2,500) (bands of £5,000) (bands of £5,000)

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Simon Featherstone - Chief Executive 01/04/2013 - 31/03/14 2.5-5.0 12.5-15.0 55-60 170-175 0 0 0 0

Roger French - Director of Finance  
and Resources

01/04/2013 - 31/03/14 7.5-10.0 27.5-30 50-55 160-165 0 0 0 0

Joanne Machers - Director of Human 
Resources and Organisational 
Development (from July 2012)

01/04/2013 - 31/03/14 0.0-2.5 0 45-50 0 585 550 27 0

Paul Liversidge - Director of Operations 01/04/2013 - 31/03/14 5.0-7.5 15.0-17.5 35-40 110-115 687 564 124 0

Nichola Fairless (from April 2012) 01/04/2013 - 31/03/14 0.0-2.5 0.0-2.5 5-10 15-20 71 61 10 0

Ann Fox - Director of Clinical and Patient 
Safety (01/04/2013 to 30/04/14)

01/04/2013 - 31/03/14 0.0-2.5 0.0-2.5 30-35 95-100 549 463 7 0

Joanne Baxter - Director of Clinical and 
Patient Safety (01/08/2014 to 31/03/14)

01/04/2013 - 31/03/14 2.5-5.0 12.5-15.0 20-25 60-65 324 240 84 0

Band of Highest Paid Directors Total Remuneration (£’000)

2013/14 
145-150

2012/13 
130-135

Median Total 19,268 19,077

Remuneration Ratio 8 7

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially 
assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits 
accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and 
any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. 
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or 
arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension 
scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme 
and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former 
scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits 
that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their 
total membership of the pension scheme, not just their 
service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure applies.

The CETV figures, and from 2004-05 the other pension 
details, include the value of any pension benefits in 
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has 
transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include 
any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a 
result of their purchasing additional years of pension service 
in the scheme at their own cost.  CETVs are calculated 
within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the 
Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Review of Tax Arrangements for Public Sector 
Appointees

There were no “Off Payroll Engagements” during the year 
for more that £220 per day and of more than six months 
duration.
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Pension Benefits for Senior Managers 

Name and Title Period Real increase in 
pension at age 60

Real increase in 
pension lump 
sum at age 60

Total accrued 
pension at age 60 
at 31 March 2014 

Lump sum at age 60 
related to accrued 

pension at 31 March 2014 

Cash equivalent

Transfer Value at  
31 March 2014

Cash equivalent

Transfer Value at  
31 March 2013

Real increase in 
Employer Funded 
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(bands of £2,500) (bands of £2,500) (bands of £5,000) (bands of £5,000)

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000
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Development (from July 2012)

01/04/2013 - 31/03/14 0.0-2.5 0 45-50 0 585 550 27 0

Paul Liversidge - Director of Operations 01/04/2013 - 31/03/14 5.0-7.5 15.0-17.5 35-40 110-115 687 564 124 0

Nichola Fairless (from April 2012) 01/04/2013 - 31/03/14 0.0-2.5 0.0-2.5 5-10 15-20 71 61 10 0

Ann Fox - Director of Clinical and Patient 
Safety (01/04/2013 to 30/04/14)

01/04/2013 - 31/03/14 0.0-2.5 0.0-2.5 30-35 95-100 549 463 7 0

Joanne Baxter - Director of Clinical and 
Patient Safety (01/08/2014 to 31/03/14)

01/04/2013 - 31/03/14 2.5-5.0 12.5-15.0 20-25 60-65 324 240 84 0

Director’s Report

No. of engagements which include contractual clauses giving the Trust the right to request 
assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations

0

Of which

No. for whom assurance has been accepted and received 0

No. for whom assurance has been accepted and not received 0

No. that have been terminated as a result of assurance not been received 0
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NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance
The provisions required for inclusion by the NHS Foundation 
Trust Code of Governance fall within two categories;

1. Provisions requiring disclosure and supporting 
explanation, even in the casethat the NHS foundation 
trust is compliant with the provision.

All of the provisions requiring supporting explanation 
whether they have been complied with or not have been 
included in the Director’s report under their retrospective 
sections (Board, Council of governors, Audit committee, 
membership) 

2. Provisions which involve the basic “comply or explain” 
obligation, requiring an explanation where the trust 
has departed from the Code.

As Directors, we consider we comply with the provisions of 
the code.

As Directors, we consider the annual report and accounts, 
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and 
provides the information necessary for stakeholders to assess 
our Trust’s performance, business model and strategy. 
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Quality Report

Quality Report
for the period 1 April 2013 – 31 March 2014
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Contents

Note: 

Where the source of data is not stated, the source is 
internal Trust data systems. Where it is not stated that a 
national definition has been applied, then the definition 
has been agreed locally.
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Jargon Buster

Jargon buster

Term Definition

AACE The Association of Ambulance Chief Executives (AACE) provides ambulance services 
with a central organisation that supports, coordinates and implements nationally agreed 
policy. It also provides the general public and other stakeholders with a central resource 
of information about NHS ambulance services.

Care bundle A care bundle is a group of between three and five specific procedures that staff must 
follow for every single patient. The procedures will have a better outcome for the patient 
if done together within a certain time limit, rather than separately.

Care Quality Commission The independent regulator of all health and social-care services in England. The 
commission makes sure that the care provided by hospitals, dentists, ambulances, care 
homes and services in people’s own homes and elsewhere meets government standards 
of quality and safety.

Category A8 A life-threatening 999 call that must be responded to within eight minutes for 75% of 
these cases.

Category A19 If a category-A patient needs transport, this should arrive, 95% of the time, within 19 
minutes of the request for transport being made.

Clinical audit A clinical audit mainly involves checking whether best practice is being followed and 
making improvements if there are problems with the way care is being provided. A good 
clinical audit will find (or confirm) problems and lead to changes that improve patient 
care.

Clinical effectiveness Clinical effectiveness means understanding success rates from different treatments 
for different conditions. Methods of assessing this will include death or survival rates, 
complication rates and measures of clinical improvement. This will be supported by 
giving staff the opportunity to put forward ways of providing better and safer services 
for patients and their families as well as identifying best practice that can be shared and 
spread across the organisation. Just as important is the patient’s view of how effective 
their care has been and we will measure this through patient reported outcomes 
measures (PROMs).

Clinical governance, quality 
and patient safety strategy

A strategy that defines how we will demonstrate quality in patient safety, patient 
experience and clinical effectiveness.
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Jargon Buster

Term Definition

Commissioning for Quality 
and Innovation (CQUIN) 
payment framework

The Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) payment framework means that 
a part of our income depends on us meeting goals for improving quality.

Contact centre The first point of contact for 999, 111 and patient transport services patients who need 
frontline medical care or transport.

Control environment This relates to the system of controls we have in the trust.

Core services Our core services are accident and emergency, NHS 111, community first responders, the 
patient transport service and emergency planning.

Directory of services Once we have decided on the appropriate type of service for the patient – so that we 
can direct them to a service which is available to treat them – we use a system linked 
to a directory of services. This directory contains details of the services available, their 
opening times and what conditions and symptoms they can manage, within an area 
local to the patient.

End-of-life patients Patients approaching the end of their life.

Enforcement action Action taken against us by the Care Quality Commission if we do not follow regulations 
or meet defined standards.

e-PRF e-PRF uses laptops to replace paper patient report forms. Ambulance staff attending 
calls can now download information on the way, access patients’ medical histories, 
enter information in ‘real time’ and send information electronically to the accident and 
emergency department they are taking the patient to and to the patient’s GP practice.

First responder A first responder is a volunteer who has had training to act on behalf of the ambulance 
service and can respond to emergency calls when sent by the contact centre. They 
deal with a specific list of emergencies and give the patient support and appropriate 
treatment until the ambulance arrives.

Foundation trust boards These make sure that trusts are effective, run efficiently and manage resources well and 
answer to the public.

Governors Foundation trust members have elected a council of governors. The council is made up 
of 21 public governors and four staff governors, plus nine appointed governors.
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Term Definition

Governance and Risk 
Committee

This committee gives the Board an independent review of, and assurances about:

• all aspects of governing and managing risk;

• our own systems for control and managing risk, to make sure they are fit for purpose, 
have enough resources and support our performance and reputation;

• the process of governing risk, to make sure it is clear about current and future aspects 
of exposure to risk;

• the evidence to support our reports to Monitor; and

• keeping to legislation, best practice and regulations.

Governor Task and Finish 
Group

A group set up to identify which priority areas and risks should be included in a specific 
document, such as the annual plan or quality account.

Handover and turnaround 
process

The point when all the patient’s details have been passed, face-to-face, from the 
ambulance staff to staff at the hospital, the patient is moved from the ambulance trolley 
or chair into the treatment centre trolley or waiting area and responsibility for the patient 
has transferred from the ambulance service to the hospital.

Turnaround is the period of time from an ambulance arriving at hospital to an 
ambulance leaving hospital.

Health Act 2009 An act relating to the NHS Constitution, healthcare, controlling the promotion and sale 
of tobacco products, and the investigation of complaints about privately arranged or 
funded adult social care.

Hear and treat A triage system designed to assess patients over the phone and to provide other options 
in terms of care, where appropriate, for members of the public who call 999.

Logistics desk A logistics desk in our contact centre, which will be a point of contact for A&E crews 
who need guidance and advice on where to take or send non-emergency patients when 
the nearest A&E department is not appropriate.

Major trauma Major trauma means multiple, serious injuries that could result in death or serious 
disability. These might include serious head injuries, severe gunshot wounds or road-
traffic accidents.

Monitor The independent regulator of NHS foundation trusts

National ambulance quality 
indicators

Measures of the quality of ambulance services in England, including targets for response 
times, rates when calls are abandoned, rates for patients contacting us again after initial 
care, time taken to answer calls, time to patients being treated, calls for ambulances 
dealt with by advice over the phone or managed without transport to A&E, and 
ambulance emergency journeys.

Jargon buster (continued)
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Term Definition

National clinical audit National clinical audit is designed to improve the outcome for patients across a wide 
range of medical, surgical and mental-health conditions. It involves all healthcare 
professionals across England and Wales in assessing their clinical practice against 
standards and supporting and encouraging improvement in the quality of treatment and 
care. 

National confidential 
enquiries

Investigations into the quality of care received by patients to assist in maintaining and 
improving standards. 

NHS Operating Framework Sets out the planning, performance and financial requirements for NHS organisations 
and the basis on which they will be held to account up to and including 2012/2013.

NHS Planning Guidance – 
‘Everyone Counts’

Sets out the planning, performance and financial requirements for NHS organisations 
and the basis on which they will be held to account from 1 April 2013.

NHS (Quality Accounts) 
Regulations 2010

Set out the detail of how providers of NHS services should publish annual reports 
– quality accounts – on the quality of their services. In particular, they set out the 
information that must be included in the accounts, as well as general content, the form 
the account should take and when the accounts should be published, and arrangements 
for review and assurance. The regulations also set out exemptions for small providers 
and primary care and community services.

NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual 
2011-12

Sets out the guidance on the legal requirements for NHS foundation trusts’ annual 
report and accounts.

Pathways A system developed by the NHS which is used to identify the best service for a patient 
and how quickly the patient needs to be treated, based on their symptoms. This may 
mean the patient answering a few more questions than previously. All questions need to 
be answered as we use them to make sure patients are directed to the right service for 
their needs. Types of service may include an ambulance response, advice to contact the 
patient’s own GP or the out-of-hours service, visit the local minor injury unit or walk-in 
centre or self-care at home.

Patient experience This includes the quality of caring. A patient’s experience includes how personal care 
feels, and the compassion, dignity and respect with which they are treated. It can 
only be improved by analysing and understanding how satisfied patients are, which is 
measured by patient experience measures (PREMS).

Patient report forms An up-to-the-minute record of a patient’s history, assessment and treatment provided 
by our staff. 

Jargon Buster
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Term Definition

Patient safety Makes sure the environment the patient is being treated in is safe and clean. This then 
reduces harm from things that could have been avoided, such as mistakes in giving 
drugs or rates of infections. Patient safety is supported by the National Patient Safety 
Agency ‘seven steps to patient safety’.

The Pulse The Pulse is our in-house magazine published once every two months that gives our 
staff information on a range of topics such as clinical issues, good-news stories, project 
information and sporting events. It also includes a letters page so that staff can see 
letters written by members of the public.

Payment by Results The aim of Payment by Results is to provide an open, rules-based system for paying 
trusts. It will reward efficiency, support patient choice and diversity and encourage 
shorter waiting times. 

The Payment by Result tariffs system means funding is fair and consistent rather than 
relying on past budgets and the negotiating skills of individual managers.

Quality Committee This committee gives the Board an independent review of, and assurances about, all 
aspects of quality, specifically clinical effectiveness, patient experience and patient safety, 
and monitors whether the Board keep to the standards of quality and safety set out in 
the registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission.

Quality dashboard An easy-to-read, often single-page report showing the current status and historical 
trends of our quality measures of performance.

Red 1 Call Red 1 calls are the most time critical and cover cardiac arrest patients who are not 
breathing and do not have a pulse, and other severe conditions such as airway 
obstruction. 

Red 2 Call Red 2 calls are serious but less immediately time critical and cover conditions such as 
stroke and fits.

Red 1 Performance The number of Category A (Red 1) calls resulting in an emergency response arriving 
at the scene of the incident within 8 minutes. A response within eight minutes means 
eight minutes zero seconds or less.) divided by (The number of Category A (Red 1) 
calls resulting in an emergency response arriving at the scene of the incident. If there 
have been multiple calls to a single incident, only one incident should be recorded.) 
Performance is only measured where NEAS took the initial call.

Jargon buster (continued)
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Term Definition

Red 2 Performance The number of Category A (Red 2) calls resulting in an emergency response arriving 
at the scene of the incident within 8 minutes. A response within eight minutes means 
eight minutes zero seconds or less.) divided by (The number of Category A (Red 2) 
calls resulting in an emergency response arriving at the scene of the incident. If there 
have been multiple calls to a single incident, only one incident should be recorded. 
Performance is only measured where NEAS took the initial call.

Red 19 Performance The number of Category A (Red 1) and Category A (Red 2) calls resulting in an 
ambulance arriving at the scene of the incident within 19 minutes.) divided by (The 
number of Category A (Red 1) and Category A (Red 2) calls resulting in an ambulance 
able to transport the patient arriving at the scene of the incident. If there have been 
multiple calls to a single incident, only one incident should be recorded. Performance is 
only measured where NEAS took the initial call.

Research Ethics Committee This committee helps to make sure that any risks of taking part in a research project are 
kept to a minimum and explained in full. Their approval is a major form of reassurance 
for people who are considering taking part. All research involving NHS patients has to 
have this approval before it can start.

Rural performance Measuring the category-A8 response performance in all rural areas, as agreed at a local 
level.

Safeguarding referral The process crews follow if they suspect a patient (whether a child or an adult) is 
vulnerable or at risk of harm.

See and treat A face-to-face assessment by a paramedic that results in a patient being given care 
somewhere other than an A&E department.

Special reviews or 
investigations

Special reports on how particular areas of health and social care are regulated.

Urgent-care centre Urgent-care centres help to prevent people going to hospital unnecessarily. For instance, 
at walk-in centres, patients can be treated for minor injuries and conditions instead of 
going to hospital.

Jargon Buster
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Part 1
We employ over 2,900 people 
and serve a population of more  
than 2.6 million. 
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Part 1

The North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
(NEAS) covers the counties of Northumberland, Tyne and 
Wear, Durham and Teesside – an area of around 3,230 
square miles. We employ over 2,900 people and serve a 
population of more than 2.6 million. 
We provide emergency ambulance services and non-
emergency transport and respond to 999 calls for people 
in the North East of England. From April 2013 the trust 
has been successfully delivering NHS 111 for the region 
and has been able to demonstrate how this service can 
run alongside the provision of the 999 service to provide a 
seamless access point for patients.

Our headquarters is based at Newburn Riverside business 
park, to the west of Newcastle upon Tyne city centre. 
These headquarters house the Patient Transport Service 
(PTS) contact centre and a large number of our support 
services staff. We split our 999 and NHS 111 contact centre 
between our headquarters site and our site at Russell House 
in South Tyneside. We can also take calls at Scotswood 
House in Newcastle, where our training department 
is based.

We currently have 64 locations, including 56 emergency-
care ambulance stations. A number of these stations also 
house non-emergency Patient Transport Service (PTS) 
employees and vehicles and, to save public money, we 
share some of our sites with fire and rescue services.

We have a fleet of various vehicles to cover the different 
areas we serve in terms of population and geography. 
We can adapt to road conditions in urban and rural areas 
and can respond in all weather situations. Our fleet of 
emergency-care vehicles is made up of over 192 vehicles 
and we have 232 non-emergency vehicles within PTS. 

Our performance during 2013/2014 has remained strong. 
We have met all the targets in the service-performance 
areas, including achieving both category-A8 and -A19 
performance targets. We generated a financial surplus in 
2013/14 and achieved our cost improvement target.

Since becoming a Foundation Trust in November 2011 
we have received feedback from Monitor, the healthcare 
regulator, on how we are performing. Monitor rated us as 
‘Green’ for compliance (meeting the relevant standards) 
and we received a financial risk rating of 4 (where 1 
represents the highest risk and 5 the lowest) for 2013/2014. 

Introduction to NEAS and 
the services we provide

Our vision is: 

“To make a difference by 
integrating care and transport 
in pursuit of equity and 
excellence for our patients”. 
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Patients remain at the heart of everything that we do 
and we uphold our mission to ensure patients receive the 
right care in the right place at the right time. We have a 
strong track record of delivering high-quality patient care, 
focusing limited resources to produce the most effective 
outcomes possible and we have been at the leading 
edge of innovative service design for some time. This has 
consistently led to us being one of the highest performing 
ambulance trusts in the country. Times are changing and 
we recognise we need to work differently and have the 
persistence to continue to drive through improvements in 
service delivery whilst working to ensure all of our patients 
have a positive experience. 

Ambulance services are being recognised as being able to 
play an enhanced role as a care provider, utilising the skills 
of Paramedics to treat more patients at scene. There is also 
the potential for ambulance services to drive integration 
and co-ordinate other elements of emergency and urgent 
care being at the heart of ‘first contact’ made by many 
patients and being a key decision maker in determining the 
best place for definitive care. These nationally documented 
proposals are key drivers of our operational plan and long 
term strategic ambitions.

The transformation of our service is now of paramount 
importance and we are committed to working with our 
Commissioners across the region to improve patient care 
through: 

• Transforming the Emergency Care service delivery 
model whilst protecting service provision in the interim, 
delivering more care and treatment on scene and at 
home to our patients

• Improving response time performance while realising 
efficiencies wherever possible

• Integrating the way in which we provide care and patient 
transport across the full spectrum of our core services i.e. 
high end Emergency Care through to planned patient 
transport

• Developing partnership working with primary and 
community care that helps support admission avoidance 
programmes, working as a team to meet the needs of 
our patients
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We have a strong track record for delivering high-quality, 
good-value patient care and we plan to build on that in 
2014/2015 by taking forward every opportunity to continue 
to improve patient care.
Like all NHS organisations, we have closely reviewed the 
recommendations of the second Francis Inquiry into Mid-
Staffordshire hospitals. We will continue to put the patients 
at the heart of everything we do, delivering effective clinical 
care as well as excellent patient experience. In line with 
the Francis Inquiry recommendations, our quality report 
provides full and accurate information about how we are 
keeping to the fundamental standards of quality and  
safety and our aim to deliver quality to patients in 
everything that we do.

The national direction of travel specifically for mobile 
treatment services and Emergency Care centres  
(Emergency Care centres to serve the more remote 
and rural communities) and the establishment of 
major emergency centres, is not yet emerging in local 
commissioning plans. It is likely the next iteration of the 
Urgent and Emergency Care review due in spring may help 
to firm up local plans. The national review is now being 
considered in more detail at urgent care working groups, 
now that winter planning and review has subsided. 

For this report, we developed a list of potential ‘quality 
priorities’, covering patient safety, patient experience and 
clinical effectiveness. We based our priorities on the needs 
of the public and the potential priorities of the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs), and by taking into  
account guidance from the ‘Everyone Counts Planning 
Guidance 2013/14’, which sets out the plans for the NHS  
in the year ahead. 

To help us develop the priorities, we hold a Quality Report 
Task and Finish Group made up of governors and staff 
who shared their views and those of the people they 
represent. We consulted the local Healthwatch teams, the 
regional Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) and our 
commissioners when deciding on the final list and relayed 
their views to the Board of Directors.

We felt it was important to make sure that the priorities 
were in line with our business plans so that we could 
support real improvements. It was also important, to ensure 
that priorities are measurable and meaningful for patients.

This year has seen us further develop our arrangements 
for governing the way we work through the Quality 
Committee. It will monitor the progress of our plans to 
deliver our clinical governance, quality and patient safety 
strategy. The purpose of the Quality Committee is to give 
the Board an independent review of, and reassurance 
about, the following:

• All aspects of the quality of services, particularly clinical 
effectiveness and how we will maintain this over the 
long term, patient experience and patient safety, and 
monitoring whether we meet essential standards of 
quality and safety set by the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC).

• Improvements in quality and patient safety – making 
sure these are central to all our activities.

• How we encourage and monitor high-quality, clinically 
safe patient care.

• Whether we are meeting our own and other quality 
and clinical improvement targets, and the action 
management should take if we are not meeting  
these targets.

Introduction to  
quality within NEAS

Part 1
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• Whether we are meeting the committee’s legal, 
mandatory and regulatory requirements.

• Making sure that the clinical governance, quality and 
patient safety strategy covers:

 - the experience of patients and the public, including 
how a patient’s care is planned and the situation in 
which care is given;

 - how information is used in terms of patient 
experience, resources, process and outcomes;

 -  improvements in quality, including the clinical audit 
programme, decisions made based on research studies 
(evidence-based practices), the way we manage risk, 
and learning from incidents and complaints;

 -  staffing and staff management, education, training 
and continuing professional development; 

 -  the leadership strategy and planning, including 
involving the community and patients and clinical 
leadership; and

 -  evaluating our own quality data and that provided by 
other sources such as the CQC.

The Quality Committee is attended by the Director of 
Clinical Care and Patient Safety and is chaired by a Non-
Executive Director. The Quality Review Group we formed 
with our commissioners helps provide assurance of joined-
up working and quality across the region. This group 
allows us direct access to clinicians and we are developing 
relationships to help influence the commissioning of our 
services. The group is progressing a cycle of business which 
will ensure that the quality agenda is progressed locally. 

National targets do not currently exist for our Patient 
Transport Service. We monitor some internally and in 
response to our new appointment based service introduced 
in October last year we now regularly report on a 
number of new metrics such as time spent travelling to 
appointments. The metrics included within this report are 
still under review and development and are reported to 
Commissioners.  As part of the external assurance process 
it has been identified that there are some discrepancies 
in the data reported, however this has not compromised 
patient safety.  The data will be fully investigated as part of 
our Data Quality Assurance Programme and through the 
implementation of the PTS strategy.  This is likely to take 
some considerable time.   

 

Part 1
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Statement of quality from our
Chief Executive: our senior employee

Part 1

This is our fifth quality report and our third as a foundation 
trust. We have prepared it under the National Health Service 
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010. We have reviewed 
all the information available on the quality of care in all 
core services and, as far as we know, the information in 
this report is accurate. This quality report includes a quality 
review which tells you how we did in 2013/2014 and sets 
out how we will continue to deliver high-quality healthcare 
services in 2014/2015.
The report gives details of some of the progress we are 
making in achieving our vision. Last year, we identified a 
number of areas where we would make improvements and 
this report describes the progress we have made. Also,  
we identify new priorities for the coming year which we 
have chosen after careful discussion with those with an 
interest in our work. We will report on our progress in  
next year’s quality report. 

The report describes a number of successes. However, 
we are not going to just sit back. We recognise that 
we can always make further improvements. Part of 
this is about maintaining and improving our response 
times and improving our performance with the national 
ambulance quality indicators (AQIs). These are measures 
of performance which will help us to show the quality of 
care that we provide and to focus on improving the quality 
of our services. This will help us to improve the care we 
provide for our patients by making sure that our staff  
have the right skills and training to properly care for and 
treat patients. 

This is my last period as Chief Executive of the trust. The 
fourteen years of my tenure has delivered significant 
growth in our business and improvements in both response 
times and quality of service allied with real innovation to 
place the ambulance service at the centre of the urgent  
and emergency care system here in the North East. 
However, as highlighted in our recent inspection by the 
Care Quality Commission, there is still much to do and 
I wish my successor every support in taking the trust’s 
services forward.

To the best of my knowledge, the information in this 
document is accurate.

Simon Featherstone 
Chief Executive
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Part 2
In 2009, the Department of Health (DH) ruled that 
all NHS provider trusts must publish a quality report 
every year. The purpose of the report is to show our 
commitment to quality and for others to hold us to 
account. Quality is broken down into three areas.

• Patient safety

• Clinical effectiveness

• Patient experience

This report reviews our performance for 2013/2014 
and sets out our main priorities for 2014/2015.

An introduction to our quality report



Section heading

Annual Report 2013 - 2014  |  71



Section heading

72  |  Annual Report 2013 - 2014

Review of the 2012/2013 Quality Report Priorities: Our Performance in 2013/2014

Patient experience

Priority 1 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014

Demonstrate ways 
to gather and 
measure the patient 
experience across 
our region and 
learn about patient 
experiences by 
recording patient 
stories in emergency 
care, PTS and from 
our contact centre.

We used a number of 
methods to get patients’ 
views of our services, doing 
so shortly after their care:

• Telephone survey for  
NHS 111

• Postal surveys for PTS

• Focus Groups for PTS

• Questionnaires for those 
who use emergency 
services

We developed a new 
way of measuring patient 
experience.

We set up a pilot in 2012-
2013 with North of Tyne 
Patient Advice and Liaison 
Service (PALS) at Newcastle’s 
Royal Victoria Infirmary 
to test this new method. 
PALS volunteers and staff 
were trained to survey 
ambulance patients arriving 
by emergency and PTS 
ambulances.

We have developed SMS 
text and website based 
questionnaires, both are 
live and publicised on 
ambulance vehicles and on 
the NEAS website. Posters 
are also displayed on PTS 
vehicles and smartphone 
users can access the survey 
using a QR code.  We have 
also input into the structure 
and questions of the 
national ambulance survey. 

Priority 2 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014

To work with 
healthcare 
professionals 
to improve the 
management of their 
patient transport 
requirements.

Does not apply Baselines as shown below:

52% within 60 mins

63% within 120 mins

76% within 240 mins

The target for 2013/14 
was to increase these 
percentages

60% within 60 mins

76% within 120 mins

86% within 240 mins

Priority 3 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014

To introduce an 
appointment based 
Patient Transport 
Service through 
2013/14, across the 
entire NEAS area.

Does not apply Does not apply The target for 2013/14 was 
set at 75%

66.1% (April – September)

75.0% (October to March)*

* Through external assurance processes it has been identified there may be inaccuracies with the data in the source systems and this is being investigated at the time of 
writing the report. 

Part 2
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Patient safety

Priority 4 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014

Work with the acute 
trusts to reduce the 
impact of hospital 
turnaround delays 
in order to ensure a 
positive, safe patient 
experience.

Does not apply Baselines as shown below:

6365 delays over 60 mins

465 delays over 120 mins

The target for 2013/14 was 
to reduce the numbers 

4818 delays over 60 mins

448 delays over 120 mins

Priority 5 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014

Lead the work with 
those with an interest 
in our services to 
deliver support, both 
medical and social, 
to high-intensity 
users to make sure 
that they get the 
most appropriate 
response in the most 
appropriate place to 
meet their needs.

Does not apply Does not apply The target for 2013/14 was 
to set a baseline for the 
number of patients flagged 
on the system as high 
intensity users.

There were 338 such callers 
identified during the year.

Part 2
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Priorities for the Quality Report 
year ending 31 March 2015

To make our quality report useful to, and include, all readers, 
we asked a wide range of organisations and others with 
an interest, including our Board of directors, our staff, the 
local Healthwatch teams, the regional Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and our commissioners, how we could make the 
three areas of quality, patient safety, clinical effectiveness and 
patient experience, meaningful to them. 
Our aim was to develop a report which was shaped by 
patients, the public and our staff so that they had an 
opportunity to understand, contribute to and promote 
quality within NEAS. We considered their feedback and 
agreed on five local priority areas for 2014/2015.  These 
were finalised with our Governors and Board.

 

Part 2
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Patient Experience

Priority 1

Where appropriate, drive up the use of treatment other than conveyance to an Emergency Department. 

Baseline 2013/2014 Target 2014/2015

% conveyance 
64.2%

To reduce

Reason for doing this A key issue facing the NHS is the increasing demand for emergency care. The rise in demand is 
unsustainable and the use of more appropriate alternative dispositions is critical at a time when 
costs and workforce pressures are rising.

We have a pivotal role to play in the entire urgent and emergency care system as an 
ambulance service. Traditionally, the ambulance service has been seen primarily as a call-
handling and transportation service, encompassing some aspects of patient care. However 
increasingly, it is recognised as having a wider role, as a conduit to other NHS services and 
ensuring patients can access the right care, at the right place in the right time.

Providing clinical advice and signposting to callers - known as ‘hear and treat’- treating 
patients at the scene -‘see and treat’- and conveying patients to a wider range of appropriate 
care destinations other than Emergency Departments where alternative destinations are 
commissioned and are known to NEAS can help ease emergency care pressures by reducing 
conveyance rates to Hospitals.

We have a number of initiatives and activities planned in order to increase the use of 
alternative dispositions, which collectively, should result in an improvement in the use of 
alternative pathways:

• Continuing to use the Logistics Desk in the Control Room to search for alternative pathways 
on the Directory of Services (DoS) and ensuring the DoS is regularly updated as new facilities 
come on stream

• Maximising use of the Clinical Hub in the contact centre to support staff with increasingly 
complex issues around prioritisation of competing clinical resource demands, safeguarding, 
mental capacity and consent as well as supporting decision-making around alternative 
pathway utilisation

• Using the skills of the Enhanced CARe paramedic at the scene for treatment rather than 
conveyance ensuring that the patient can stay at home or close to home where possible

• Developing the role of the Specialist Paramedic (primary care) and using those skills in 
appropriate circumstances to reduce conveyance levels 

• Working across NEAS to determine what might be an appropriate regional target changes in 
case mix

• Using our research and development function to draw in possible funding sources that may 
help us to deliver changes in behaviour that would lead to a reduced conveyance rate

• Analysing the information we hold on electronic patient report forms to establish the level 
of clinical intervention with a patient and use that information to look at call matching 
possibilities

• Training additional paramedics if appropriate based on the analysis above 

• Undertaking a gap analysis of services across the region to identify where an Emergency 
Department may be the only option in an area

• Engaging with stakeholders to educate system users about the role of NEAS and the care 
that can be provided at locations away from hospital
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Patient Experience

Priority 2 

Improve the average hospital turnaround time at target hospitals.

Baseline 2013/2014 Target 2014/2015

4818 delays over 60 mins 
448 delays over 120 mins

Reduce handover time at hospitals 
with the longest delays

Reason for doing this Delays in transferring the care of a patient from an ambulance crew to hospital staff are 
unwelcome because there is the potential for harm to patients waiting for an ambulance 
response in the community and because they waste valuable NHS resources. Historically delays 
would occur only in times of extreme pressure during the winter months as pressure builds in 
acute settings from increased levels of activity, however in more recent times there have been 
delays throughout the year which are yet further exacerbated during the winter. 

This indicator is very important to us because at times of increased system pressure, our 
performance against the 8 minute standard for red calls can be impacted. 

We have reports that measure the handover time based on staff utilising information 
technology in every Emergency Department across the North East. We work with the acute 
hospitals to ensure that the figures are accurate and that we take action to address concerns 
across the whole health economy. We have seen improvements in handover at a number of 
hospitals across the region and there are now opportunities to learn from those success stories 
and develop best practice for those hospitals that are not achieving the target times 
for handover. 

We recognise that there may be improvements to the total turnaround time for at a hospital 
i.e. the time it takes to handover the patient together with the time it takes for the ambulance 
crew to clear to be ready for the next job.  

We have a number of initiatives and activities planned in order improve the total turnaround 
times across the region:

• Reviewing handover performance across the entire region to fully understand turnaround 
performance at all hospitals 

• Agreeing and developing revised handover report incorporating all requirements of the trust

• Identifying improvement targets for specific hospitals where performance is poor

• Working with those hospitals performing well to identify specific practices that are 
contributing to their success

• Sharing ideas for improvement with the hospitals finding it difficult to achieve the 15 minute 
target turnaround time

• Reviewing the amount of time post-handover it takes crews to clear across the region and 
establish any learning that can be used to reduce this proportion of the total turnover time

• Undertaking stakeholder engagement activity with the Chair and the Chief Executive to 
build an understanding of the issues with other trusts and how we can work together with 
them to improve the performance for the benefit of the wider system

Part 2
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Patient Experience

Priority 3

Reduce the frequency of extended shifts across all of NEAS to optimise patient care and staff welfare.

Baseline 2013/2014 Target 2014/2015

Overall staff engagement score  
3.25 out of 5 

To improve

Reason for doing this We recognise that our staff are our most important asset and they continually rise to the 
challenges they are set. Whilst the Trust is a top performing service these standards are very 
much attributable to our workforce however, for a long time, front-line staff have been doing 
more for less and are feeling the pressure of the rising activity. There are just as many demands 
placed on staff not directly related to patient care such as vehicle checks and drug audits but 
are just as important in maintaining adequate levels of safety for patients, as well 
as themselves. 

The current morale and motivation of staff is reportedly low but is not at the point where 
it is adversely affecting patient care. We are committed to achieving a work life balance for 
all staff, effectively reducing late meal breaks and late finishes and ensuring the creation of 
opportunities for their engagement in implementing the changes necessary to meet the 
challenges ahead. We want to ensure that our staff feel valued to ensure that patient care is 
optimised.

During the year we recognised that there was more work for us to do to support our staff 
and had already started work on our Team Leader review prior to the CQC inspection.  Once 
implemented, the review will provide more leadership at the front line. The current target date 
for full implementation is April 2015.

We have a number of initiatives and activities planned in order to help improve staff 
satisfaction which will hopefully lead to an increase in the staff satisfaction score as measured 
through the annual staff survey:

• Baselining the volumes of late finishes for 2013/14

• Considering the use of staggered shift patterns

• Investigating any complaints or serious incidents that could be linked to late finishes

• Tracking the volumes of patients that are conveyed to an Emergency Department rather than 
being treated at the scene when a shift has overran.

• Starting the implementation of the Team Leader review to help address gaps in the existing 
infrastructure and enhance the front line leadership role so that it more fully supports the 
staff delivering care to the patients

• Reviewing staff satisfaction in the staff survey and aim to see improvement in scores. Target 
specific areas for feedback based on issues identified by staff.

• Engaging with staff using the results of the staff survey to seek input from them about the 
issues they feel are most important 

• Identifying any quick wins from the survey that can be implemented easily with a positive 
impact

• Identifying questions in the Friends and Family Test that also provide insight do interim 
surveys/pulse surveys to monitor progress

• Tracking reductions in late finishes for 2014/15

Part 2



Section heading

78  |  Annual Report 2013 - 2014

Patient Safety

Priority 4

Set up systems in NEAS that demonstrate all mandatory requirements are being met that could impact on 
the safety of patients and staff.

Baseline 2013/2014 Target 2014/2015

Does not apply Begin implementation of e-ledger 
by March 2015

Reason for doing this Safeguarding our staff and patients is something we take very seriously indeed and we want 
to ensure that all relevant checks are being carried out within the Trust. The checks are those 
that apply to staff, vehicles, buildings and equipment. 

We will be introducing an e-ledger that logs and tracks all checks required across the Trust and 
aim to have the first phase in place by the end of the financial year. This will focus on those 
compliance checks related to staff. 

We have a number of initiatives and activities planned in order to help us deliver this 
requirement and these are shown below:

• Reconfirming across the Trust all of the checks that are required checks e.g. DBS (previously 
known as CRB), driving licences etc.

• Ensuring all policies are up to date in line with national requirements or internal guidance

• Generating a list of all checking requirements and using this to create a ledger that covers 
checks for all staff, vehicles, buildings and equipment checks

• Conducting monthly reviews of the ledger and generating monthly reports

• Using dashboard functionality to report progress 

• Introducing ‘holding to account’ meetings across the Trust to help ensure all checks are 
being made in a timely manner.

Part 2



Section heading

Annual Report 2013 - 2014  |  79

Part 2

Patient Safety

Priority 5

Lead the work with those with long term conditions to make sure they get the most appropriate response in 
the most appropriate place to meet their needs.

Baseline 2013/2014 Target 2014/2015

338 high intensity users identified To categorise high intensity users by long 
term condition type

Reason for doing this We have ongoing work with high intensity users which are mainly managed by the Customer 
Care Department within NEAS and this was agreed as a priority area for us in the last report, 
we would like to build on that work in the coming year. 

We want to ensure that resources are targeted appropriately at those with long term 
conditions, but also want to ensure that frequent users who do not really need our services are 
pointed towards other more appropriate options. 

Frequent users rely heavily on resources that could otherwise be delivering an emergency 
response to those in greater need but also they represent an ineffective use of health 
resources, particularly where ambulance attendance is linked to hospital attendance. Further, 
the high attendance may indicate a crucial unmet health need for the individual which needs 
addressing by the wider health and social care community.

Current cases are managed on an individual basis following on from a Multi- Disciplinary Team 
meeting and a care pathway is developed depending on the circumstances of the individuals.

In the last year, we have worked with Yorkshire Ambulance Service and York University to look 
at a way of identifying a potential frequent caller and looking at trends and patterns of calls. 

We have a number of initiatives and activities planned in order to help us further progress this 
area of work:

• Reviewing and embedding the work that has been undertaken so far and learn from positive 
impacts

• Categorising different types of users based on whether they have a long term condition 
that may need clinical intervention or whether they would benefit from using other services, 
perhaps in the social care arena

• Reviewing whether the existing flags on our systems are still appropriate

• Updating the actions on the system associated with different types of flag

• Targeting resources appropriately for regular service users that need the help of our service 

• Working with GPs to signpost and refer users to the most appropriate service for them, 
within or outside of the health community.

How we will 
measure, monitor 
and report on all of 
our priorities

• We will report to the Quality Committee on our progress on the quality priorities for the year 
ahead. The Governance and Risk Committee will receive an update at each of its meetings 
and our Board of Directors will monitor the progress of the priorities at meetings twice a 
year. We will draw up an action plan for the quality report, to take action and report on any 
areas which need to improve. The Performance Team will keep a track of this. Also, we will 
update our full Council of Governors, Overview and Scrutiny committees and Healthwatch 
and members of NEAS. We will continue to build our dashboard that monitors the quality of 
our service and our quality reporting mechanisms to monitor progress.
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The views of patients, public and staff
We recognise the value of listening to patients, public and 
staff when setting our quality priorities. When producing 
this report we have involved everyone who has an interest 
in our organisation. This has been a continuing process 
throughout the financial year.

Throughout 2013/2014 we attended regional Healthwatch 
and Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings to help us 
collect views on the priority areas for 2014/2015. We also 
have a Task and Finish Group which includes both staff and 
public governors to involve people further.

When making a shortlist of the priority areas, we sent the 
draft list to all those with an interest and asked for their 
feedback. All the feedback we received agreed that the 
areas we had identified were areas where improving quality 
would further improve our services. 

Once an initial shortlist had been agreed, we engaged 
further with all of our staff to ensure the emphasis on 
quality was in the right areas and is clearly linked to the 
welfare of patients and staff. 

What we have done as a result of the feedback 
we have received

We refined the shortlist in light of comments received and 
used input to agree measures and activities that would help 
us to deliver the priorities. Based on staff feedback we have 
also listed our priorities in this report in order of importance 
to provision of a quality service.

Involving those with 
an interest in our work
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The Department of Health identifies a number of mandatory 
statements (statements which we have to include by law) 
that we must report on. The information also gives assurance 
that the Board has reviewed and taken part in initiatives 
which link strongly to improving services.
During 2013/2014 the North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust (NEAS) provided three relevant health 
services. NEAS has reviewed all the data available to them 
on the quality of care in all three of these relevant health 
services. 

The income generated by the relevant health services 
reviewed in 2013/2014 represents 96.0 per cent of the total 
income generated from the provision of relevant health 
services by NEAS for 2013/2014.

The data reviewed within the quality report covers the 
area of patient experience, patient safety and clinical 
effectiveness, where data has not been available this has 
been indicated.

Please note where the source of data is not stated, the 
source is internal Trust data systems. Where it is not stated 
that a national definition has been applied, then the 
definition has been agreed locally.

Clinical Audit
Clinical audit is “a quality improvement cycle that involves 
measurement of the effectiveness of healthcare against 
agreed and proven standards for high quality, and taking 
action to bring practice in line with these standards so as 
to improve the quality of care and health outcomes.” (HQIP 
2011 Principles of Best Practice)

During 2013/14 44 national clinical audits and 0 national 
confidential enquiries covered relevant health services that 
NEAS provides.

During 2012/2013 NEAS participated in 100% of national 
clinical audits and 0% of national confidential enquiries 
of the national clinical audits and national confidential 
enquiries which it was eligible to participate in.

The national clinical audits and national confidential 
enquiries that NEAS was eligible to participate in during 
2013/14 are shown as follows:

Statements of assurance 
from the Board

Part 2

Table 1. National Clinical Audits and Confidential Enquiries NEAS Participated in.

Apr 
13

May 
13

June 
13

July 
13

Aug 
13

Sept 
13

Oct 
13

Nov 
13

Dec 
13

Jan 
14

Feb 
14

Mar 
14

National Clinical Performance Indicators

Hypoglycaemia 3 3

Asthma 3 3

Lower limb fracture * 3 3

Febrile convulsions 3 3

National Clinical Performance Indicators

STEMI 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Stroke 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Cardiac arrest 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

*This was extended to include all single lower limb fractures in August 13.
Source:  http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/ambulance-quality-indicators/ambulance-quality-indicators-data-2013-14/
Note: Data has been produced in line with standard national definitions
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Table 2. National Clinical Audits and Confidential Enquiries NEAS Participated in.

Apr 
13

May 
13

June 
13

July 
13

Aug 
13

Sept 
13

Oct 
13

Nov 
13

Dec 
13

Jan 
14

Feb 
14

Mar 
14

National Clinical Performance Indicators

Hypoglycaemia N = 
148

N = 
112

Asthma N = 
109

N = 
127

Lower limb fracture * N = 
121

N = 
59

Febrile convulsions N = 
37

N/A

National Clinical Performance Indicators

STEMI N = 
61

N = 
68

N = 
73

N = 
54

N = 
75

N = 
68

N = 
59

N = 
67

N = 
74

- - -

Stroke N = 
205

N = 
246

N = 
306

N = 
153

N = 
308

N = 
322

N = 
317

N = 
363

N = 
333

- - -

Cardiac arrest N = 
159

N = 
158

N = 
113

N = 
116

N = 
100

N = 
150

N = 
141

N = 
152

N = 
149

- - -

Source: NCPI data is sourced from subject specific reports issued by the National Ambulance Service Clinical Quality Group
NB – For NCPIs the sample for NEAS was 100% however the maximum amount of records to be included in each audit is 300, although NEAS did not have this number of 
patients.  There are issues however in identifying some of these patients for inclusion in the audits, due to the lack of a reporting solution which should be addressed with 
the introduction of the new reporting system expected in August 14.

For the ACQIs the sample size is 100%. Reporting of the ACQIs runs at least three months behind therefore the information for January, February and March 14 is not 
available yet.

The national clinical audits and national confidential 
enquiries that NEAS participated in, and for which data 
collection was completed during 2013/2014, are listed 
below alongside the number of cases submitted to 
each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of 
registered cases required by the terms of that audit or 
enquiry, are shown in Table 2.
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The reports of 44 national clinical audits were reviewed  
by the provider in 2013/14 and NEAS intends to take  
the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare 
provided:

• The Quality Improvement Officer will conduct clinical 
audits and provide feedback to operational staff 
where issues of non-compliance with care bundles are 
identified. In addition, station visits have taken place 
and are intended to continue, to discuss issues arising 
from clinical audits. Further ways of reaching front line 
staff are also being considered with a view to identifying 
appropriate ways to improve clinical outcomes and 
providing higher-quality patient care. 

• We will continue to communicate with staff through 
‘The Pulse’ magazine on various topics, including 
‘Delivering Quality Care for Patients through Care 
Bundles’, through patient care updates, and by putting 
promotional literature, such as leaflets and posters, in 
ambulance stations. 

• We will continue to produce information on how we 
are doing at divisional level so that we can monitor our 
progress and make improvements where necessary. 

• We will continue to audit how we process our paper 
patient report forms so that we are confident the 
methods we are using are accurate. 

• We will continue to publish best-practice guidance in 
‘The Pulse’ and patient care updates for front-line staff. 

• Our Quality Improvement Officer will visit stations to 
discuss clinical quality improvement face-to-face with 
operational staff.

• We will recommend changes to clinical practice where 
necessary to improve the care we give to patients and to 
keep to best practice.

• We will continue to give feedback to, and receive it from, 
front-line staff where clinical guidelines have not been 
followed, so that we know any improvement measures 
have been implemented.  

• We will continue to audit call-handling in our contact 
centres so that we know patients are being prioritised 
correctly and the appropriate triage (assessment) is  
being given.

• We will carry out further audits of patient report forms 
and electronic patient report forms to identify any risk to 
patient outcome as a result of a crew’s decision not to 
convey to hospital. 

• We will continue to audit life-threatening incidents  
which had a response time of more than 20 minutes 
to find out why there was a delay and where we can 
make improvements. 

• We will continue to audit patients who:

a. contact us again within 24 hours after they were 
given advice during their initial call; and

b. contact us again within 24 hours after they have been 
treated at the scene of the incident, when the rate of 
recontact is above the national average, to make sure 
there was no risk to them.
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The reports of 13 local clinical audits were reviewed by 
the provider in 2012/2013 and NEAS intends to take the 
following actions to improve the quality of healthcare 
provided:

• We will continue to audit how we process our paper 
patient report forms so that we are confident the 
methods we are using are accurate, although with the 
introduction of the e-PRF the amount of paper records 
has reduced considerably 

• We will continue to publish best-practice guidance in 
‘The Pulse’ and issue patient care updates for front-line 
staff. 

• Our Quality Improvement Officer will visit stations to 
discuss clinical quality improvements face-to-face with 
operational staff.

• We will make changes to clinical practice where 
necessary to improve the care we give to patients and to 
keep to best practice.

• All audits where it was identified that there was scope 
for improvement have been included in the clinical 
audit programme for 2014/15 and will be re-audited to 
ascertain if there has been an improvement in practice

• We will continue to give feedback to, and receive it 
from, front-line staff where clinical guidelines have not 
been followed, so that we know any improvements we 
suggest will be carried out. 

•  We will continue to produce a feedback log report for 
non-compliance with care bundles which is disseminated 
to operational managers so that they can address any 
issues of repeated non-compliance

• We will coach and mentor any front-line staff that  
needs support.

• We will continue to audit call-handling in our contact 
centres so that we know patients are being prioritised 
correctly and the appropriate triage (assessment) is  
being given.

• We will carry out further audits of patient report forms 
and electronic patient report forms to make sure there 
are no clinical risks when crews decide, based on a 
patient’s symptoms, not to take them to hospital or  
to treat a child under two years old. This audit will  
also show that front-line staff are correctly recording 
what they do.

• We will continue to audit life-threatening incidents  
which had a response time of more than 20 minutes  
to find out why there was a delay and where we can 
make improvements. 

• We will continue to audit patients who:

a. contact us again within 24 hours after they were 
given advice during their initial call; and

b. contact us again within 24 hours after they have been 
treated at the scene of the incident, when the rate of 
recontact is above the national average, to make sure 
there was no risk to them.
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Research and innovation

The number of patients receiving relevant health services 
provided by NEAS in 2013/14 that were recruited during 
that period to participate in research approved by a research 
ethics committee was 221. 
Research helps the NHS to improve the current and future 
health of the people it serves. It is essential in successfully 
promoting health and plays a major part in continuing to 
improve the services and supporting safe and effective 
care. It identifies new ways of preventing, diagnosing 
and treating disease (see http://www.nihr.ac.uk/Pages/
QualityAccounts.aspx). 

Our involvement with clinical research shows our 
commitment to testing and offering 
the latest medical treatments and techniques.
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CQUIN

A proportion of NEAS income in 2013/2014 was conditional 
upon achieving quality improvement and innovation 
goals agreed between NEAS and any person or body 
they entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement 
with for the provision of relevant health services, through 
the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment 
framework. 
Further details of the agreed goals for 2013/14 and for the 
following 12 month period are available electronically  at: 
http://www.neas.nhs.uk/media/71286/item_12.ii_-_cquin_
update_2013-14_jan_14_report_for_trust_board.pdf

We agree our CQUIN framework locally with our 
commissioners based on areas where we feel we 
can improve quality and increase the number of new 
working practices. 

“CQUIN is a national framework for locally 
agreed quality improvement schemes. It enables 
commissioners to reward excellence by linking 
a proportion of English healthcare provider’s 
income to the achievement of local quality 
improvement goals. The framework aims to 
embed quality within commissioner-provider 
discussions and to create a culture of continuous 
quality improvement, with stretching goals 
agreed in contracts on an annual basis” 
(Department of Health, 2011). 
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The Table below includes the monetary total for income in 2013/14 conditional upon achieving quality improvement and 
innovation goals and a monetary total for the associated payments in the 2 previous years.

CQUIN scheme values

2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014

CQUIN value (£) £1.43 million £2.3 million £2.42 million

CQUIN achieved (£) £1.38 million £2.3 million £2.42 million

CQUIN Scheme 2012/2013

Indicator

1 Show the measures we have taken to ask patients about their experience and develop improvement plans 
based on that feedback.

2 Increase the number of patients referred or transported to alternative care providers rather than A&E.

3 Improve our performance in rural areas.

CQUIN Scheme 2012/2013

Indicator

1 Involvement in whole system and pathway reviews with CCGs.

2 Increase the use of alternative dispositions other than A&E during 2013/14 where alternative pathways are 
available.

3 Demonstrate measures to capture & measure the patient experience, and publish patient stories.

4 Improvement in emergency response times for patients outside of national target.

5 To improve its responses times to GP urgent transport requests.

6 Reduce the number of PTS journeys that are cancelled on the day of travel.

The CQUIN scheme for 2014/15 will target agreed funding at the progression of the integrated transport model and 
implementation of the Friends and Family Test. The performance metrics have not been finalised at the time of producing 
this report.
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NEAS is required to register with the Care Quality 
Commission and its current registration status is registered 
without conditions. 
The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement 
action against NEAS during 2013/2014.

NEAS has not participated in any special reviews or 
investigations by the Care Quality Commission during the 
reporting period.

In February 2014, the CQC carried out a routine, 
unannounced inspection to check that we met all 
essential standards of quality and safety. The review 
looked at the following.

• Respecting and involving people who use services

• Care and welfare of people who use services

•  Management of medicines

•  Requirements relating to workers

•  Supporting workers

•  Assessing and monitoring the quality  
of service provision

They found the Trust to be fully compliant in two areas 
and non-compliant with actions to take in four. These 
were; relating to workers (moderate concern); assessing 
and monitoring the quality of service provision (moderate 
concern); supporting workers (minor concerns); and 
management of medicines (minor concern). The CQC also 
issued an enforcement notice in relation to a number of 
employees not having undertaken a record check with 
the Debarring and Disclosure Service. A full investigation 
was undertaken to establish the extent and nature of 
the failings and to ensure corrective action was taken to 
prevent this from reoccurring. This area of compliance was 
closed out in the last quarter of 2013/14 and a number of 
changes have been made to the process and it is now a key 
reporting metric on the monthly Trust Board report. NEAS 
intends to continue to take action to address the areas of 
weakness and non-compliance. To date this has included 
expediting the conclusion of the Trust’s team leader review 
which will contribute to improving supporting workers, 
issued communications and changed policy and procedure 
regarding aspects of medicines management and putting 
additional resource in to assist the complaints team. 

The CQC has issued and published its final inspection 
report and the full document is available on their website. 

At the time of writing we do not know the outcome of our 
governance risk rating for Quarter 4 for 2013/14 and we 
await feedback from Monitor as they consider the findings 
and outcome of the CQC inspection.

Care Quality Commission 

Part 2



Section heading

Annual Report 2013 - 2014  |  89

NEAS did not submit records during 2013/2014 to the 
Secondary Uses service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode 
Statistics which are included in the latest published data. 
NEAS Information Governance Assessment Report overall 
score for 2013/2014 was 86% and was graded green.

We have a Data Quality Assurance Group which aims to 
provide an open forum to discuss quality across our main 
systems. They share knowledge and expertise in the quality 
of information and deal with any issues to do with the 
quality of the information.

The group reports directly to the Information Governance 
Working Group and also makes sure we keep to all our 
legal and regulatory responsibilities in terms of what we do.

NEAS was not subject to the Payment by Results clinical 
coding audit during the reporting period by the Audit 
Commission.

NEAS will be taking the following actions to improve  
data quality:

• Continue to undertake data quality audits;

• Make sure that all staff are aware of the associated 
quality strategies, policies and procedures; 

• Develop, put into practice and regularly monitor 
standards for healthcare and data quality; 

• Report instances when we do not keep to standards  
on information quality;

• Match up information on trust data sets, billing data sets 
and Payment by Results (PbR) data sets;

• Review and update relevant evidence to support the NHS 
Information Governance Toolkit (IGT) and report the 
group’s progress on IGT initiatives;

• Make sure we finish a review of documents describing 
databases, systems and their structure;

• Review, develop and improve the way we report on the 
quality of information for 999, PTS and 111 calls to find 
and correct inaccuracies as they arise;

• Review all procedures for reviewing and correcting the 
quality of information for all systems critical to continued 
service provision.

• Review all privileges users have for access to all business 
critical systems, making sure we restrict access to 
personal identifiable information (PII) wherever possible;

•  Audit our functions against local procedures by sampling 
record sets; and

•  Make sure all clinical systems keep to the NHS Number 
Strategy and connect to the NHS Demographic Batch 
Service (DBS) and Summary Care Records (SCR) to check 
a patient’s personal information, such as name and date 
of birth.

Quality of information
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The following section sets out how we have improved, 
measured against the six mandatory indicators given to us 
by Monitor. This allows us to compare ourselves with other 
providers and to help you assess whether our performance 
was good or bad.

Reporting Against  
Core Indicators

National priorities

Category A 
Telephone calls (Red 
1 calls) resulting in an 
emergency response by 
the Trust at the scene 
of an emergency within 
8 minutes of receipt 
of that call during the 
reporting period.

64%

66%

68%

70%

72%

74%

76%

78%

80%

82%

EMAS

80.20%79.98%79.20%77.38%77.27%76.95%76.71%75.83%73.58%73.11%71.26%2013/14

2012/13

Target

75.59%

78.67%78.93%78.24%71.68%77.47%76.59%74.70%73.46%74.15%74.27%69.84% 73.88%

75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00% 75.00%

SWAS EoE NWAS SECAM B NEAS LAS YAS SCAS WMAS IoW Eng

Pe
rc

en
ta

g
e 

Pe
rf

o
rm

an
ce

Ambulance Service

Red 1 Performance

Source: http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/ambulance-quality-indicators/  Note: Data has been 
produced in line with standard national definitions 

Category A 
Telephone calls (Red 
2 calls) resulting in an 
emergency response by 
the Trust at the scene 
of an emergency within 
8 minutes of receipt 
of that call during the 
reporting period.

64%

66%

68%

70%

72%

74%

76%

78%

80%

82%

EoE

78.94%77.42%76.08%75.77%75.71%75.11%75.09%74.65%73.58%71.35%69.41%2013/14

2012/13

Target

74.56%

76.50%76.48%76.61%76.24%75.18%75.99%75.22%75.06%75.56%73.89%72.80% 75.41%

75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00% 75.00%

EMAS WMAS SECAM B YAS LAS SCAS SWAS IoW NWAS NEAS Eng

Pe
rc

en
ta

g
e 

Pe
rf

o
rm

an
ce

Ambulance Service

Red 2 Performance

Source: http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/ambulance-quality-indicators/   
Note: Data has been produced in line with standard national definitions
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64%

66%

68%

70%

72%

74%

76%

78%

80%

82%

EoE

78.90%77.30%76.25%75.92%75.65%75.26%75.18%74.69%71.72%71.34%69.62%2013/14

2012/13

Target

74.70%

76.41%76.29%76.77%75.29%76.17%75.37%75.10%75.55%75.68%73.66%73.19% 75.32%

75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00%75.00% 75.00%

EMAS WMAS YAS LAS SCAS SWAS IoW NWAS NEAS Eng

Pe
rc

en
ta

g
e 

Pe
rf

o
rm

an
ce

Ambulance Service

Overall Red Performance

SECAM B

Source: http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/ambulance-quality-indicators/ 
Note: Data has been produced in line with standard national definitions and performance is subject to assurance.

Category A  
Telephone calls resulting 
in an emergency 
response by the Trust 
at the scene of an 
emergency within 19 
minutes of receipt of 
that call during the 
reporting period.

90%

91%

92%

93%

94%

95%

96%

97%

98%

99%

97.83%97.29%97.14%97.05%96.96%96.63%95.79%95.44%95.40%93.80%92.92%2013/14

2012/13

Target

96.12%

98.12%96.98%97.46%97.32%96.96%97.41%94.92%95.47%95.00%93.34%93.53% 96.13%

95.00%95.00%95.00%95.00%95.00%95.00%95.00%95.00%95.00%95.00%95.00% 95.00%

Pe
rc

en
ta

g
e 

Pe
rf

o
rm

an
ce

Ambulance Service

Red 19 Performance

EoE EMAS SCAS SWAS NWAS IoW NEAS WMAS SECAM B YAS LAS Eng

Source: http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/ambulance-quality-indicators/   
Note: Data has been produced in line with standard national definitions and performance is subject to assurance.

The North East Ambulance Service considers that this data 
is as described for the following reasons:

• We follow national guidance and definitions for KA34 
submissions to the NHS Information Centre when 
producing category-performance information. This 
information is published every month on the DH  
statistics web pages as part of the AQIs. Ambulance 
trusts review each other’s AQI definitions and 
calculations as part of the yearly workload of the NAIG 
(National Ambulance Information Group) to make sure 
that all are measured consistently.

The North East Ambulance Service has taken the following 
actions to improve this score and so the quality of its 
services, by: 

• Twice weekly trust-wide meetings to monitor 
performance led by the Chief Operating Officer.

• Introducing performance dashboards through our online 

reporting centre that allow all parts of the business to 
access performance information that is updated every 
15 minutes. This information is also displayed in 
the contact centre for call takers and dispatch staff  
to view at all times.

• Increasing the use of PTS and voluntary drivers to 
support less critical patients and this is now developing 
into the plans for an integrated transport service.

• Targeted use of other providers such as St John 
Ambulance, British Red Cross and contracted taxi firms 
when NEAS staff and vehicles are fully utilised

• Expanding the extra desk in the contact centre dedicated 
to managing urgent patients. This has freed up time for 
dispatchers to concentrate on 999 calls.

• Identifying and training extra community first responders 
in areas of greatest need.

• Agreeing the process for when there is a surge in demand
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2012/2013 2013/2014 National 
average 

2013/2014

Trust with 
lowest 

2013/2014

Trust with 
highest

2013/2014

Care bundle delivered to 
patients presenting with 
signs or symptoms of a 
suspected heart attack 
(average)

84.7% 84.45% 80.5% 67.41%

South Central 
Ambulance 

Service

89.63%

South Western 
Ambulance 

Service 

Care bundle delivered to 
patients presenting with 
signs or symptoms of a 
stroke (average)

97.2% 98.19% 96.31% 92.09%

South East 
Coast

99.39%

North West 
Ambulance 

Service

* Data for April-13 to December-13 inclusive.
Note: Information has been produced in line with standard national definitions
Source: http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/ambulance-quality-indicators/  

The North East Ambulance Service considers that this data 
is as described for the following reasons:

• We follow national guidance and definitions for clinical 
AQIs when producing performance information for 
care bundles delivered to patients.  This information is 
published every month on the DH statistics web pages.

The North East Ambulance Service has taken the following 
actions to improve this score and so the quality of its 
services, by: 

• Carrying out monthly audits for patients who have a pre-
hospital diagnosis of suspected ST elevation myocardial 
infarction (STEMI) confirmed on electrocardiogram, or 
new suspected stroke or transient ischaemic attack;

•  Utilising a quality improvement officer to carry out 
audits for 100% of the cases associated with these 
clinical indicators and reviewing the clinical element of 
each record to assess whether the ‘care bundle’ (a set 
of interventions that, when used together, significantly 
improve patient outcome) had been delivered; 

• Asking the quality improvement officer to feed back to 
those individuals who have missed a care element of the 
care bundle to encourage reflection and learning;  

• Asking our quality improvement officer to carry out 
station visits and promote care bundles to those 
operational staff on shift with the aim of creating a 
quality improvement culture throughout the service; and 

• Promoting the care bundles using other methods of 
communication, for example, patient care updates, 
posters and inserts in the staff handbook.
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2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 National 
average 

2013/2014

Trust with 
lowest 

2013/2014

Trust with 
highest

2013/2014

2013 staff 
survey results  
(higher the 
score the 
better)

3.34 out of 5 3.12 out of 5 3.22 out of 5 3.10 out of 5 2.78 out of 5

East of England 
Ambulance 

Service

3.32 out of 5

Isle of Wight 
Ambulance 

Service

Data Source: http://nhsstaffsurveys.com/cms/

The NHS staff survey includes the following statement: 
“If a friend or relative needed treatment, I would be happy 
with the standard of care provided by this Trust”, and asks 
staff whether they strongly agree, agree, neither agree nor 
disagree, disagree, or strongly disagree with the statement. 

The North East Ambulance Service considers that this data 
is as described for the following reasons:

• The information has been produced in line with standard 
national definitions.

•  We measure the feedback reports produced by the Co-
ordination Centre against other trusts of a similar type. 
This allows people to make a fair comparison between 
trusts.

The North East Ambulance Service has taken the following 
actions to improve this score and so the quality of its 
services, by: 

•  Investing in additional resource by recruiting 
Organisational Development Leads within the Trust 
to focus on culture and staff engagement.  They will 
prepare an action plan to take forward the learning from 
the most recent staff survey

•  Using the resource within the team to increase the 
level of uptake for the survey to provide a more 
comprehensive feedback mechanism in future surveys

•  Reviewing the interventions that have already taken 
place after previous surveys to assess the potential 
impact on the care of the patient
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Reported Patient Safety Incidents 2012 /13 – 2013/14

Reported Patient Safety Incidents 2012 - 2013 Reported Patient Safety Incidents 2013 - 2014

Actual Impact Total %against 
total 

reported 
incidents

Totals 
Calls

% 
against 

total call 
rate per 

1000 calls

Total %against 
total 

reported 
incidents

Totals 
Calls

% 
against 

total call 
rate per 

1000 calls

No Harm 143 25.81 1,110,700 0.12 457 42.00 1,395,279 0.32

Minor 220 39.71 1,110,700 0.19 267 24.54 1,395,279 0.19

Moderate 129 23.28 1,110,700 0.11 200 18.38 1,395,279 0.14

Major 8 1.44 1,110,700 0.007 17 1.56 1,395,279 0.012

Catastrophic/
Death

10 1.80 1,110,700 0.009 27 2.48 1,395,279 0.019

Near Miss 44 7.94 1,110,700 0.03 120 11.02 1,395,279 0.086

Total 554 1,110,700 1088 1,395,279

Our staff report patient safety incidents through our 
local risk-management systems. These reports are then 
uploaded onto the National Reporting and Learning System 
(NRLS). The information collected in that national database 
allows trends to be identified. This information guides the 
development of patient safety strategies and resources.

Between 1st April 2013 and 30th September 2013, we 
reported a total of 550 patient safety incidents. The table 
and graph on page 96 show a breakdown of the actual 
effect of the incidents and provides a comparison against 
all ambulance organisations for the same reporting period. 

The National Patient Safety Agency (NPSA) (work in 
now continued by the NHS Commissioning Board) 
actively encourages high reporting.  The view is that NHS 
Organisations with a culture of high reporting are more 
likely to have developed a strong reporting and learning 
culture.  

Scrupulous reporting and analysis of safety related 
incidents, particularly incidents resulting in no or low 
harm, provides an opportunity to reduce the risk of future 
incidents. Research shows that organisations which report 
more usually have a stronger learning culture where patient 
safety is a high priority. Through high reporting the whole 
of the NHS can learn from the experiences of individual 
organisations. Experience from other industries indicates 
that as an organisation’s reporting culture matures, staff 
become more likely to report incidents. Over the last 5 
years the Trust has taken significant steps to improve the 
reporting of all adverse events, including patient safety. The 
6 main areas to assist organisations improve their reporting 
levels, are as follow:

• Ensure quality reporting 

• Engage frontline staff and management 

• Report regularly 

• Report serious incidents quickly 

• Make reporting matter 

• Ensure consistency 
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In relation to the increases in reported patient safety 
incidents, this may be attributed to a combination of 
the above which has ultimately improved the culture 
and proactive reporting. The main contributing factor is 
the introduction of the region wide 111 Service which is 
managed by the Trust.  

Under the corporate governance arrangement a single 
method of reporting 111 adverse incident was introduced 
in the form of the Health Care Professionals Feedback Form 
(HPFF). This has witnessed a significant increase in reported 
incidents which are submitted by external stakeholders, 
for example relating to the outcome of a triage via the 111 
Service. The majority of these incidents fall within the lower 
degree of harm such as ‘no harm’, ‘minor’ and ‘moderate’.

The increase in ‘major’ and ‘catastrophic/death’ incidents 
may be shown within the total number of serious incidents 
reported by the Trust which has seen an increase against 
2012/2013. The trends showing an increase in cases 
involving the contact centres and whilst the Trust considers 
any serious incident unacceptable, the percentage of 
cases against overall activity has fallen against 2012/2013, 
0.0056% and 0.0046% in 2013/2014. Overall at the 
Organisation Patient Safety Incident Reports, tenth data 
release: 30 April 2014, shows the Trust as the second 
highest reporting Ambulance Trust.
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34.38%
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1.71% 2.18%
0.92% 2.00%

  All Ambulance Trusts 

  NEAS

Incidents reported by degree of harm for ambulance organisations 
1st April 2013 until 30th September 2013 (information taken from the Organisation Patient Safety Incident Reports, tenth 
data release: 30 April 2014)

Organisational incident data by organisation in 6-month period, 1st April 2013 - 30th September 2013

Organisation name Number of 
incidents 
occurring

Degree of harm

None Low Moderate Severe Death

London Ambulance Service 173 151 21 1 0 0

Welsh Ambulance Service 430 351 73 3 0 3

North East Ambulance Service 550 362 101 64 12 11

North West Ambulance Service 152 106 19 21 2 4

Yorkshire Ambulance Service 106 0 67 29 8 2

East Midlands Ambulance Service 142 104 30 8 0 0

West Midlands Ambulance Service 233 198 26 5 4 0

East of England Ambulance Service 143 81 49 9 3 1

South East Coast Ambulance Service 321 229 69 16 5 2

South Central Ambulance Service 427 340 29 32 18 8

South Western Ambulance Service 709 3 680 20 6 0

All Ambulance Organisations 3,386 1,925 1,164 208 58 31
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The North East Ambulance Service considers that this data 
is as described for the following reasons:

• We use the Ulysses Safeguard system for reporting and 
managing all adverse events. We use the system to 
create reports and add data to the National Risk Learning 
System (NRLS) and other external agencies such as NHS 
Protect and the Health and Safety Executive (HSE)

The North East Ambulance Service has taken the following 
actions to increase reporting of all adverse events, including 
patient safety incidents whilst reducing the severity of the 
actual impact to the patients involved, and so improve the 
quality of its services, by the following measures:

• We continue to promote and develop the way we report 
on safety incidents, this is achieved via regular system 
updates and improved functionality. Online reporting 
continues to increase with a higher percentage being 
reported online against the paper form.

• External internet based reporting portal being created for 
external organisations to report adverse events involving 
the Trust. This shall also streamline internal processes for 
managing these reports, for example the feedback shall 
be provided via an online process.

• Weekly data quality audits continue to be performed; 
this improves overall data quality fir internal and external 
reporting.

• The online ‘managers’ investigation form has been 
launched which improves the feedback provided to those 
reporting adverse events, this facilitates and encourages 
a responsive and open culture.

• The Trust now has 2 dedicated clinical investigating 
officers.

• We have trained more investigating officers and have a 
training plan to train more during 2014/15.

• The weekly root cause analysis panel continues to review 
adverse events under their terms of reference.

• Each month we report back information to the trust 
board using the Integrated Performance Report (IPR). 
This includes exception reports when needed.

• Data is reported and reviewed by our Experience, 
Complaints, Litigation, Incident and PALs group (ECLIPs).

• We have a ‘Being Open’ policy and a team of family 
liaison officers (FLOs) in place.

• More family liaison officers shall be trained during 
2014/15; these shall focus on the Duty of Candour.

•  We are creating a quality dashboard to display key data, 
including information on patient safety.

• We have developed a clinical governance, quality and 
patient safety strategy.

• We have reviewed and refocused the Trust Quality 
Committee which provides direct assurance to the Board 
on matters of patient safety, clinical quality and our 
overall clinical governance.

• We have used external reporting expertise to look at 
risk management, make recommendations and identify 
trends so they can feed into process improvements.

•  The risk management system is constantly used to 
develop reports and statistics to monitor trends and 
emerging themes.

•  Horizon scanning is continuously performed to assess 
new developments and organisational learning both 
internally and externally.

•  The Trust benefits from a proactive Research and 
Development department who have a focus on patient 
care and safety.
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Part 3
Building a clear picture of the patient 
experience based on gathered evidence 
rather than assumptions. 
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The indicators listed below were selected by the Board in 
consultation with stakeholders. A long list was considered 
to develop a short list with particular emphasis on agreeing 
those indicators with a direct impact on the quality of  
care provided.
The indicators selected for reporting are categorised 
as follows:

Patient Experience
•  Develop better methods of collecting patient experience, 

and make use of ‘net promoter score’

• To work with healthcare professionals to improve the 
management of their patient transport requirements

• To introduce an appointment based Patient Transport 
Service through 2013/14, across the entire NEAS area

Patient Safety
• Work with the acute trusts to reduce the impact of 

hospital turnaround delays in order to ensure a positive, 
safe patient experience

• Lead the work with those with an interest in our services 
to deliver support, both medical and social, to high-
intensity users to make sure that they get the most 
appropriate response in the most appropriate place to 
meet their needs

• The number and where available, the rate of patient 
safety incidents reported within the trust during the 
reporting period, and the number and percentage of 
such patient safety incidents that resulted in severe 
harm or death*

 Clinical Effectiveness
• Explore with Commissioners a system and structure 

which supports implementation of individual treatment 
plans (ITPs) and new pathway developments

• More use of other options (other than going to an 
emergency department) during 2013/14 if other options 
are available

• The percentage of patients with a pre-existing diagnosis 
of suspected ST elevation myocardial infarction who 
received an appropriate care bundle from the trust 
during the reporting period*

Quality review –  
Local Indicators

Note: Where the source of data is not stated, the source is internal Trust data systems. Where it is not stated that a national definition has been applied, then the definition 
has been agreed locally.

*Detail of these priorities is not reported here as they are included as core indicators in Part 2 of this report.



Part 3

Annual Report 2013 - 2014  |  101

Local indicators

Patient experience

Priority 1 2012/2013 Internal target for 2013/2014 2013/2014

Develop better 
methods of 
collecting patient 
experience, and 
make use of ‘net 
promoter score’

Developed new 
methodology to 
measure patient 
experience.

Rollout survey tool across the 
North East region.

Partially achieved covering 
hospitals in Newcastle, Gateshead, 
Durham and Middlesbrough 
and we are aiming for full 
implementation by March 2015.

Test at RVI to test the 
methodology before 
rolling it out across the 
North East Region in 
2013/2014.

Development and 
implementation of SMS 
texting and website based 
questionnaire.

Fully implemented.

Built a relationship 
with PALS to put the 
survey into practice.

Establishment of a baseline 
measure for 2014/15 for PTS 
and Emergency Care.

To be reported by Ipsos Mori in 
their annual report of patient 
experience. 

Worked with other 
ambulance trusts to 
develop a national 
agreement to use the 
‘friends and family 
test’ as a benchmark.

Development and pilot of 
telephone and/or postal surveys 
to measure callers’ experience of 
NEAS contact centre.

Postal survey of emergency care 
and PTS patients.

Report patient stories to 
commissioners for each of the 
three service lines.

This target was not pursued to 
avoid conflicting with the national 
survey.

To be reported by Ipsos Mori in 
their annual report of patient 
experience. 

Target not pursued as CQUIN 
funding was withdrawn by 
Commissioners.

Our aims in this priority were to build a clear picture of the 
patient experience based on gathered evidence rather than 
assumptions. This priority built on the work carried out 
previously under a pilot developed through working with 
the Royal Victoria Infirmary (RVI) and further work with a 
specialist research organisation, Ipsos MORI and feedback 
from PALS and patient groups. We also wanted to use 
patient stories to help build understanding based on actual 
experience as they can stimulate reflection and help develop 
new ideas. 

We have used our existing contracts with CRT Viewpoint 
through CQUIN funds to develop an SMS-text survey. 
Patients can now text the word “NEAS” to 88882 using a 
scale of 0-10 to mark their level of experience of the service

We have used our existing contracts with CRT Viewpoint 
through CQUIN funds to develop a web-based survey. 
The live survey can be seen from this link: https://
secure.crtviewpoint.com/OnlineSurvey/Default.
aspx?Session=b419fd27-b79f-4fba-9370-27deb1e31499, 
which sits on the CRT Viewpoint server alongside other 
NEAS surveys developed through CQUIN. The link to this 
survey is publicised on the homepage of the NEAS website 
and other pages on the web.

Both surveys are now live and are being publicised on-board 
ambulance vehicles and on the NEAS website www.neas.
nhs.uk. In addition, A4 size posters have been displayed 
inside PTS and ECS vehicles, giving patients the opportunity 
to let us know their experiences. 

The web address www.neas.nhs.uk/contact-us/tell-us-
your-views is given on the poster. This will take the user 
directly to the CRT Viewpoint secure server for the website 
questionnaire. 

In addition, a QR code is displayed for those patients who 
have a smart phone and QR code reader app (which is free 
to download). The app is used to scan this code and the user 
can then answer the survey from their smartphone.

The CQC has commissioned the Picker Institute to conduct 
a national ambulance survey on hear and treat. We decided 
not to pilot a survey of callers’ experience at the same time 
as this national survey to avoid influencing the results, but 
have influenced the structure and questions in the national 
survey to represent all ambulance surveys as the original 
survey was based around ambulance services that use 
AMPDS rather than Pathways.
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Priority 2 2012/2013 Internal target for 
2013/2014

2013/2014

To work with 
healthcare 
professionals 
to improve the 
management of their 
patient transport 
requirements.

Baselines as shown below:

52% within 60 mins

63% within 120 mins

76% within 240 mins

to increase 60% within 60 mins

76% within 120 mins

86% within 240 mins

Our aims in this priority were to ensure that we improved 
the performance in regard to transferring patients between 
healthcare providers. 

Urgent transport requests are for those patients that are 
referred by a Doctor or other health care professional 
(HCP), usually from the patient’s home to a place of 
treatment such as an acute hospital or a non-emergency 
transfer between hospitals. The time period within which 
transport is required is agreed with the referrer and is 
usually between 1 hour and 4 hours.

We had been experiencing delays in responding to ‘GP 
Urgents’ within the requested timeframe due to increased 
demand by emergency cases. As part of the A&E review 
implementation we have created a dedicated urgent 
service and made a number of other changes to our 
dispatch services to help reduce delays including amending 
call takers scripts to establish at the beginning of the call 
whether the patient can be transported by PTS, NEAS car 
or Taxi.

We have also introduced a better monitoring and recording 
system and a clinical escalation system of ring backs to 
check the patient’s condition and where appropriate a 
clinical triage and an emergency response where there is a 
delay in the urgent response.

We have provided more vehicles with appropriately trained 
staff, particularly at the weekend to transport patients. PTS 
Operational managers and the Customer Care team have 
also been aligned with hospitals across the region to work 
in a relationship management role and strengthen lines 
of communication between us and the hospital and to 
manage issues relating to the PTS service. It is anticipated 
that this engagement will align the PTS service more  
closely with the needs of hospitals and commissioners 
in the region. 
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Priority 3 2012/2013 Internal target for 
2013/2014

2013/2014

To introduce an 
appointment based 
Patient Transport 
Service through 
2013/14, across the 
entire NEAS area.

Does not apply 75% of patients arrive on 
time for appointment.

66.1% (April – September)

75.0% (October to March)*

*Through external assurance processes it has been identified there may be inaccuracies with the data in the source systems and this is being 
investigated at the time of writing the report.

Our aims in this priority were to act on the feedback 
we had relating to transport times not being linked to 
appointment times.

Within the trust, a definition of “on time” was agreed of 
arrival up to 45 minutes before the appointment or 15 
minutes after. 

In the Tees part of the region, the use appointment time 
service has been in place for some time and is operating 
successfully. Across the rest of the region, PTS ambulances 
were commissioned and scheduled to deliver patients to 
hospitals twice in the morning and once in the afternoon, 
and collect patients from hospitals once in the morning 
and twice in the afternoon. This service model is at odds 
with hospital outpatient service models where patients 
have individual appointment times spread through the day. 
The banding time model of transport can lead to patients 
waiting unnecessary amounts of time in hospital.

It was agreed that the appointment based PTS model in the 
Tees area is more consistent with our vision and strategic 
intentions by having a patient centred service delivering 
patients to their destination at the ‘right time’.

We began a phased roll-out of an appointment based 
service on the 1st October in parts of our region. To date, 
there has been an increase in performance for those 
patients that arrive for their appointments within the 
allocated 1 hour window, which has improved the patient 
experience of PTS. The current phase of the rollout provides 
an appointment based service for patients living within a 
20 mile radius of the hospital with the intention of a full roll 
out the service to all patients during 2014/15.
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Patient safety

Priority 4 2012/2013 Internal target for 
2013/2014

2013/2014

Work with the acute 
trusts to reduce the 
impact of hospital 
turnaround delays 
in order to ensure a 
positive, safe patient 
experience.

Baselines as shown below:

6365 delays over 60 mins

465 delays over 120 mins

To reduce the numbers 4818 delays over 60 mins

448 delays over 120 mins

Our aims in this priority were to reduce the number of 
delays when handing over a patient at hospital. 

Delays in transferring the care of a patient from an 
ambulance crew to hospital staff are unwelcome because 
there is the potential for harm to patients waiting for an 
ambulance response in the community and an impact on 
NHS resources. Historically, delays were only experienced 
in times of pressure builds in acute settings from increased 
levels of activity, but they have been on the increase more 
generally. 

We worked with other members of the health community 
to try to address the issue which is recognised as a 
North East whole system issue by all North East NHS 
organisations. There is a potential for this issue to 
also impact on achievement of the national target for 
ambulances to response to 75% of emergency incidents 
within 8 minutes. 

We have developed reporting tools that measure the 
handover time based on staff utilising information 
technology in every Emergency Department across the 
North East. 

During 2013/14, we have worked with all hospitals in 
the region to improve handover and turnaround times, 
looking at specific handover processes and improving 
our management of the post-handover period. We have 
introduced a message that is delivered to the crews 
handheld device 10 minutes after handover was recorded, 
this message informs crews of the time elapsed since 
handover and that should they continue to delay in clearing 
their vehicle they should contact control immediately. 

There has been a substantial improvement in post-handover 
time in August. This is the result of a change in the 
ambulance turnaround process that has been introduced 
as a consequence of not having an accurate recorded 
patient hand-over time. The average handover time has 
reduced since April to 8.1 minutes in November. However, 
handovers over one and two hours have increased 
during the winter period and pressures increase at A&E 
departments. A majority of the delays experienced are at 
University Hospital of North Durham A&E.

We expect improvements in patient flow from 2014/15, 
when new contractual penalties come into force and 
investment, through CQUIN, is used to make the necessary 
changes to minimise delays. We have recognised there is 
still more work to be done and have prioritised this activity 
again for 2014/15.
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Priority 5 2012/2013 Internal target for 
2013/2014

2013/2014

Lead the work with 
those with an interest 
in our services to 
deliver support, both 
medical and social, 
to high-intensity 
users to make sure 
that they get the 
most appropriate 
response in the most 
appropriate place to 
meet their needs.

Does not apply To set a baseline for the 
number of patients flagged 
on the system as high 
intensity users

338 callers identified during 
the year as falling into this 
category.

Our aims in this priority were to ensure that high intensity 
users are being managed appropriately.

We have ongoing work with high intensity users which are 
mainly managed by the Customer Care Department within 
NEAS. Although there Is currently no recognised definition 
of what is a frequent caller to 999, callers are identified 
on an individual basis by crews, call takers or from various 
multi-agency meetings that are held with a number of 
stakeholders including Social Services, GPs, Acute Trusts 
and the Police. 

High Intensity users rely heavily on resources that could 
otherwise be delivering an emergency response to those in 
greater need but also they represent an ineffective use of 
health resources, particularly where ambulance attendance 
is linked to hospital attendance. Further, the high 
attendance may indicate a crucial unmet health need for 
the individual which needs addressing by the wider health 
and social care community.

Current cases are managed on an individual basis following 
on from an MDT meeting and a care pathway is developed 
depending on the circumstances of the individuals.

We have been working with Yorkshire Ambulance Service 
and the National Frequent Callers Network to establish 
national policy on frequent callers. Work is also taking place 
nationally to influence and agree common reporting of the 
Frequent Caller Ambulance Quality Indicator.

A definition for frequent calls was agreed at AACE, in 
Quarter 4 of 2013/14 and is looking to be rolled out across 
ambulance services as part of the change to the AQI 
definitions for 2014/15.
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Clinical effectiveness

Priority 6 2012/2013 Internal target for 
2013/2014

2013/2014

Explore with 
Commissioners a 
system and structure 
which supports 
implementation of 
individual treatment 
plans (ITPs) and 
new pathway 
developments.

Does not apply to review 10 ITPs per month. 150 new plans per month

Our aims in this priority were to work with CCGs to plan 
and deliver better integration of local services to ensure that 
patients enjoy the highest quality, responsive, affordable 
and personalised services shaped directly by the patients as 
service users.

ITPs require an integrated system with robust governance 
arrangements in order to ensure quality and safety. We 
contribute to numerous clinical, operational, strategic and 
engagement meetings with various stakeholders across 
the region on an on-going basis as well as responding to 
invitation to ad hoc meetings/discussions/consultations 
about specific issues.

We have introduced a management system to supervise 
ITPs and work is on-going to prepare for the go live of an 
electronic system to manage ITPs during 2014/15. 

Whilst working on this priority there have been different 
categories of treatment plans identified including 
Emergency Health Care Plans, Advance Care Plans and 
Care Home Individual Patient Plans. Some of the plans 
reviewed each month are modifications and extensions 
to existing plans. The total number received in a month is 
approximately 250 of which 150 are new.
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Priority 7 2012/2013 Internal target for 
2013/2014

2013/2014

More use of other 
options (other 
than going to 
an emergency 
department) during 
2013/14 if other 
options are available

30.7% see and treat

4.0% hear and treat

To increase 30.6% see and treat

4.5% hear and treat

Our aims in this priority were to respond to the demand for 
emergency care, but to provide clinical advice or treatment 
where possible to reduce conveyance. 

A key issue facing the NHS is the increasing demand  
for emergency care. The rise in demand is unsustainable 
and the use of more appropriate alternative dispositions 
is critical at a time when costs and workforce pressures  
are rising.

We have a pivotal role to play in the entire urgent 
and emergency care system as an ambulance service. 
Traditionally, the ambulance service has been seen primarily 
as a call-handling and transportation service, encompassing 
some aspects of patient care. However increasingly, it is 
recognised as having a wider role, as a conduit to other 
NHS services and ensuring patients can access the right 
care, at the right place in the right time.

Providing clinical advice and signposting to callers - 
known as ‘hear and treat’- treating patients at the 
scene -‘see and treat’- and conveying patients to a 
wider range of appropriate care destinations other than 
Emergency Departments where alternative destinations 
are commissioned and are known to us can help ease 
emergency care pressures by reducing conveyance rates 
to Hospitals.

To increase the use of alternative dispositions other than 
A&E we have implemented a training programme to carry 
out Enhanced CARe training for a cohort of paramedics. To 
date, 45 paramedics have received training.

A clinical hub has been introduced in the Contact Centre 
and staff began work in December 2013. The clinical hub 
offers clinical support to the Contact Centre along with 
Patient Safety Support to patients. This is expected to 
produce an increase in the use of alternative dispositions.

We have recognised that this is a priority we want to 
continue to focus on in 2014/15. The role of the Enhanced 
CARe and Specialist Paramedic (primary care) will be 
considered as part of this work.
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The Trust is committed to providing an accessible, equitable 
and effective means for people (and/or their representative) 
to express their views about the services it provides. If a 
person is unhappy about any matter of the Trust’s service 
they are entitled to make a complaint, have it considered, 
and receive a response.
The Trust has taken on board recommendations from Hard 
Truths – The Journey to Putting Patients First (October 
2013) in the development of this policy. Key findings in the 
report from the Clwyd review identified;

•  Vulnerable people find the complaints system 
complicated and hard to navigate

•  There is a low level of public awareness of the NHS 
Complaints Advocacy Service

•  People are reluctant to complain and staff can be 
defensive and reluctant to listen to or address concerns

•  Organisations do not always deliver their legislative 
responsibilities on complaints handling

•  There is a need for quality, trained staff to deal with 
complaints effectively and appropriately.

Complaints, concerns and comments are viewed by the 
Trust as a significant opportunity for improvement and 
learning and by listening to our service users, patients, 
carers, hospitals, GPs etc., the Trust will be able to 
continually improve services, including listening to  
positive feedback.

The complaints procedure is not to apportion blame against 
staff but to investigate complaints with the aim of satisfying 
complainants whilst remaining fair to staff. It is also 
there to learn any lessons from complaints and facilitate 
improvement in service delivery.

It is acknowledged that some complaints will highlight 
serious incidents, which may highlight specific practice 
which may lead to disciplinary investigation.

It is our objective to satisfy complainants that the Trust, and 
its staff, takes their dissatisfaction seriously and to assure 
them that investigations will be thorough and objective.

Where appropriate, action will be taken to prevent a 
reoccurrence and to improve service delivery.

Complainants should be reassured that any contact with 
the Trust’s complaints team will not adversely affect the 
service provided by the Trust and any person raising a 
concern will not be treated differently.

Early resolution is key to a successful outcome. Most 
comments or concerns can be resolved satisfactorily by 
a speedy response from the staff on the spot. Therefore 
all staff should attempt to do this where necessary and 
acknowledging dissatisfaction as it is raised and offering an 
apology should be encouraged.

Complaints and compliments
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This can often provide patients and their families with the 
reassurance that action is or will be taken in relation to their 
concerns without them having to go through the formal 
complaints procedure.

Where the member of staff is unable to investigate or 
resolve concerns locally, the complaint should be referred to 
the PALS service to aid resolution or the Complaints team 
for formal investigation and response. The investigation 
process will be followed for all complaints and is not 
dependent on the severity of the complaint.

How we deal with complaints
When we receive a complaint, concern or comment we:

• Acknowledge it within three working days, either by 
phone or in writing; and 

• Write to the person making the complaint within 
25 working days (or longer if agreed), outlining the 
investigation we have carried out and giving our findings 
along with any action being taken. 

• In the latest CQC inspection, it was highlighted as 
a moderate concern regarding the time it takes to 
respond to complaints (‘monitoring the quality of service 
provision’). Investigations would be extended beyond 
the 25 days and plans will be implemented by the end 
of June to enable us to start to reduce the number of 
extensions. The metric is reported to the Executive Team 
and Trust Board for monitoring.

What we do if we get it wrong
• We will offer an apology.

• We will review the care we provided or the way we 
managed the incident and reflect on what happened 
in a way that helps us to learn from the experience.

• We will use the experience we have gained from the 
incident to improve our policies and practice.

• Where appropriate, we will create a specific care 
plan, with the involvement and agreement of the  
patient involved.

Type of complaints
The most common type of complaint received continues to 
be about the time taken for an ambulance to arrive after 
an emergency call or an ‘urgent’ transport booking by a 
healthcare professional. We have carried out a full A&E 
review and we will put this into practice in the coming 
financial year (2013/2014). The changes made are aimed 
at having a positive effect on the response times we 
achieve. An increase has been seen in complaints received 
following contact to the NHS111 service following the full 
introduction of the service across the whole of the Trust 
area. Complaints about staff attitude also continue to be 
a common theme and we will continue to address this 
though training and development of staff. 

Compliments
We receive compliments about both operational staff 
(for the care and treatment provided to patients) and call 
handlers in our Accident and Emergency Control and NHS 
111 Urgent Care Service. We pass on all compliments to the 
staff concerned.

We need to take account of the number of calls we actually 
receive – 1,110,700 and incidents we respond to – 371,951, 
for all services when assessing complaints and compliments 
received.

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Complaints 
received

289 410 444

Compliments 
received

271 337 389
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Of the 444 complaints received, we did not take 26 any 
further as we did not receive the appropriate level of 
agreement from the relevant patients, and we closed 
eighteen complaints by discussing the problem with our 
investigating officer and giving feedback to the person 
who complained. In addition we were not able to progress 
two complaints as further contact was required from the 
complainant which was not forthcoming.

In addition to the complaints registered directly with the 
Trust, we worked jointly with other NHS organisations and 
Social Care Services, providing a response to complaints 
that these organisations were acting as lead. There were 
a further 69 complaints were registered where the Trust 
were in part subject to the complaint. Of these, when 
contacted 2 of the complainants did not wish to pursue 
their complaint against the NEAS.

In total the Trust registered 513 complaints (either directly 
or made via another organisation) and at the time of 
writing this report, of the 513 complaints, 13 are still under 
investigation. 

Of the remaining 452 complaints that were investigated the 
outcomes were as follows. 

•  262 (58%) complaints were upheld (the reason for the 
complaint was found to be valid, and we were at fault).

•  51 (11%) complaints were part upheld (an element of 
the complaint, but not all aspects of the complaint, were 
found to be valid and we were partially at fault).

•  139(31%) complaints were not upheld (the reason for 
the complaint was found not to be our fault).

Other Performance Information
Although this report includes information specifically on the 
quality of services provided by NEAS, other performance 
information is available on our website at http://www.neas.
nhs.uk/about-us/board-papers/2014.aspx.  Each month we 
publish our Integrated Quality Performance Report as part 
of our Board papers.  This includes our response to non-life 
threatening emergencies (Green calls) and requests for GP 
urgent transfers as well as performance for the 111 service.
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Seven year old Lauren calmly dialled 999 for an ambulance 
after her diabetic mother blacked out at the wheel. Caroline 
Price, from Coundon, County Durham, was driving to the 
supermarket with her daughter in the back seat, when she 
suddenly felt herself slipping into unconsciousness. 

Mrs Price managed to bring her car to a halt safely,  
but passed out at the wheel. Lauren used her mother’s 
mobile phone to ring 999 for an ambulance. She not  
only answered all of the questions from ambulance 
controllers, but kept talking until an emergency vehicle 
arrived at the scene. 

Dave Brammer, the Rapid Response Paramedic who 
attended the incident and treated Mrs Price at the scene, 
presented Lauren with a framed commendation from 
the North East Ambulance Service. He said “Lauren was 
absolutely superb. She stayed calm and answered all the 
questions we needed to know about her mum.” 

Mrs Price, who has made a full recovery, said: “I’m very 
proud of her. She was sitting in the back when I started 
to feel unwell. “I managed to pull over before collapsing, 
but that’s all I can remember. Everything went black. 
When I came round the paramedic was there, and he had 
pumped me full of glucose. I don’t know what would have 
happened if Lauren wasn’t there. She’s only just turned 
seven, but we have always told her from a young age what 
to do in this sort of situation. Ring 999. She’s my little star”. 

Patient case studies

“Lauren was absolutely superb. 
She stayed calm and answered all 
the questions we needed to know 
about her mum.” 
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Mary Harris, from Easington Village, was training at her 
local gymnasium when she felt a sudden pain before 
collapsing on the treadmill.

Fortunately, off duty NEAS Paramedic Mark Syson was 
also doing a work-out at the same time. He spotted Mary 
crumpled on the treadmill – which was still running - and 
rushed over to administer CPR.

Having shouted for the receptionist to call an ambulance, 
Mark kept pumping Mary’s chest, eventually reviving her.

Mary had an operation to replace her aortic valve, and 
recovered at home. The surgeon who performed the 
operation described her as “the luckiest woman alive 
because of the quick and effective actions of that young 
man who saved your life”. 

Mary’s husband said “I know Mark is a trained professional 
and it could be argued that this is his day to day work, 
however, he had none of the specialist equipment available 
that he would have had in his daily duties and no other 
trained staff to assist him.

Patient case studies

“the luckiest woman alive 
because of the quick and 
effective actions of that young 
man who saved your life”. 
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Annex 1

In line with the quality report guidance, we have asked 
for comments on the draft quality report from our lead 
commissioning primary care trusts, the Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and regional OSC. These comments are set out below 
and we have not edited them in any way. 

Statement from our lead commissioner
Hartlepool and Stockton on Tees (HAST), Durham 
Dales, Easington, Sedgefield (DDES), Sunderland and 
Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Groups as the lead 
commissioners and South Tees, Darlington, North Durham, 
South Tyneside, Newcastle/Gateshead Alliance and North 
Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Groups

The CCGs welcome the opportunity to review and 
comment on the Quality Account for 2013/14 and would 
like to offer the following commentary.  

As commissioners, each of the twelve CCGs across 
the North East i.e. Hartlepool and Stockton on Tees, 
Durham Dales, Easington, Sedgefield, Sunderland and 
Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Groups as the lead 
commissioners and South Tees, Darlington, North Durham, 
South Tyneside, Newcastle Gateshead Alliance and North 
Tyneside Clinical Commissioning (CCGs) are committed to 
commissioning high quality services from NEAS and take 
seriously their responsibility to ensure that patients’ needs 
are met by the provision of safe, high quality services and 
that the views and expectations of patients and the public 
are listened to and acted upon.

Firstly, the CCGs would like to commend North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (NEAS) for 
the improvements that are demonstrated in the report, 
particularly the achievement of national performance 
targets. We acknowledge the work still to be done to 
improve performance at CCG level and we are committed 
to joint working on this agenda.

We also acknowledge the research and development 
section within the report, but feel that the Trust has not 
accurately represented the breadth of work undertaken in 
this area and the excellent developments that have been 
implemented as a result of participation in national research 
studies.

In terms of the workforce, the CCGs are concerned about 
the results of the staff survey and the reported low morale, 
but we acknowledge the work that the trust is undertaking 
in relation to workforce development with a number of 
new roles including support staff and the Consultant 
Paramedic role. We also feel that the increasing number 
of Enhanced CARe paramedics will reap benefits for our 
patients as fewer patients will need to be transferred to 
hospital care. We note too that the Trust has a successful 
staff awards programme which was well received by the 
staff.

The CCGs were made aware of the issues regarding DBS 
checks within the Trust and we have been updated with 
progress towards full checking of those staff who required 
further validation. Although it was disappointing to note 
the initial failure, we are satisfied that no patients were put 
at risk as a result of the issues raised.

Although the report mentions the CQUIN programme, 
it does not give full details of the work that has been 
undertaken by the Trust to improve quality. We also 
feel that readers would benefit from more details of the 
ambulance quality indicators where performance has been 
strong in most areas. 

Annex 1 
Feedback from our stakeholders
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The CCGs are pleased to note the efforts being made 
to discuss patient’s experience. The Trust has piloted the 
friends and family test before required nationally and the 
SMS feedback methodology will be interesting to explore.

In so far as we have been able to check the factual details, 
the CCG’s view is that the report is materially accurate. It 
is clearly presented in the format required by NHS England 
and the information it contains accurately represents the 
Trust’s quality profile.

Statement From Hartlepool Overview  
and Scrutiny Committee
The Audit and Governance Committee welcomed the 
opportunity to contribute to the North East Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust’s (NEAS) Quality Account.  
The Committee considered a presentation outlining the  
key issues for the Quality Account at their meeting on 
15 May 2014.

The Committee considered progress against the priorities 
for 2013/14 and also what NEAS are trying to achieve 
for 2014/15. Members raised significant concerns around 
ambulance delays in the Hartlepool area and stated that 
this was not acceptable. The Committee was concerned 
about extended wait times for non-life threatening 
emergency calls and urgent transfers (category ‘green’ 
calls) when ambulances were diverted to a ‘red’ category 
emergency. Members questioned what procedures had 
been put in place to reduce ambulance delays. NEAS 
confirmed that a number of measures had been put in 
place including a dedicated tier of ambulance to respond 
direct to non-life threatening emergency calls. Members 
would welcome feedback on these measures in next year’s 
Quality Account. 

The Chairman expressed concern that formally recorded 
evidence given by the Ambulance service to the Coroner 
had included clear indications that they “didn’t have the 
resources”, yet when under our scrutiny attention had been 
drawn to NEAS’s success in meeting the required standards. 
Members also questioned the numbers of ambulances in 
Hartlepool and whether the delays in ambulances arriving 
were due to a lack of ambulances or the triage service 
directing ambulances. It was confirmed that as a result 
of the Accident and Emergency Review, the ambulance 
resource in Hartlepool had increased, however it was noted 
that NEAS are a peripatetic service, therefore ambulances 
are moved around to maintain maximum coverage.

The Committee questioned the duty of ambulance staff 
to patients when being transported home from hospital 
following discharge. NEAS are not contractual obliged to 
ensure a patient is comfortable in their own home after 
being transported home, however, NEAS staff did do this 
and there are a number of examples where staff have gone 
beyond their duty of care to look after patients.

The findings of a recent Care Quality Commission 
Inspection highlighted that some ambulance staff had 
not had DBS checks. Members were informed that all 
DBS checks were now up to date for current staff and 
risk assessments had been carried out, where necessary. 
Members would welcome assurance that all DBS will 
continue to be kept up to date and that all new staff will 
receive DBS checks. 

Members acknowledged that NEAS is an extremely 
important service and welcomed the detail contained 
within the Quality Account; however, the Committee are 
concerned that NEAS do not have the correct amount 
of resources to meet demand. Therefore, the Committee 
would welcome ongoing discussions with NEAS to identify 
potential problems at an early stage.



Part 3

Annual Report 2013 - 2014  |  115

Annex 1

Statement From Newcastle Overview and  
Scrutiny Committee
As Chair of the Health Scrutiny Committee, I welcome the 
opportunity to comment on the draft Quality Account (QA) 
for 13/14. Members of the Committee discussed the draft 
at their meeting on 8 May 2014 and this statement includes 
a summary of their responses.

We noted that in a number of areas information was not 
available for review, including the majority of information 
on final data for 2013/14 and the CQUIN scheme 14/15. 
The Committee has not therefore been able to comment 
in detail on all aspects of the QA. We recommend that 
in future, where full information is not available for the 
draft documents the Trust reports on the data available 
for quarters 1 to 3, as an interim position until the full year 
information is available. 

We have seen the recent CQC inspection report, 
which highlights several areas of concern including the 
management of medicines, requirements relating to 
workers and supporting workers. We note that actions 
to address these concerns are included within the Quality 
Account priorities for 13/14.

In respect of performance against 12/13 priorities and 
priorities for the forthcoming year:

• We welcome a focus on priorities to reduce time  
wasted at hospitals, to reduce volume of emergency 
attendances and to reduce frequent users. We 
understand that the Trust is looking at what can be 
learned from hospitals where the turnaround times are 
low and we look forward to understanding the results 
of this work over the coming year via the Regional 
Health Scrutiny Committee.

We note the impact that high numbers of hospitals referrals 
by GPs can have on the service and the work that needs to 
take place across a range of organisations to ensure a joint 
approach to how best use the service. 

We welcome the database held by NEAS on other NHS 
services available, but would highlight the risks associated 
with keeping this up to date, which will require significant 
input across a range of partner organisations, although the 
benefits would be significant.

• We note that in relation to response times, the trust 
is achieving ‘red’ levels above target. But Committee 
continues to be concerned about waiting times, 
particularly for non-999 emergencies. We hope that 
action taken during the year to improve performance 
and turnaround times, will improve the position even 
further. 

• We are concerned about the ongoing need for the 
use of private ambulances to support the Trusts own 
resources. We note that contracts are in place covering 
the requirements of these services, including the 
minimum level of staff training, but hope that in the 
longer term, action being taken to reduce wasted time 
and the volume of calls will have a positive impact in 
this area.

Overall, we find the Quality Account to be a positive 
reflection on the successful operation of a large and 
complex organisation, dealing with a significant number of 
patients in an efficient and compassionate manner.

Statement From Durham Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee
The Committee welcomes North East Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality Account and 
the opportunity to provide comment on it. Whilst the 
Committee acknowledges the Trust’s desire to co-ordinate 
engagement of local authorities’ responses to their Quality 
Account via the Regional Joint Health Scrutiny Committee, 
it wishes to place on record its own views regarding issues 
directly impacting upon County Durham.
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The Committee are mindful of their statutory health 
scrutiny role and the need to demonstrate a robust 
mechanism for providing assurance to the residents of 
County Durham that health service provision is efficient 
and effective. The quality account process provides the 
Committee with one such mechanism.

The Committee has engaged with the Trust on a number 
of issues during the course of 2013/14 including the Trust’s 
ambitions for emergency care, emergency ambulance 
performance across County Durham and in particular 
Durham Dales and performance in respect of the delivery 
of the NHS 111 service. Continued engagement on trust 
activity is welcomed.

The Committee supports the response to NEAS Quality 
Accounts submitted by the Regional Joint Health Scrutiny 
Committee and particularly welcomes the suggestion that 
response times for non-urgent calls and the results of  
staff and patient surveys to be incorporated into the  
Quality Account.

In respect of County Durham, the Committee remain 
concerned that, despite the Trust wide performance in 
respect of red incidents responded to within 8 minutes 
being above target (78.88% against 75%), performance 
in respect of such incidents for County Durham falls below 
the national target.

The Committee notes the proposed work to be undertaken 
in addressing hospital turnaround delays/ ambulance 
queuing at Accident and Emergency Departments and 
would support all steps taken in conjunction with relevant 
hospital trusts to reduce the delays experienced by 
some patients being treated at Accident and Emergency 
Departments. The Committee would particularly emphasise 
the importance of this work as a key factor in improving 
red incidents response times.

The Committee has also noted the results of the recent 
Care Quality Commission inspection of the Trust which 
highlighted that 4 of the 6 national standards had not been 
met. The Committee would welcome assurances from the 
Trust regarding the work proposed to address these issues.

Notwithstanding this, the Committee agree that from the 
information received from the Trust, the identified priorities 
for 2014/15 are a fair reflection of healthcare services 
provided by the Trust and note the progress made against 
the 2013/14 priorities. However, the Committee would also 
seek clarification and assurances from the Trust that the 
identified priorities are linked to the declared priorities of 
Clinical Commissioning groups. 

Finally, the Committee has also reflected upon the 
implications of the Francis report arising from the Mid-
Staffordshire enquiry for local authority health scrutiny 
and, in doing so, would request more regular access 
to performance overview information. To this end, the 
Committee request a six monthly progress report on 
delivery of 2014/15 priorities and performance targets.

Statement From North East Regional 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Thank you for presenting this year’s Account for NEAS for 
2013/14 to our Regional Health Scrutiny Committee on 17 
April. We wish to make the following comments.

We appreciate the efforts being made to develop shift 
patterns and skill mix to ensure that the service can be 
flexible enough to meet growing demand in an efficient 
and effective manner. Moreover, we believe that it will 
provide more choice for some employees for whom 12 
shifts can prove problematic to home life.

Annex 1
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We acknowledge the growing pressures on the system to 
meet targets for “red light” cases. However, we do remain 
concerned about the knock on effect of extended waits for 
non-life threatening emergency calls and urgent transfers 
where vehicles are diverted to “red light” emergencies. 
We would hope that you continue to work on flexible and 
innovative ways to meet demand across the range of need 
that presents itself to the service.

As regards, response times for non-life-threatening calls, 
we would like to see these included within the Quality 
Report even if there is no requirement to do so as it is still 
an important part of the service.

You will have noted that one councillor suggested that 
the provision for booking an appointment with a GP 
through the 111 service would be one way of alleviating 
unnecessary attendances to Accident and Emergency 
Departments. Mark Cotton suggested that this may happen 
in some areas and is something that we would recommend 
that you consider. 

Whilst we understand that there is no obligation to 
include patient/staff survey results in this year’s annual 
report, we remain concerned about staff morale and 
monitoring patient experience. We think that this should 
be a fundamental part of your Quality Report which is the 
case for some other NHS Foundation Trusts, who give more 
detail. We would welcome some further discussions around 
this area via the Regional Health OSC.

We agree with the priorities chosen for 2014/15. In 
particular, we support priorities 1 and 2 which aim to 
reduce the numbers of people conveyed to A&E and 
increase the turnover times when people do need to 
be taken there. This is an area of concern that has been 
subject to scrutiny in several LAs in the Region and we 
would welcome some debate as to how we can bring 
performance in all hospitals up to those who perform 
best in this area

Finally, we realise that the CQC inspection report was not 
made public until after our meeting on 17 April. However, it 
would be remiss of us not to comment on the issues that it 
raises in the context of a Quality Report.

As you are aware, the concerns raised were in four 
areas: - recruitment procedures, medicines management, 
supporting workers and monitoring service quality.

Whilst we understand that all DBS checks are now up to 
date for existing staff, we would seek some assurance that 
ongoing procedures have been put in place for new staff.

As regards supporting workers, we acknowledge that 
you did mention several areas that you were looking at to 
support staff. Further detail would be very helpful. 

We note that the CQC picked up on the time taken to 
respond to complaints; this has been an issue highlighted 
by some Members of our Committee. We would welcome 
some information about how you are planning to reduce 
this response time.

For the other areas mentioned in the report, we look 
forward to an update on measures being taken to rectify 
the problems that have been identified.

Annex 1
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Statement from Newcastle Healthwatch
Healthwatch Newcastle was pleased to read North East 
Ambulance Service (NEAS) NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality 
Account 2013/2014 and to learn more about some of its 
successes this year. We were particularly pleased to see that 
the Trust has achieved its targets with regards to ambulance 
response times. The Trust is above the England average and 
is the second best Trust regarding Category A Red 8 minute 
response times and the fifth best Trust regarding Category 
A Red 19 minute response times.

We are pleased to see that there has been good 
progression in gathering and measuring patient experience 
since 2011/2012. The Trust has embedded quite a lot of 
mechanisms to gather patient experience over the years, 
from implementing telephone and postal surveys through 
to developing web based questionnaires accessible via QR 
codes. We are pleased that work will continue to ensure 
that the survey tools are rolled out across the North East 
by March 2015.

We are also pleased to see that some of the Quality 
Priorities for 2013/2014 will be carried over to 2014/2015. 
The Trust has chosen to continue to focus on:

•  Improving the average hospital turnaround time at target 
hospitals

• Increasing the use of other services as an alternative to 
the Emergency Department

Both of these are national system wide priorities but 
are especially important for NEAS considering the Care 
Quality Commission’s recent inspection of NEAS services. 
The inspection report highlighted that there have been 
improvements in the time it takes to handover patients 
to hospital staff but it also highlighted that, at one point, 
there were eight ambulances waiting to hand over patients 
to a hospital Emergency department.

There are some Quality Priorities from 2013/2014 that we 
would like to see continued focus and improvements on 
even if they are not Quality Priorities for 2014/2015. We 
hope the Trust continues to put resources into these areas:

• Improving the management of patient transport 
requirements

• Implementing the appointment based Patient Transport 
Service across the North East

• Implementing the electronic system to be used to 
manage Individual Treatment Plans

In terms of the Quality Priorities selected for 2014/2015, 
we are pleased that some of these priorities relate to staff 
welfare and safety checks for staff, vehicles, buildings and 
equipment. The need for improvements in these areas 
was highlighted in the recent Care Quality Commission 
inspection report. It is pleasing to see these findings 
reflected in the Quality Priorities for 2014/2015.

We wish the Trust success in 2014/2015 and look forward 
to receiving updates about their progress.

Annex 1
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The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and 
the National Health Service Quality Accounts Regulations to 
prepare quality accounts for each financial year. 

Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust 
boards on the form and content of annual quality reports 
(which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on 
the arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards should 
put in place to support data quality for the preparation of 
the quality report. 

In preparing the quality report, directors are required to 
take steps to satisfy themselves that: 

• the content of the quality report meets the requirements 
set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2013/14; 

• the content of the quality report is not inconsistent with 
internal and external sources of information including: 

 - board minutes and papers for the period April 2013 to 
May 2014 

 - papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over 
the period April 2013 to May 2014 

 - feedback from commissioners dated 21/05/2014

 - feedback from governors dated 15/05/2014

 - feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated 
15/05/2014

 - the trust’s complaints report published under 
regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services 
and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009 as part of the 
draft Annual Report dated 27/05/2014 

 - the latest national staff survey dated 27/01/2014

 - the head of internal audit’s annual opinion over the 
trust’s control environment dated 23/05/2014

 - CQC quality and risk profiles dated April 2013 
to April 2014

• the quality report presents a balanced picture of the NHS 
foundation trust’s performance over the period covered; 

• the performance information in the quality report is 
reliable and accurate; 

• there are proper internal controls over the collection 
and reporting of the measures of performance included 
in the quality report, and these controls are subject to 
review to confirm that they are working effectively in 
practice; 

• the data underpinning the measures of performance 
in the quality report is robust and reliable, conforms 
to specified data quality standards and prescribed 
definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; 
and 

• the quality report has been prepared in accordance with 
Monitor’s annual reporting guidance (which incorporates 
the Quality Accounts Regulations) as well as the 
standards to support data quality for the preparation of 
the quality report. 

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and 
belief they have complied with the above requirements in 
preparing the quality report. 

By order of the Board 
Sign and date in any colour ink except black.

Ashley Winter, Chairman   29 May 2014                                              

Simon Featherstone, Chief Executive  29 May 2014                                              

Annex 2 - Statement of directors 
responsibilities for the Quality Report

Annex 2
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Independent Auditors’ Limited Assurance Report to the 
Council of Governors of North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust on the Annual Quality Report 
We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of 
North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust to 
perform an independent assurance engagement in respect 
of North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust’s 
Quality Report for the year ended 31 March 2014 (the 
“Quality Report”) and specified performance indicators 
contained therein.

Scope and subject matter  
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2014 in the 
Quality Report that have been subject to limited assurance  
(the “specified indicators”) consist of the following national 
priority indicators as mandated by Monitor: 

Specified Indicators
Specified indicators criteria  

(exact page number where 
criteria can be found)

Category A calls: 
emergency response 
within 8 minutes

Page 60,61 and 91

Category A calls: 
ambulance vehicle 
arrives within 19 minutes

Page 60, 61 and 91

Respective responsibilities of the Directors 
and auditors
The Directors are responsible for the content and the 
preparation of the Quality Report in accordance with the 
specified indicators criteria referred to on pages of the 
Quality Report as listed above (the “criteria”).  The Directors 
are also responsible for the conformity of their criteria 
with the assessment criteria set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual (“FT ARM”) and the 
“Detailed requirements for quality reports 2013/14” issued 

by the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts 
(“Monitor”). 

Our responsbility is to form a conclusion, based on limited 
assurance procedures, on whether anything has come to 
our attention that causes us to believe that:

•    the Quality Report does not incorporate the matters 
required to be reported on as specified in Annex 2 to 
Chapter 7 of the FT ARM and the “Detailed requirements 
for quality reports 2013/14”;

•   the Quality Report is not consistent in all material 
respects with the sources specified below; and

•   the specified indicators have not been prepared in all 
material respects in accordance with the criteria and the 
six dimensions of data quality set out in the “2013/14 
Detailed guidance for external assurance on quality 
reports”.

We read the Quality Report and consider whether it 
addresses the content requirements of the FT ARM, and 
consider the implications for our report if we become 
aware of any material omissions. 

We read the other information contained in the Quality 
Report and consider whether it is materially inconsistent 
with the following documents:  

•  Board minutes for the period April 2013 to April 2014; 

•   papers relating to quality reported to the Board over the 
period April 2013 to April 2014; 

•   feedback from the Commissioners (Hartlepool and 
Stockton on Tees; Durham Dales, Easington and, 
Sedgefield; Sunderland; and Northumberland Clinical 
Commissioning Groups as the lead commissioners, and 
South Tees; Darlington; North Durham; South Tyneside; 
Newcastle/Gateshead Alliance; and North Tyneside 
Clinical Commissioning Groups) received 19 May 2014; 

Annex 3 - Auditors limited 
assurance report
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•   feedback from Governors dated 30 April 2014;

•   feedback from Healthwatch Newcastle dated 15 May 
2014; 

•   the Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 
18 of the Local Authority Social Services and NHS 
Complaints Regulations 2009, published within the 
Annual Report presented to the Audit Committee on 23 
May 2014; 

•   feedback from other stakeholders involved in the sign-off 
of the Quality Report:

    •   Hartlepool Borough Council Audit and Governance 
Committee feedback, received 16 May 2014;

    •   Durham County Council Adult Wellbeing and Health 
OSC feedback, received 15 May 2014; 

    •   Newcastle City Council Health Scrutiny Committee 
feedback, dated 14 May 2014; and 

    •   North East Region Health OSC feedback, dated 27 
May 2014;

•   the 2013 national patient survey dated 24 March 2014; 

•  the 2013 national staff survey; 

•   Care Quality Commission quality and risk profiles 
dated April 2013, June 2013, July 2013, August 2013, 
November 2013, December 2013, February 2014 and 
March 2014; 

•   the draft Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over 
the Trust’s control environment presented to the Audit 
Committee on 23 May 2014; and 

•   Care Quality Commission inspection report dated 26 
April 2014.

We consider the implications for our report if we become 
aware of any apparent misstatements or material 

inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the 
“documents”). Our responsibilities do not extend to any 
other information. 

We are in compliance with the applicable independence 
and competency requirements of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales (“ICAEW”) Code of 
Ethics. Our team comprised assurance practitioners and 
relevant subject matter experts. 

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared 
solely for the Council of Governors of North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to 
assist the Council of Governors in reporting  North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, 
performance and activities. We permit the disclosure of 
this report within the Annual Report for the year ended 
31 March 2014, to enable the Council of Governors to 
demonstrate they have discharged their governance 
responsibilities by commissioning an independent 
assurance report in connection with the indicators. To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of 
Governors as a body and North East Ambulance Service 
NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this report save 
where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior 
consent in writing. 
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Assurance work performed 

We conducted this limited assurance engagement in 
accordance with International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 ‘Assurance Engagements other than 
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’ issued 
by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited assurance procedures 
included: 

•   reviewing the content of the Quality Report against the 
requirements of the FT ARM and “Detailed requirements 
for quality reports 2013/14”;

•   reviewing the Quality Report  for consistency against the 
documents specified above; 

•   obtaining an understanding of the design and operation 
of the controls in place in relation to the collation 
and reporting of the specified indicators, including 
controls over third party information (if applicable) and 
performing walkthroughs to confirm our understanding;

•   based on our understanding, assessing the risks that 
the performance against the specified indicators may be 
materially misstated and determining the nature, timing 
and extent of further procedures; 

•   making enquiries of relevant management, personnel 
and, where relevant, third parties;

•   considering significant judgements made by the 
NHS Foundation Trust in preparation of the specified 
indicators; 

•   performing limited testing, on a selective basis of 
evidence supporting the reported performance 
indicators, and assessing the related disclosures; and

•  reading documents.

A limited assurance engagement is less in scope than a 
reasonable assurance engagement. The nature, timing and 
extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate 
evidence are deliberately limited relative to a reasonable 
assurance engagement. 

Limitations 
Non-financial performance information is subject to more 
inherent limitations than financial information, given the 
characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used 
for determining such information. 

The absence of a significant body of established practice 
on which to draw allows for the selection of different 
but acceptable measurement techniques which can result 
in materially different measurements and can impact 
comparability. The precision of different measurement 
techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the nature and 
methods used to determine such information, as well as 
the measurement criteria and the precision thereof, may 
change over time. It is important to read the Quality Report 
in the context of the assessment criteria set out in the FT 
ARM and the Criteria referred to above. 

The nature, form and content required of Quality Reports 
are determined by Monitor. This may result in the omission 
of information relevant to other users, for example for the 
purpose of comparing the results of different organisations. 

In addition, the scope of our assurance work has not 
included governance over quality or non-mandated 
indicators in the Quality Report, which have been 
determined locally by North East Ambulance NHS 
Foundation Trust.
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Conclusion 
Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come 
to our attention that causes us to believe that for the year 
ended 31 March 2014:

•   the Quality Report does not incorporate the matters 
required to be reported on as specified in Annex 
2 to Chapter 7  of the FT ARM and the “Detailed 
requirements for quality reports 2013/14”;

•   the Quality Report is not consistent in all material 
respects with the documents specified above; and

•   the specified indicators have not been prepared in all 
material respects in accordance with the Criteria and the 
six dimensions of data quality set out in the “2013/14 
Detailed guidance for external assurance on quality 
reports”. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Chartered Accountants 
Newcastle upon Tyne  
29 May 2014

The maintenance and integrity of North East Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust’s website is the responsibility 
of the directors; the work carried out by the assurance 
providers does not involve consideration of these matters 
and, accordingly, the assurance providers accept no 
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to 
the reported performance indicators or criteria since they 
were initially presented on the website.
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Contact Details

If you would like a copy of this report in another format 
such as in Braille, on audio tape, in large print, in another 
language or any other format, please contact the following.

Email:  
susan.coldron@neas.nhs.uk

Address: 
North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
Ambulance Headquarters 
Bernicia House 
Goldcrest Way 
Newburn Riverside 
Newcastle Upon Tyne 
NE15 8NY

We welcome feedback on this report. You can provide your 
comments and suggestions in writing.

Email:  
nicola.thackray@neas.nhs.uk

Address:

Nicola Thackray 
North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
Ambulance Headquarters 
Bernicia House 
Goldcrest Way 
Newburn Riverside 
Newcastle upon Tyne 
NE15 8NY

Or, visit the NHS Choices website to leave 
feedback at:

http://www.nhs.uk/Services/Trusts/Overview/DefaultView.
aspx?id=29237

Contact Details
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NEAS National Staff Survey

Every year a sample of our staff are given the opportunity 
to participate in an anonymous survey, as part of the NHS 
national staff survey. The top five ranking scores and lowest 
five ranking scores are shown below, with their comparison 
for the previous year:

NEAS National staff survey 
2012/13 National Staff Survey (most recent survey)

Top Scores

Question NEAS Score 2012 NEAS Score 2013 National Ave 
Ambulance Trusts 

2013

All NHS 
Organisation 

Scores  
2013

Percentage of staff receiving 
health and safety training in 
last 12 months

      89% 87% 52% 74%

Percentage of staff having 
equality and diversity training 
in last 12 months

84% 81% 55% 61%

Percentage of staff receiving 
job related training, learning or 
development in last 12 months

75% 75%% 71% 71%

Work pressure felt by staff 3.13 3.17 3.22 3.04

Percentage of staff feeling 
satisfied with the quality of 
work and patient care they are 
able to deliver

75% 78 % 75% 77%

When comparing our 2013 results to 2012 results the 
positive trends can be reported in relation to: 

• Consistent high scores in staff completing equality and 
diversity training. 

• Consistent high scores in staff receiving health and safety 
training 

• Consistent high scores in staff receiving job related 
training learning or development

• Improving score for staff feeling satisfied with the quality 
of work and patient care they deliver
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Top Scores

Question NEAS Score 2012 NEAS Score 
2013

National Ave 
Ambulance Trusts 

2013

All NHS Organisation 
Scores 2013

Percentage of staff 
experiencing physical violence 
from patients, relatives or the 
public in last 12 months

38% 45 % 33% 15%

Percentage of staff 
experiencing harassment, 
bullying from patients or 
public in the last 12 months

50% 54% 48% 28%

Percentage of staff witnessing 
potential harmful errors, near 
misses or incidents in the last 
12 months

41% 75% 71% 71%

Percentage of staff believing 
the Trust provides equal 
opportunities for career 
progression or promotion

56% 55% 70% 88%

Support from immediate 
manager

3.01 3.01% 3.16 3.69

Scores have deteriorated in relation to:

•  An increase in staff experiencing physical violence from 
patients or the public 

•  An increase in staff experiencing harassment, bullying 
from patients or the public

•  Percentage of staff witnessing potential harmful errors 
near misses or incidents in the last 12 months

•  Percentage of staff believing the Trust provides equal 
opportunities for career progression or promotion

•  Percentage of staff suffering work-related stress & 
pressure to attend work when feeling unwell

•  Support from immediate manager

Please note the response rate within NEAS to the 
Staff Survey was 44% in comparison with a national 
response rate of 49%.

We take the results of our staff survey very seriously, and 
we are committed to listening to our staff and responding 
to their concerns. The full results of the survey can be found 
at http://www.nhsstaffsurveys.com/cms/. Every year after 
the survey has been conducted we put plans in place to 
address the areas of most concern. During the last year the 
actions we have taken as a result of staff surveys included:

•  There has been progress in the number of staff receiving 
appraisals, although staff still report that they are not 
necessarily well structured appraisals. 

•  More work is needed in relation to fair career 
progression and the support given by immediate 
managers. 
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Our priorities for the year ahead are based around our 
lowest scoring areas within the survey, and establishing 
where we can make meaningful improvements to our 
practices. An action plan is currently being developed and 
integrated with our Organisational Development Plan. 

The areas identified to focus on are:

• Reducing the incidence of violence, harassment and 
bullying from patients and carers towards staff

•  Staff suffering work related stress

• Support from immediate line management

• Flexible working

• Maintaining BIG (anti bullying) campaign and Treat 
us Right at work

NEAS National Staff Survey
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Regulatory Ratings

Monitor assesses foundation trust compliance with two 
specific conditions in their provider licences; finance and 
governance. These are detailed in the Risk Assessment 
Framework (RAF) which replaced the former Compliance 
Framework from 1 October 2013. 
The aim of the assessment is to identify:

• a significant risk to the financial sustainability of a provider of key NHS services which 
endangers the continuity of those services; and/or

• poor governance at an NHS foundation trust.

The following table shows the ratings for the period of this report and the previous year.

Regulatory Ratings

Annual Plan 
13/14

Q1  
2013/14

Q2 
2013/14

Q3 
2013/14

Q4  
2013/14

Under the compliance framework

FRR 4 4 4

Governance Risk Rating Green Green Green

Under the Risk Assessment Framework

Continuity of Services 
Rating

4 4

Governance Rating Green Green

Under the compliance framework

FRR 4 4 4 4 4

Governance Risk Rating Green Green Green Green/Amber Amber

*pending outcome of further information following CQC’s issue of warning notice
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Financial risk ratings/ Continuity of services risk 
ratings are calculated using key financial metrics. A rating 
of 4 reflects the lowest level of financial risk and a rating of 
1 the greatest risk.

When assessing financial risk under the RAF, Monitor 
assigns quarterly and annual risk ratings using a system 
which considers two measures of financial robustness; 
liquidity and capital servicing capacity, which is a 
change from the four criteria under the Compliance 
Framework;achievement of plan, underlying performance, 
financial efficiency and liquidity.

Governance risk ratings are also determined for each 
provider by Monitor. They use the term ‘governance’ to 
describe the effectiveness of an NHS Foundation Trust’s 
leadership. It uses performance measures such as whether 
trusts are meeting national targets and standards as 
an indication of this, together with a range of other 
governance measures such as CQC judgements on the 
quality of care provided, and information from third 
parties. A governance rating of green indicates a trust is 
meeting the standard of performance required. Where a 
potential material cause for concern is raised, the rating 
will be replaced with a description of the issue and steps to 
mitigate. Where regulatory action is required by Monitor,  
it will assign a red rating.

The change in regulatory regime from the Compliance 
Framework to the Risk Assessment Framework has not 
affected our risk ratings. Although different methods 
are used to calculate the ratings. We have continued 
to maintain a Continuity of Services Rating of 4 and a 
Governance Rating of Green as at Quarter 3 2013/14.

In the year prior we received an amber-green rating for 
Quarter 3 and Amber rating for Quarter 4. These were both 
due to the inclement weather and slight underperformance 
of our key targets. Quarter 3 was forecast, Quarter 4 was 
not as the prolonged severe weather was not predicted. 

At the time of writing we do not know the outcome for 
Quarter 4 for 2013/14 and are awaiting feedback from 
Monitor as they consider their position following the 
findings of the CQC inspection and the consequence of the 
enforcement action.

NEAS National Staff Survey
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Other disclosures 
in the public interest

Other disclosures in the public interest 
Provision of Information and Consultation with 
Employees

We find it very important to consult with our staff and 
provide them with as much information about the 
organisation as possible.

Over the last year our staff have been involved in a number 
of consultations and conversations about Treat us Right, 
staff diversity, equality and diversity, payroll services, various 
topics utilising Crowdsourcing media, key messages to 
report to the Trust Board and many others.  

Each quarter Board members undertake a Quality Walk-
around, meeting with staff throughout the Trust where key 
messages are delivered and key concerns or comments are 
obtained from staff. 

Staff were invited to comment on the Trust’s Quality 
Priorities as part of the planning process for setting the 
priorities for the year ahead. 

There have been a number of stakeholder events, 
roadshows and focus groups held in relation to specific 
aspects of our business including the PTS strategy and 
auto-planning and more recently the Team Leader review. 

Staff are consulted on new business opportunities where 
relevant. It is however recognised that engagement and 
involvement could be improved but it is not always possible 
to release operational staff from front-line duties. 

Information is posted on our Intranet and there are now 
familiar and regular communications such as the Pulse 
where topics, such as the Cost Improvement Programme, 
are covered.

Equality in the North East Ambulance Service

We are one of a very few number of Trusts that has fully 
adopted the Equality Delivery System (EDS) which is a 
framework that we use to help us review and assess our 
equality performance and ensure there are better health 
outcomes for patients and communities, better working 
environments for staff, as well as robust legal compliance. 

At the heart of the EDS there are four goals to consider and 
we measure and grade our performance by consulting with 
patients, staff and communities. The four goals are:

1   Better health 
outcomes for all

2   Improved patient 
access and experience

3   Empowered, engaged 
and included staff

4   Inclusive 
leadership

NEAS National Staff Survey
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We have set ourselves three equality objectives.

1. Patients report a positive experience where their 
needs are understood, respected and adjustments are 
made to ensure there are no barriers to service and 
they receive the right care. 

2. The Trust will promote an inclusive working culture 
that works to eradicate harassment, bullying and 
violence and improves working lives and staff 
wellbeing.

3. The Trust will improve engagement levels by 
demonstrating a fair and inclusive employment 
opportunities, career progression and development 
for all staff.

Externally we work with other groups to ensure our 
practices remain fair and inclusive including 

Stonewall – an equality charity who campaign to make 
changes in legislation to promote fairness and equality for 
the LGBT community. We are currently positioned 26th out 
of forty four participants in the healthcare equality index. 

Jobcentre Plus – for our work in equality in employment, 
retention, training and career development of disabled 
employees. We were awarded the Two-Tick symbol in 
recognition of our commitment to disability equality. 

We continue to provide a range of services to support all 
of our employees. We have up to date policies detailing all 
of the latest legislative requirement. We actively promote 
Dignity at Work and offer workplace mediation. 

Health, safety and well-being 

We are committed to improving the health, safety and 
wellbeing of our staff across all sites within our Trust. We 
have continued to monitor and establish trends in health 
and safety adverse events. The top three incident types are 
consistently ‘violence and aggression’, ‘manual handling’, 
and ‘slips, trips, and falls’. 

Last year we actively tackled all areas of concern. Some 
examples of our work to tackle violence against our staff 
included:

•  Pro-security media activities

•  Development of a new Conflict Resolution Training 
programme

•  We now issue warning letters to patients, escorts other 
members of the public.

• The following are the key initiatives planned throughout 
2013 to seek to support improved staff health and 
wellbeing:

• A rapid access physiotherapy service was procured and 
commenced on 1 November 2013

• A programme of fitness testing for operational staff 
commenced. 

• Absence Management Training was rolled out to all 
managers to ensure that they support staff absent 
due to ill health appropriately and signpost them to 
appropriate support frameworks

• A single point of contact service for staff unable to 
attend work was procured to commence on 1 April 
2014. This  will include an assessment of staff symptoms 
toenable early intervention and support to reduce their 
length of absence

Summary of our Serious Incidents and Never Events

A Serious Incident (SI) is an incident that results in a range 
of outcomes such as unexpected or avoidable death, 
serious harm, permanent harm or abuse. 

During the period 1 April 2013 to March 31 2014 the Trust 
registered 27 SIs:

•  Incorrect/Incomplete triage – 20 cases

•  Potential breach of patient confidentiality – 1  

•  Concerns regarding care and treatment – 3

•  Failure to follow procedures – 1

•  Fatal Road Traffic Collision – 1

•  Allegation against an HCPC registered staff member - 1



Part 3

Annual Report 2013 - 2014  |  133

We fully investigate all SIs in line with the SI Framework 
produced by NHS England, which is takes into account 
the national Framework produced by the National Patient 
Safety Association (NPS).In all cases involving patients 
we apply a standard practice which is to appoint a Family 
Liaison Officer upholding our ‘being open’ principles.

One of these SIs was logged as a potential loss of data or 
confidentiality breach. This was as a result of a message 
to be passed to a GP involving a patient following a call to 
NHS 111, being sent to the wrong fax/telephone number. 
Following a thorough investigation there was no evidence 
that this as a recurring problem and there was no adverse 
impact for the patient involved.  

The Trust is required to report Never Events, such as ‘wrong 
route administration of oral/enteral treatment’. In 2013/14 
no Never Events were reported.

Countering fraud and corruption 

We are committed to taking all necessary steps to counter 
fraud and corruption and we have adopted the seven-stage 
approach developed by NHS Protect. Our primary aim is 
to create an anti-fraud culture. Central to this is our Local 
Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) who promotes our Counter 
Fraud and Corruption Policy and Raising Concerns at Work 
Policy during staff induction and throughout the year.  

Staff are able to report suspicions of fraud directly to the 
LCFS, Director of Finance and Resources or to the Fraud and 
Corruption Reporting Line

Occupational Health: maintaining a health workforce 

The Occupational Health department provides a 
comprehensive approach to maintaining the health and 
wellbeing of the workforce. This was validated by the 
attainment of national Safe Effective Quality Occupational 
Health Service (SEQOHS) accreditation on 6 March 2013.

During 2013, the Occupational Health department had 
over 5,000 attendances for pre-employment screening, 
health surveillance, immunisations and sickness absence. 
The department commenced voluntary Driver’s medicals 
in September 2013 which offers our operational staff the 
opportunity to have vision and audiological screening 
together with blood pressure recording whilst they attend 
their Essential Annual Training.

Occupational Health Department Attendances

2009/ 
2010

2010/ 
2011

Jan-
Dec  
2012

Jan-
Dec  
2013

Number of 
people seen 
within the 
Occupational 
Health 
department

3,803 2,548 5,763 5,308

Public and patient engagement 

We have engaged with HealthWatch groups across the 
region regularly. Local HealthWatch groups monitor, 
analyse, investigate and challenge providers of health 
services. There are 12 HealthWatch groups within the North 
East Ambulance Service area, one for each local authority in 
our service area. They have been consulted on our Quality 
Report and raised questions about ambulance response 
times.

This is an area of more than 3,200 square miles and 
we have sought to bring the local HealthWatch groups 
together through an ambulance forum to discuss issues 
which are common to everyone in the North East. 

The forum meets once every two months and have 
considered the NEAS Quality Account, looked at complaints 
and PALS (Patient Advice and Liaison Service) reports, 
raised questions on hospital discharge and been involved in 
establishing priorities for clinical auditIn addition to working 
with the HealthWatch, we have continued to meet with 
groups and representatives of some of the most rural areas 
within the Trust in Northumberland and County Durham. 

In partnership with the Clinical Commissioning Groups 
for both areas, we have held regular community meetings 
to oversee the implementation of our services. We also 
continue to maintain good working relationships with 
the local authority Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
(OSC) that cover the NEAS area and hold all NHS Trusts to 
account for the services provided. We are grateful for the 
time and effort that all these organisations have taken to 
listen to and feedback comments on the work and services 
of NEAS.
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Annual Accounts 2013-2014

Annual Accounts 
2013-2014

Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities as the 
accounting officer of North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust
The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the 
Accounting Officer of the NHS foundation trust. The 
relevant responsibilities of the Accounting Officer, including 
their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public 
finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping 
of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by Monitor.

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for 
each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and 
on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts 
are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of North East Ambulance 
Service NHS F oundation Trust and of its income and 
expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash 
flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is 
required to comply with the requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in 
particular to:

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, 
including the relevant accounting and disclosure 
requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a 
consistent basis;

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

• state whether applicable accounting standards as set 
out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain 
any material departures in the financial statements;

• ensure that the use of public funds com plies with the 
relevant legislation, delegated authorities and guidance; 
and

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern 
basis.

The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the NHS foundation 
trust and to enable him/her to ensure that the accounts 
comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned 
Act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the NHS f oundation trust and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly 
discharged the responsibilities set out in Monitors NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Simon Featherstone 
Chief Executive 
29th May 2014
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Annual Governance Statement 
2013-2014

Scope Of Responsibility

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining 
a sound system of internal control that supports the 
achievement of the NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and 
departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, 
in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I 
am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation 
Trust is administered prudently and economically and that 
resources are applied efficiently and effectively.  I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

The Purpose Of The System Of Internal Control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to 
a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure 
to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore, 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness.  The system of internal control is based on 
an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives 
of North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust, 
to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and 
the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically.  The system of 
internal control has been in place in North East Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 
2014, and up to the date of approval of the annual report 
and accounts.  

Capacity To Handle Risk

The authority to develop and oversee the Trust’s strategic 
Risk Management arrangements is delegated to the 
Director of Clinical Care and Quality.  The Governance 
and Risk Committee and Quality Committee consider 
non clinical and clinical risks on behalf of the Board.  The 
Directors of the Trust have the responsibility for leadership 
in Risk Management for their Directorates.  Trust managers 
are responsible for the management of day-to-day risks 
of all types within their management structure and 
budget allocation.  They are charged with ensuring that 
risk assessments are undertaken throughout their area of 
responsibility on a pro-active basis and that remedial action 
is carried out where problems are identified. 

The Risk management Strategy promotes the philosophy 
of integrated governance and requires all risk management 
to be systematic, robust and evident.  The strategy requires 
that risk management processes are applied to business 
planning at all levels and that risk management issues 
should be communicated to key stakeholders where 
necessary.  The strategy covers clinical, organisational and 
financial risks and identifies the key management structures 
and processes defining responsibilities within the Trust.  The 
Trust has therefore embraced Enterprise Risk Management 
(ERM) which is a process effected by an organisation’s 
Board of Directors, management and other personnel, 
applied in strategy setting and across the organisation to 
identify potential events that may affect the organisation 
and to manage risks to be within its risk appetite.  This 
provides the organisation with reasonable assurance in the 
achievement of organisational objectives.

It is the policy of the Trust to provide and maintain, so 
far as is reasonably practicable, all plant, systems of work 
(including safe use, handling, storage and transport of 
substances and articles), places of work and working 
conditions, such that they are safe and with minimal risks 
to employees, as well as to non-employees, and to provide 
such information, instruction and training as is necessary for 
this purpose.  

All accidents, incidents and near-misses are recorded and 
investigated by the Trust.  Those of a serious nature are 
considered by a Root Cause Analysis panel, the outcomes 
of which form future training plans and policies and wider 
learning for the Trust. 

Risk Management is incorporated in the Trust’s Induction 
and Essential Annual Training Programmes.  The Risk 
Management Strategy, policies and procedures and 
responsibilities are also set out in the Risk Management File, 
held on the IT network for future and on-going reference.  
General risk awareness/health and safety training is also 
provided to all staff on an annual basis according to their 
level of need/responsibility. 

The Trust has representation on the National Ambulance 
Risk & Safety Forum and various other national and regional 
groups which promote active benchmarking and learning 
from good practice.
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The Risk And Control Framework

The arrangements in place to manage the organisation’s 
risk include the Trust’s Board Assurance Framework.  The 
Board Assurance Framework identifies the strategic aims 
and objectives of the Trust and its Directors, the principal 
risks which may impact on the delivery of the objectives 
and the key controls to manage these risks.  Action plans 
to address any gaps in controls have been produced.  A 
Governance and Risk Committee has been established.  
Part of the remit of this Committee, which is accountable to 
the Audit Committee and Board, is to oversee and monitor 
the implementation of the CQC Essential Standards of 
Quality and Safety, the Board Assurance Framework and 
the Organisational Risk Register.

The Risk Management framework is set out in the Board 
approved Risk Management Strategy.  The Trust recognises 
that it is impossible and not always desirable to eliminate 
all risks and that systems of controls should not be so rigid 
that they stifle innovation and imaginative use of limited 
resources, in order to achieve health benefits for patients.

The strategy describes how risks are identified, via the 
system of Risk Registers and an incident reporting system 
and how they are quantified, using a Risk Scoring Matrix.  
This allows standardisation of risk assessment across the 
Trust, utilising a common currency.   The strategy also 
requires action plans to be determined and implemented 
for those risks that are inadequately controlled.  The Trust 
also has a number of associated policies and procedures 
embedded in the organisation including an Incident 
Reporting Policy, Serious Incident Policy, Complaints Policy 
and Claims Policy.

The 2013/2014 risk strategy contains a section on risk 
appetite and risk maturity which is based upon the 
methodology, initiated and designed by Southwark Clinical 
Commissioner Group and the Good Governance Institute 
which is widely used by other NHS Organisations.  The 
Board of Directors was fully briefed on this and was actively 
involved in reviewing the Trust’s risk appetite in 2013/2014.

The Trust’s risk appetite statement is detailed as follows:  

“The Trust endeavours to establish a positive risk culture 
within the organisation, where unsafe practice (clinical, 
managerial, etc.) is not tolerated and where every member 
of staff feels committed and empowered to identify and 
correct/escalate system weaknesses.

The Trust Board is committed to ensuring a robust 
infrastructure is in place to manage risks from operational 
level to board level, and that where risks crystallise, 
demonstrable improvements can be put in place.

The Trust’s appetite is to minimise the risk to the delivery 
of our mission statement of ‘right care, right place, right 
time’ within the Trust’s accountability and compliance 
frameworks whilst maximising performance within value for 
money frameworks.

In order to deliver safe, effective services, the Trust will 
encourage staff to work in collaborative partnership with 
each other and service users and carers to minimise risk 
to the greatest extent possible and promote patient safety 
and well-being. Additionally, the Trust seeks to minimise 
the harm to service users and/or staff arising from their 
own actions and harm to others arising from the actions of 
service users and/or staff.

The Trust wishes to maximise opportunities for developing 
and growing its business by encouraging entrepreneurial 
activity and by being creative and pro-active in seeking new 
business ventures consistent with the strategic direction set 
out in the Integrated Business Plan, whilst respecting and 
abiding by its statutory obligations.

The Trust is working toward a ‘mature’ risk appetite. The 
Trust has no appetite for fraud and zero tolerance for 
regulatory breaches.

The Trust may take considered risks, where the long term 
benefits outweigh any short term losses. Well managed risk 
taking will ensure that the skills, ability and knowledge are 
there to support innovation and maximise opportunities to 
further improve services. The Trust commits to review its 
risk appetite statement on an annual basis and/or following 
any significant changes or events.”
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Risk Management is embedded within the organisation in 
a number of ways.  All departments within Directorates 
maintain up to date Risk Registers via the Ulysses Safeguard 
System that are linked to Director’s objectives and 
monitored on a regular basis.  

Risks are escalated via Departmental and Directorate Risk 
Registers to the Organisational Risk Register which identifies 
the major risks to the whole organisation both within year 
and for the foreseeable future.  

The highest scoring risks relate to the objectives of being a 
first rate employer and to have sound financialhealth.

Action plans to minimise the possibilities of these risks 
being realised are co-ordinated via the relevant directorate 
leads and include continuous monitoring via the 
appropriate group or Board-level committee.

Business cases must include a full risk assessment prior to 
formal approval.  

All Cost Improvement Schemes have processes in place to 
identify and mitigate risks to quality. 

Management and operational structures are in place to 
manage the risks that the Trust faces.  All of the groups 
working within the risk management and organisational 
controls framework are remitted to identify and where 
appropriate escalate all risks emerging from the business 
transacted.  The Groups/Committees report through 
Committees of the Board in a structured manner ultimately 
to the Board.

The remit of five Committees of the Board cover risk (both 
clinical and non-clinical) these are: 

•  Audit Committee

•  Governance and Risk Committee 

•  Quality Committee 

•  Workforce and Equality Committee

•  Business Investment and Finance Committee 

All of the Committees are chaired by a Non-Executive 
Director of the Trust. 

The Governance and Risk Committee oversees the 
creation of appropriate risk assessment systems, including a 
prioritised Risk Management plan and reviews and reports 
progress against this plan, to the Audit Committee and the 
Board.  

It reviews incident trends from financial / non-financial / non-
clinical areas and prepares the Board Assurance Framework, 
for review by the Audit Committee and approval by the 
Board.

Clinical Risk is monitored via the Trust’s Quality 
Committee.  The Trust’s Medical Director chairs the 
Clinical Advisory Group.  Both groups have access to expert 
professional opinion from specialist Medical Advisers and 
Clinicians. 

Clinical Risk, whilst being everyone’s responsibility, is 
managed by operational staff and specialist managers.  
Clinical risk is reported through the Risk Management 
System which allows themes and trends to be identified 
and inform organisational learning.  All clinical practices 
are carried out using the best available clinical evidence 
base. This includes; advice that is given to patients over 
the telephone and advice and skills performed when the 
paramedic is in a face to face situation.  In the former, the 
evidence base is largely taken from papers published in the 
UK and for the latter the evidence base is the Joint Royal 
Colleges Ambulance Liaison Committee’s latest Clinical 
Guideline.  Clinical competence is a matter for the Trust’s 
Root Cause Analysis Panel which reviews clinically related 
complaints, claims and concerns, looking for opportunities 
to learn lessons and protect patients. 

The Quality Committee is authorised by the Board to 
oversee all activity relating to monitoring the quality of 
patient’s care (i.e. safety, effectiveness and experiences). 
This includes for example, overseeing their involvement 
in the activities of the Trust as well as learning lessons 
from patient complaints and letters of appreciation.  The 
Committee also receives reports regarding the outcome 
of patient surveys and reports published by the Trust’s 
Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS). These reports are 
discussed in detail in the Experience, Complaints, Litigation, 
Incidents and PALS group (ECLIP) which facilitates a 
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thorough and robust discussion of all aspects which could 
affect the quality of the service received by patients.

The Audit Committee reviews the establishment 
and maintenance of an effective system of integrated 
governance, risk management and internal control, across 
the whole of the organisation’s activities.  This includes 
activities that are both clinical and non-clinical. This 
integrated approach to governance supports the Trust in 
achieving its organisational objectives.

The Trust manages its information (including information 
and data security) risks on an ongoing basis via the 
Information Governance Working Group.  The Trust 
regularly completes the Information Governance (IG) 
Toolkit.  As at 31st March 2014 the Trust scored 86% 
compliance, compared to 85% as at 31st March 2013.  
During the year there was one Serious Incident reported 
which related to Information Governance. 

The Board Assurance Framework provides the Trust with 
a comprehensive method for effective management of 
the principal risks to meeting its objectives and links to 
the Trust’s Mission Statement and Strategic Intentions.  It 
provides a structure for evidence to support the Annual 
Governance Statement and as a result, simplifies Board 
reporting and the prioritisation of action plans.  

The Board Assurance Framework includes the following key 
elements:

• strategic objectives of the Trust by Directorate.

• risks to achieving the objectives

• key controls in place to manage the risks

• assurances for the key controls

•  evidence of the controls and assurance

• any gaps in control

• any gaps in assurance

The Board Assurance Framework is approved by the Board 
at the beginning of the financial year.  The Board reviews 
the Board Assurance Framework mid-way through the year 
and approves the final version at the end of the year.

There were a limited number of gaps in assurance and / or 
control in the areas of operations and finance and plans 
were put in place to mitigate or eradicate the gaps. 

The principal risks to compliance with the NHS Foundation 
Trust condition 4 (FT governance) relate to the volume of 
business and the associated information that is required 
by the Board and its committees to maintain rigorous 
oversight of the performance of the Trust.  A major project 
is well underway to bring the Trust’s information systems 
together to centralise data in the form of a data-warehouse 
which will deliver reporting dashboards for the Board 
and its committees; reducing the volume of data through 
intelligent information and triggers.

There are clear terms of reference for each Board 
Committee and groups that report to it and a robust 
process is in place to review the effectiveness of the groups 
and Board committees on an annual basis.  The structure 
of these reviews ensures that consideration is given to any 
potential overlap and gap in responsibilities; minimising the 
risks to compliance with the Trust’s licence.  The timing of 
these meetings has been aligned to provide for the most 
up-to-date information to be considered to inform decision-
making and assess risks, prior to the Board signing-off its 
in-year quarterly declarations to Monitor.

The Trust is overhauling the process for policy development 
and review so that there are clear, documented 
accountability and reporting lines which will enable the 
groups and committees to fulfil their duties in ensuring 
compliance.  This will be supported by the strengthened 
staff Performance Review system that the Trust has 
introduced during the year.

The Audit Committee will review the Trust’s Corporate 
Governance Statements and will seek evidence to support 
the declarations being made.  It will consider the risks and 
mitigating actions that management provides to support 
the Statements and determine, both from its own work 
throughout the year – particularly the testing of the controls 
set out in the Board Assurance Framework – and assurances 
provided from the work of the Trust’s internal, external 
auditors and other external audits or reviews, whether the 
Statements are valid.   Only then, will the Audit Committee 
recommend to the Board that the Corporate Governance 
Statements can be signed.

The Foundation Trust is fullycompliant with the registration 
requirements of the Care Quality Commission.
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As an employer with staff entitled to membership of 
the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in place 
to ensure all employer obligations contained within the 
Scheme regulations are complied with. This includes 
ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s 
contributions and payments in to the Scheme are in 
accordance with the Scheme rules, and that member 
Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in 
accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations.

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the 
organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and 
human rights legislation are complied with.

The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments and 
Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans are in place in accordance 
with emergency preparedness and civil contingency 
requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to 
ensure that this organisation’s obligations under the Climate 
Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements 
are complied with.

Review Of Economy, Efficiency and Effective Use of 
Resources

The Board receive and review a monthly Integrated 
Performance and Quality Report (IPQR) which draws 
together the main Risk, Quality, Activity, Performance, 
Financial and Workforce positions against plan.

The Trust’s Improvement Steering Group reviews and 
monitors the effectiveness of performance against the 
Trust’s Service Improvement and Cost Improvement 
programmes.

The remit of the Trust Board committees includes ensuring 
the effective use of resources and responsibility for 
investigating specific areas contributing to the Integrated 
Performance and Quality Report, for example, the Quality 
Committee reviews the progress against Ambulance Quality 
Indicators and on the Committee’s behalf the Medical and 
Nursing Directors review the assurances that the schemes in 
the CIP programme do not impact adversely upon service 
provision to patients  whilst the Business Investment and 
Finance Committee reviews the monthly financial reports.

The Trust has developed Service Line reporting for its key 
business services, (Emergency Care, PTS, Contact Centre 
and Commercial Training) and is extending the scope 

of its review from finance and activity information to 
include quality, performance and workforce measures of 
effectiveness.

Assurance on economy, efficiency and effective use 
of resources is also provided by Internal Audit, as their 
work-plan includes audits of the major areas of resource 
utilisation.  Ultimately, however, the Trust has the 
lowest reference cost and cost per incident of all English 
Ambulance Trust’s which provides substantial assurance on 
its economical use of resources.

Annual Quality Report

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and 
the National Health Service (Quality reports) Regulations 
2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality reports for each 
financial year.  Monitor has issued guidance to NHS 
Foundation Trust boards on the form and content of 
annual Quality Reports which incorporate the above 
legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual.

Overall responsibility for production of the Foundation 
Trust’s annual Quality Report rests with the Directorate of 
Strategy Contracting and Performance working closely with 
the Clinical Care and Patient Safety Directorate to identify 
indicators for patient safety, clinical effectiveness and 
patient experience to measure progress and improvement 
throughout the financial year.

The Trust has taken robust steps to assure the Board that 
the Quality Report presents a balanced view and that there 
are appropriate controls in place to ensure the accuracy of 
data. These steps include:

Governance and leadership: the quality priorities within 
the report have been monitored and presented at the 
Quality Committee throughout the year and any risks 
identified have been escalated to the Governance and Risk 
Committee via a Risk Repository. A summary report and the 
minutes of these meetings are presented to the Board on a 
quarterly basis. The Board also receives a bi-annual update 
on progress against the priorities. The Trust has regularly 
reported progress to Healthwatch teams and has shared 
progress with local Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s) receive monthly 
updates on those quality priorities that are included in 
the CQUIN scheme for the financial year.  The Trust’s 
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Council of Governors and staff have been involved in the 
development of quality priorities for the Quality Report 
and it has received progress updates against the priorities 
on a quarterly basis. The Trust has maintained an open 
approach to sharing data and progress with stakeholders 
regarding the Quality Report. The Audit Committee has a 
position of oversight and challenge on the Quality report, 
and receives a checklist of mandatory content from the 
Trust’s Monitoring and Compliance Officer. This checklist is 
cross-referenced with page numbers to ensure all necessary 
content is included. A summary report and minutes of the 
Audit Committee are then sent to the Board as assurance.

The Role of Policies and Plans in ensuring the quality 
of care provided: The Trust maintains a Data Quality 
Dashboard where any data quality issues are monitored. 
Reports are being set up to identify any trends and if data 
quality issues are discovered, the data owner is responsible 
for making the necessary improvements to the data within 
the source system.  All data owners and staff have access 
to all Trust policies via the quality management system. 
For example, the End of Life Care (EOLC) Transport Policy 
outlines the Trust’s requirements in relation to delivering 
services to patients within this group, and supports delivery 
of the end of life care priority. 

Systems and processes: The Trust has robust processes 
around data quality. The data owner provides the data, 
which is then checked by the Performance team before 
being entered into the Quality report dashboard and later 
being shared either internally or externally. Quality Report 
data is pulled from systems such as the Ulysses Safeguard 
system, or directly from our Contact Centre CAD system. 
Data is reviewed when presented at the Quality Committee 
and any queries are fed back to the data owner to respond 
with a resolution or explanation. The Trust’s Informatics 
team which produces much of the data for the Quality 
report have a daily data quality report which is submitted 
to our Contact Centre for review. This report highlights any 
potential issues and offers the opportunity for correcting 
data, as well as highlighting any general problems with 
certain procedures. The Informatics team also logs any 
issues that become apparent whilst reporting, and these 
are raised with the data owner and reviewed at the Data 

Quality Assurance Group. The Data Quality Assurance 
Group is a working group established to provide assurances 
to the Information Governance Working Group, through 
its direct reporting arrangements and ensures the Trust’s 
compliance with legislative, mandatory and regulatory 
requirements in terms of the Group’s scope.

People and skills: Data owners, providing information for 
the Quality Report, are the members of staff with expertise 
in that particular area. For example, figures regarding 
safeguarding referrals are taken from the Ulysses Safeguard 
system and checked by our Safeguarding Manager before 
being supplied to the Performance team. The Performance 
team then reviews all data from an objective standpoint to 
ensure the data is concurrent with forecasts or established 
baselines. Progress against the quality priorities is then 
communicated to staff across the Trust to ensure they are 
aware of best practice. This is done through articles in the 
Trust’s regular magazine as well as weekly staff email, and 
the Trust’s performance wall-board in our headquarters 
building. When agreeing priorities to be included in the 
Quality Report, the Trust ensures that not only are staff 
involved, but also members of the public through the 
Health Watch forums and the Trust’s Council of Governors. 
This ensures a balanced approach, where different opinions 
are represented. The Trustdrew on staff expertise when 
developing the Quality Priorities with a task and finish 
group so staff with clinical and non-clinical skills had input 
into our priority process. They helped shortlist the Trust’s 
priorities, with consideration to the possible measures and 
having a positive impact on the patient.  The long list, 
shortlist, and later the final list of priorities, were presented 
to the Board to obtain its feedback.

Data use and reporting: Data is reported to internal 
Board-level committees only after it has been checked by 
the data owner, and then by the Performance team. The 
Board-level committees are then given the opportunity 
to scrutinise the data, before it is published externally on 
our internet site.  Any group or individual then has the 
opportunity to question anything about the data and 
demand rationale for data. Health Watch, Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees and CCGs all have direct and open 
contact with the Quality Report author. These groups are 
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provided with the final version of the Quality Report before 
it is published so they have an opportunity to feedback 
on any element of the document, and their feedback 
statements are included in the final Quality report. 

The Trust is aware of some specific data quality concerns in 
relation to our PTS metric reporting and work is underway 
with our system supplier to understand how anomalies are 
occurring and we are working to resolve the inconsistencies 
identified. This does impact on the accuracy of the figures 
that are reported within the Quality Report but does not 
affect the quality of care provided to patients. The Trust’s 
commissioners are aware of data quality concerns on PTS 
and we have an agreed Data Quality Improvement Plan 
going forward. 

All of this input ensures a balanced view is presented in the 
final Quality report document.

Review of Effectiveness

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control. My 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, 
clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical leads 
within the NHS Foundation Trust who have responsibility 
for the development and maintenance of the internal 
control framework.  I have drawn on the content of the 
quality report attached to this annual report and other 
performance information available to me.   My review is 
also informed by comments made by the external auditors 
in their management letter and other reports.  I have been 
advised on the implications of the result of my review of 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the 
Board, the Audit Committee and the Governance and Risk 
Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the system is in place.

Brief summaries of the main responsibilities of the above 
Committees are outlined below:

The Board

The Chief Executive and Board of Directors have overall 
responsibility for the Trust’s Risk Management programme. 

It is the Trust Board that endorses and resources the 
Strategic Objectives and all formalised Risk Management 
plans.

The Audit Committee

This Committee acts independently from the Executive, to 
provide assurance to the Board, based on a challenge of 
evidence and assurance obtained, that the interests of the 
Trust are properlyprotected in relation to annual reporting 
and internal control.  

It keeps under review the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control; that is the systems established to identify, 
assess, manage and monitor risks both financial and 
otherwise and to ensure the Trust complies with all aspects 
of the law, relevant regulation and good practice.

This Committee reports to the Board any matters in 
respect of which the Committee considers that action or 
improvement is needed and makes recommendations as to 
the steps to be taken.

The Governance and Risk Committee

This Committee provides the Board with an objective 
review of, and assurances, in relation to: -

• all aspects of risk governance, the risk management 
frameworks and the promotion of behaviours and 
cultures that drive approaches to risk management.

• the systems of internal control in relation to governance 
and risk management, in that these are fit for purpose, 
adequately resourced and underpin the Trusts 
performance and reputation

• the overall risk governance process in that it gives clear, 
explicit and dedicated focus to current and forward-
looking aspects of risk exposure

• compliance with law, best practice governance and 
regulatory standards
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The Quality Committee

This Committee provides the Board with an independent 
and objective review of, and assurances, in relation to:

• Aall aspects of quality, specifically: clinical effectiveness, 
patient experience and patient safety; monitoring 
compliance against the essential standards of quality 
and safety set out in the registration requirements of the 
Care Quality Commission

•  Probity, quality improvement and patient safety issues, 
ensuring these are central components of all the 
activities of the Trust

•  Governance processes for driving and monitoring the 
delivery of high quality, clinically safe, patient-centred 
care 

• Performance against internal and external quality and 
clinical improvement targets, and directing management 
on actions to be taken on sub-standard performance

• The overarching Clinical Governance, Quality & Patient 
Safety Strategy

• Assurance on safeguarding quality and to provide 
appropriate scrutiny to clinical effectiveness, patient 
safety and patient experience

The Workforce and Equality Committee

This Committee provides the Board with an objective 
review of, and assurances, in relation to:-

•  The design, development and implementation of 
a Workforce Strategy that supports our vision and 
continues to maximise the potential of our workforce to 
deliver the highest quality of care to patients.

•  Effective management and leadership development

•  The quality and delivery of workforce plans

•  Organisational development

•  Health and wellbeing of staff

•  Equality and diversity

•  Compliance with employment legislation and the 
standards of relevant external professional bodies

The Business Investment and Finance Committee

This Committee provides the Board with an objective 
review of, and assurances, in relation to:-

•  Growth proposals, ensuring their alignment with Board 
approved corporate strategy

•  Governance processes for all major investments and 
divestments

•  Business cases referred to it by the Business Investment 
Group requiring major capital investment

• Finance, contracting and commissioning issues; presenting 
reports and recommendations in relation to ensuring cash 
liquidity and are an effective going concern

• Compliance with legislative, mandatory and regulatory 
requirements in terms of the Committee’s scope

Executive Managers within the organisation who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
system of internal control provide me with assurance. 

The Board Assurance Framework itself provides me with 
evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage the 
risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives 
have been reviewed.

My review is also informed by internal and external 
assessments during the year as follows:-

• Internal Audit reports

• Monthly performance reports covering all Directorates 
in the form of an Integrated Quality and Performance 
Report.

•  External Audit reports including the Value for Money 
conclusion, Audit Letter and Governance Report

•  External Quality Audits and Continuous Certification to 
ISO 9001:2000 Standards 

•  Monthly Quality Risk Profile update

•  Care Quality Commission (CQC) Inspections
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion

The Trust contracts Sunderland Internal Audit Service 
(SIAS) to provide an internal audit function for the Trust.  
The work undertaken throughout the year, following a 
risk based audit plan, agreed by the Audit Committee, 
culminated in a Head of Internal Audit Opinion.  This Head 
of Internal Opinion concluded that on the basis of work 
carried out in accordance with the Tactical Internal Plan 
2013/14 significant assurance can be given that there is 
a generally sound system of internal control, designed to 
meet the organisations objectives, and that controls are 
generally being applied consistently.  However, a weakness 
in the design and/or inconsistent application of controls 
puts the achievement of a particular objective at risk.

CQC Inspections

The CQC undertook an unannounced inspection of the 
Trust in February 2014 during which 6 essential standards 
of quality and care were reviewed.  Following the review 
they identified that of the six areas reviewedthe Trust was 
not compliant in four of them. The four non–compliant 
areas were; requirements relating to workers (moderate 
concern); assessing and monitoring the quality of service 
provision (moderate concern); supporting workers (minor 
concern); and management of medicines (minor concern). 
The non-compliance of the standard relating to workers 
related to appropriate staff employment checks not having 
been carried out and resulted in a Warning Notice being 
issued. A recovery plan was immediately put into placeand 
by the end of the year all appropriate staff employment 
checks had been carried out and robust control measures 
put in place. As the Trust takes all issues of non-compliance 
seriously, measure have also been put in place to address 
the other concerns raised.

Internal Reviews

During a routine sample audit of controlled drugs it was 
identified that a number of out of date drugs had been 
administered to patients. The specific medicines were 
Morphine, Oramorph oral suspension and Diazamuls. In the 
sample it was identified there were 75 doses administered 
by 26 paramedics.

Immediate action was undertaken to remove the out of 
date medicines in question, commence a full audit across 
the paramedic workforceand an internal investigation was 
commenced.  Initial findings indicated that no patient harm 
had occurred, however the incident will be subjected to a 
Root Cause Analysis Panel in due course. 

The Audit Committee has overseen the effectiveness of 
the Trust’s risk management arrangements, considered the 
Annual Governance Statement and reviewed its role and 
responsibilities as required by the NHS Audit Committee 
handbook and remains vigilant in assessing its controls in a 
complex and fast moving environment.

Conclusion

Two significant internal control issues were identified during 
the period the first in regard to the staff employment 
checks which was resolved by the end of the year and the 
second being the use of out of date drugs and work is still 
ongoing.

 

Simon Featherstone 
Chief Executive 
29th May, 2014

Annual Governance Statement 2013-2014
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Independent auditor’s report

Independent auditors’ report to the Council of Governors 
of North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust

Report on the financial statements
Our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements, defined below:

 - give a true and fair view of the state of the NHS 
Foundation Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 2014 and 
of its income and expenditure and cash flows for the 
year then ended; and

 - have been prepared in accordance with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14.

This opinion is to be read in the context of what we say in 
the remainder of this report.

What we have audited

The financial statements, which are prepared by North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust, comprise:

 - the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 
2014;

 - the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year 
then ended;

 - the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended;

 - the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the 
year then ended; and

 - the notes to the financial statements, which include a 
summary of significant accounting policies andother 
explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied 
in their preparation is the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2013/14 issued by the Independent 
Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors 
have made a number of subjective judgements, for 
example in respect of significant accounting estimates. In 
making such estimates, they have made assumptions and 
considered future events.

What an audit of financial statements involves

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & 
Ireland)”). An audit involves obtaining evidence about 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 

 - whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the 
NHS Foundation Trust’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; 

 - the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by the directors; and 

 - the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Annual Report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and 
to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the 
audit. If we become aware of any apparent material mis-
statements or inconsistencies we consider the implications 
for our report.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Audit 
Code for NHS Foundation Trusts

In our opinion: 

•  the information given in the Strategic Report and the 
Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements; and

•  the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be 
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 
2013/14.
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Other matters on which we are required to  
report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 
requires us to report to you if: 

•  in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does 
not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14 or 
is misleading or inconsistent with information of which 
we are aware from our audit. We are not required to 
consider, nor have we considered, whether the Annual 
Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or 
that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls;

•  we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the NHS 
Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 
of resources; or

•  we have qualified, on any aspect, our opinion on the 
Quality Report.  

Responsibilities for the financial statements 
and the audit
Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Strategic Report and Business 
Review set out on page 13, the directors are responsible for 
the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 
2013/14. 

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with the National Health 
Service Act 2006, the Audit Code for NHS Foundation 
Trusts issued by Monitor and ISAs (UK & Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared 
for and only for the Council of Governors of North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust in accordance 
with paragraph 24 of Schedule 7 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 and for no other purpose.  We do not, 
in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility 
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom 
this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save 
where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of the 
financial statements in accordance with the requirements of 
Chapter 5 of Part 2 to the National Health Service Act 2006 
and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued by 
Monitor. 

Nicola Wright (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Newcastle Upon Tyne 
29 May 2014
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The Accounts
Foreword To The Accounts

These accounts for the year ended 31st March, 2014 have 
been prepared by the North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust under paragraphs 24 and 25 of schedule 7 
to the National Health Service Act 2006, in accordance with 
the directions given by Monitor, the Independent Regulator 
of Foundation Trusts and on a going concern basis.

Simon Featherstone 
Chief Executive 
29th May, 2014

The Accounts
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

Note
2013-14

£000
2012-13

£000

Comprehensive Income

  Operating Income from continuing operations 3.1 114,694 110,392

  Operating expenses from continuing operations 6 (113,558) (111,908)

Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 1,136 (1,516)

Finance Costs

  Finance income 11 64 117

  Finance costs - financial liabilities 12 (159) (354)

  Finance costs - unwinding of discount on provisions 35.2 (61) (83)

  Public dividend capital dividends payable 13 (919) (1,139)

Net Finance Costs (1,075) (1,459)

Surplus/(Deficit) from continuing operations 61 (2,975)

Other comprehensive income

  Revaluations 37 64 (170)

Total comprehensive income for the year 125 (3,145)

Reported NHS Financial Performance Position

Surplus/(Deficit) from continuing operations 61 (2,975)

Less Profit on Asset Disposals 3.1 (49) (430)

Add Impairments 6 1,494 5,781

Less Reversal of Impairments 3.1 (259) (38)

Normalised Surplus 1,247 2,338

Sub Total Income from activities 112,029 107,516

The notes on pages 125 to 148 form part of these accounts.

The Accounts
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Statement of Financial Position

Note

31 March  
2014
£000

31 March  
2013
£000

Non-current assets

  Property, plant and equipment 16.3 34,273 37,885

  Intangible assets 15.3 22,362 233

Total non-current assets 112,029 38,118

Current assets

  Inventories 25.1 743 822

  Trade and other receivables 26.1 6,172 3,990

  Cash and cash equivalents 29 13,508 10,478

  Non-current assets held for sale 22 473 1,073

Total current assets 20,896 16,363

Total assets 55,169 54,481

Current liabilities

  Trade and other payables 30.1 (7,750) (7,320)

  Borrowings 31 (301) (268)

  Provisions 35.1 (561) (464)

  Other liabilities 33 (547) (400)

Total current liabiities (9,159) (8,452)

Total assets less current liabilities 46,010 107,516

Non-current liabilities

  Borrowings 31 (2,043) (2,363)

  Trade and other payables 30.1 (609) (591)

  Provisions 35.1 (2,507) (2,349)

Total non-current liabilities (5,159) (5,303)

Total assets employed 40,851 40,726

Financed by taxpayers' equity:

  Public dividend capital 34,617 34,617

  Income and Expenditure reserve 37 3,329 2,367

  Revaluation reserve 2,905 3,742

Total taxpayers' equity 40,851 40,726

The accounts on pages 12 to 38 were approved by the Board on 29th May, 2014 and signed on its behalf by:   
 

Signed: …………………………………(Chief Executive) 29th May, 2014

The Accounts
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity

Note

Public 
Dividend 

Capital

£000

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve

£000

Revaluation 
Reserve

£000

Total 
Taxpayers 

Equity

£000

Taxpayers’ Equity at 1 April 2013 34,617 2,367 3,742 40,726

Surplus for the year 0 61 0 61

Revaluations - property, plant and 
equipment

37 0 0 64 64

Total Comprehensive Income Sub-Total 0 61 64 125

Transfer from revaluation reserve to the 
I&E reserve for impairments

37 0 370 (370)   0

Transfer to I&E reserve on disposal of 
assets

37 0 76 (76)   0

Other reserves movements 37 0 455 (455)   0

Balance at 31 March 2014 34,617 3,329 2,905 40,851

Note

Public 
Dividend 

Capital

£000

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve

£000

Revaluation 
Reserve

£000

Total 
Taxpayers 

Equity

£000

Taxpayers’ Equity at 1 April 2012 34,617 4,814 4,440 43,871

Deficit for the year 0 (2,975)   0 (2,975)   

Revaluations - property, plant and 
equipment

0 0 (170)   (170)   

Total Comprehensive Income Sub-Total 0 (2,975)   (170)   (3,145)   

Transfer to retained earnngs on disposal 
of assets

0 39 (39)   0

Other reserves movements 0 489 (489)   0

Balance at 31 March 2014 34,617 2,367 3,742 40,726
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Statement of Cash Flows

Note
2013-14

£000
2012-13

£000

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating surplus/(deficit) 1,136 (1,516)

Non-cash income and expense

Depreciation and amortisation 6 6,980 7,370

Impairments 6 1,494 5,781

Reversal of Impairments 3.1 (259) (38)

Gain on disposal 3.1 (49) (430)

Dividends accrued and not paid or received 26.1 0 (92)

Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 79 (11)

(Increase)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables (2,256) 2,047

Increase in Trade and Other Payables 194 1,827

Increase in Other Liabilities 147 400

Increase in Provisions 194 99

Other movements in operating cash flows 0 (2)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 7,660 15,435

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 64 95

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment (3,434) (12,937)

Proceeds from disposal of plant, property and equipment 128 61

(Payments) for intangible assets (98) (51)

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (3,340) (12,832)

Net cash inflow before financing 4,320 2,603

Cash flows from financing activities

Public Dividend Capital dividend paid (845) (1,209)

Interest paid (6) 0

Interest element of finance lease (153) (202)

Capital element of finance leases (286) (290)

Net cash (outflow) from financing (1,290) (1,701)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,030 902

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the financial year

10,478 9,576

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year

29 13,508 10,478
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Notes to the accounts
1. Accounting Policies

Monitor has directed that the financial statements 
of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the accounting 
requirements of the Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual (FT ARM) which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. 
Consequently, the following financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the 2013-14 FT ARM issued by 
Monitor.  The accounting policies contained in that manual 
follow International Financial Reporting Standards and HM 
Treasury‘s FReM to the extent that they are meaningful 
and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. They have 
been applied consistently in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts.  

1.1 Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention modified to account for the revaluation 
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, 
inventories and certain financial assets and financial 
liabilities.

1.2 Consolidation

The NHS Foundation Trust has considered whether to 
consolidate the North East Ambulance Service Trust 
Charitable Fund during 2013/14. The foundation trust 
assessed the relationship and determined it to be a 
subsidiary because the foundation trust has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of the charitable 
fund. However, due to the materiality of the funds held by 
the charitable body the foundation trust has decided not to 
consolidate the charitable accounts.

Prior to 2013/14, the FT ARM permitted the NHS 
Foundation Trust not to consolidate the charitable fund.

1.3 Income  

Income in respect of services provided is recognised 
when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.  
The main source of income for the trust is contracts with 
commissioners for health care services.  

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be 
delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost 
Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating 
injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation 
has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer.  The Trust 
recognises the income when it receives the funds from the 
Department of Work and Pension’s Compensation Recovery 
Unit. The income is measured at the agreed tariff for the 
transport provided to the injured individual.

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised 
only when all material conditions of sale have been met, 
and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.

1.4 Expenditure on employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are 
recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement 
earned but not taken by employees at the end of the 
period is recognised in the financial statements to the 
extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave 
into the following period.  

Pension costs 
NHS Pension Scheme 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions 
of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, 
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general 
practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of 
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It is not possible 
for the NHS foundation trust to identify its share of the 
underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is 
accounted for as a defined contribution scheme. Employers 
pension cost contributions are charged to operating 
expenses as and when they become due. 

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements 
are not funded by the scheme except where the retirement 
is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the 
additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the 
time the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of 
the method of payment.
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1.5 Expenditure on other goods and services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and 
to the extent that they have been received, and is measured 
at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is 
recognised in operating expenses except where it results in 
the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant 
and equipment.

1.6 Property, plant and equipment
Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

• it is held for use in delivering services or for 
administrative purposes;

•  it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, 
or service potential will be supplied to, the trust;

• it is expected to be used for more than one financial 
year;

•  the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a 
number of components with significantly different asset 
lives, the components are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

Valuation

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at 
cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring 
or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management.  All assets are measured 
subsequently at fair value.

Land and buildings used for the trust’s services or for 
administrative purposes are stated in the statement of 
financial position at their revalued amounts, being the 
fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment, 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses.  Revaluations are performed with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially 
different from those that would be determined at the end 
of the reporting period.

Fair values are determined as follows:

• Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for 
existing use

• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, 
plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the 
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that 
additional future economic benefits or service potential 
deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component 
of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of 
the item can be determined reliably. Where a component 
of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is 
capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. 
The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. 
Other expenditure that does not generate additional future 
economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and 
maintenance is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in the period in which it is incurred.

Depreciation 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated 
over their remaining useful economic lives in a manner 
consistent with the consumption of economic or service 
delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an 
infinite life and is not depreciated. 

Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified 
as ‘Held for Sale’ ceases to be depreciated upon the 
reclassification. Assets in the course of construction and 
residual interests in off-Statement of Financial Position 
PFI contract assets are not depreciated until the asset is 
brought into use or reverts to the trust, respectively. 

Revaluation gains and losses 

Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, 
except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a 
revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised 
in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in 
operating income. 
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Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve 
to the extent that there is an available balance for the 
asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating 
expenses. 

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are 
reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an 
item of “other comprehensive income”. 

Impairments 

In accordance with the FT ARM, impairments that are due 
to a loss of economic benefits or service potential in the 
asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating 
transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income 
and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower 
of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and 
(ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that 
asset before the impairment. An impairment arising from 
a loss of economic benefit or service potential is reversed 
when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave 
rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in 
operating income to the extent that the asset is restored to 
the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment 
had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is 
recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time 
of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the 
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, 
an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve 
when the impairment reversal is recognised.

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. 
Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation 
gains.

De-recognition 

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Held for 
Sale’ once all of the following criteria are met: 

•  the asset is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition subject only to terms which are usual and 
customary for such sales; 

•  the sale must be highly probable i.e.: 

 - management are committed to a plan to sell the 
asset; 

 - an active programme has begun to find a buyer and 
complete the sale; 

 - the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable 
price; 

 - the sale is expected to be completed within 12 
months of the date of classification as “Held for Sale”; 
and 

 - the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it 
is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant 
changes made to it. 

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the 
lower of their existing carrying amount and their “fair value 
less costs to sell”. Depreciation ceases to be charged. Assets 
are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions 
have been met. 

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped 
or demolished does not qualify for recognition as “Held 
for Sale” and instead is retained as an operational asset 
and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-
recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs. 

Donated, government grant and other grant funded 
assets 

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment 
assets are capitalised at their fair valueon receipt. The 
donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, 
unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future 
economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be 
consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which 
case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is 
carried forward to future financial years to the extent that 
the condition has not yet been met. 

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently 
accounted for in the same manner as other items of 
property, plant and equipment.

1.7 Intangible assets
Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical 
substance which are capable of being sold separately 
from the rest of the trust’s business or which arise from 
contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only 
where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow 
to, or service potential be provided to, the trust and where 
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and where 
the cost is at least £5000.  
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Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised 
at fair value.  Software that is integral to the operating of 
hardware, for example an operating system is capitalised as 
part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment.  
Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, 
for example application software, is capitalised as an 
intangible asset.  Expenditure on research is not capitalised: 
it is recognised as an operating expense in the period 
in which it is incurred.  Internally-generated assets are 
recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been 
demonstrated:

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset 
so that it will be available for use;

• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;

•  the ability to sell or use the intangible asset;

•  how the intangible asset will generate probable future 
economic benefits or service potential;

•  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other 
resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use 
it;

•  the ability to measure reliably the expenditure 
attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development;

Internally generated intangible assets 

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, 
publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not 
capitalised as intangible assets. 

Expenditure on research is not capitalised. 

Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of 
the following can be demonstrated: 

• the project is technically feasible to the point of 
completion and will result in an intangible asset for sale 
or use; 

•  the trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it; 

•  the trust has the ability to sell or use the asset; 

•  how the intangible asset will generate probable future 
economic or service delivery benefits, e.g., the presence 
of a market for it or its output, or where it is to be used 
for internal use, the usefulness of the asset; 

•  adequate financial, technical and other resources are 
available to the trust to complete the development and 
sell or use the asset; and 

•  the trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable 
to the asset during development. 

Software 

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, 
e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the 
relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software 
which is not integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. 
application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. 

Measurement 

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising 
all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce and 
prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating 
in the manner intended by management. 

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. 
Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated 
in the same manner as for Property, Plant and Equipment. 

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of 
their carrying amount or “fair value less costs to sell”. 

Amortisation 

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected 
useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.

1.8 Revenue, government and other grants 

Government grants are grants from Government bodies 
other than income from CCG’s or NHS trusts for the 
provision of services.  Where a grant is used to fund 
revenue expenditure, it is taken to the Statement of 
Comprehensive income to match that expenditure.

1.9 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value using the first-in first-out cost formula.  This is 
considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value 
due to the high turnover of stocks.  
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1.10 Financial instruments and financial liabilities
Recognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from 
contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items 
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in 
accordance with the trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage 
requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent 
which, performance occurs, i.e. when receipt or delivery of 
the goods or services is made. 

Financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed 
of through finance leases are recognised and measured in 
accordance with the accounting policy for leases described 
below.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised when the trust becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

De-recognition 

All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the trust 
has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is 
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement 

Financial assets are categorised as “fair value through 
income and expenditure”, “loans and receivables” or 
“available-for-sale financial assets”. 

Financial liabilities are classified as “fair value through 
income and expenditure” or as “other financial 
liabilities”.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at “fair value through 
income and expenditure” 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at “fair value through 
income and expenditure” are financial assets or financial 
liabilities held for trading. A financial asset or financial 
liability is classified in this category if acquired principally 
for the purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives 
are also categorised as held for trading unless they are 
designated as hedges. Derivatives which are embedded 
in other contracts but which are not “closely-related” to 

those contracts are separated-out from those contracts 
and measured in this category. Assets and liabilities in 
this category are classified as current assets and current 
liabilities. 

These financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value, with transaction costs expensed in the 
income and expenditure account. Subsequent movements 
in the fair value are recognised as gains or losses in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted 
in an active market. They are included in current assets. 

The trust’s loans and receivables comprise: current 
investments, cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables 
and “other receivables”. 

Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, 
net of transactions costs, and are measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of 
the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, 
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the 
effective interest method and credited to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative 
financial assets which are either designated in this category 
or not classified in any of the other categories. They are 
included in long-term assets unless the trust intends to 
dispose of them within 12 months of the Statement of 
Financial Position date. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially 
at fair value, including transaction costs, and measured 
subsequently at fair value, with gains or losses recognised in 
reserves and reported in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as an item of “other comprehensive income”. When 
items classified as “available-for-sale” are sold or impaired, 
the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised are 
transferred from reserves and recognised in “Finance 

The Accounts



Annual Report 2013 - 2014  |  159

Costs” in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Other financial liabilities 

All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair 
value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured 
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts 
exactly estimated future cash payments through the 
expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, 
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial 
liability. 

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts 
payable more than 12 months after the Statement of 
Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term 
liabilities. 

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is 
calculated using the effective interest method and charged 
to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to 
finance property, plant and equipment or intangible assets 
is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. 

Impairment of financial assets 

At the Statement of Financial Position date, the trust 
assesses whether any financial assets, other than those 
held at “fair value through income and expenditure” are 
impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment 
losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and 
which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the asset. 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount 
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced directly through the use of a 
bad debt provision

1.11 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the 
lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The trust as lessee:

Finance Leases

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of 
a leased asset are borne by the NHS foundation trust, the 
asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and 
a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which 
both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the 
asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. The 
asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of 
the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted for as an item 
of property plant and equipment. 

The annual rental is split between the repayment of the 
liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate 
of finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance 
cost is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. The lease liability is de-recognised 
when the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Operating Leases

Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the 
rentals are charged to operating expenses on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives 
received are added to the lease rentals and charged to 
operating expenses over the life of the lease.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which they are incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and 
building components are separated and individually 
assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases. 
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The trust as lessor:

Finance Leases

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are 
recorded as receivables at the amount of the trust’s net 
investment in the leases.  Finance lease income is allocated 
to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic 
rate of return on the trust’s net investment outstanding in 
respect of the leases.

Operating Leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating 
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset 
and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial 
institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 
than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are investments that 
mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value.  

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents 
are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash 
management.

1.13 Provisions

The NHS foundation trust recognises a provision where it 
has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain 
timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will 
be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best 
estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation. 
Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, 
the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using 
the HM Treasury discount rate of 1.8% which applies from 
31st March 2014 (2.35% from 31st March 2013).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to 
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually 

certain that reimbursements will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

1.14 Clinical negligence costs

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk 
pooling scheme under which the trust pays an annual 
contribution to the NHSLA which in return settles all 
clinical negligence claims.  The contribution is charged 
to expenditure.  Although the NHSLA is administratively 
responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability 
remains with the trust.  The total value of clinical negligence 
provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the trust is 
disclosed at note 35. 

1.15 Non-clinical risk pooling

The NHS Foundation Trust participates in the Property 
Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties 
Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the 
trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation 
Authority and in return receives assistance with the costs of 
claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and 
any “excesses” payable in respect of particular claims are 
charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.

1.16 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises 
from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
trust, or a present obligation that is not recognised because 
it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle 
the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot 
be measured sufficiently reliably.  A contingent liability is 
disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from 
past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the trust.  A 
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic 
benefits is probable.  

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies 
are disclosed at their present value.
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1.17 Public Dividend Capital 

Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector 
equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities 
at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust. 
HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial 
instrument within the meaning of IAS 32. 

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS 
foundation trust, is payable as public dividend capital 
dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM 
Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets 
of the NHS Foundation Trust during the financial year. 
Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets 
less the value of all liabilities, except for:

i. donated assets (including lottery funded assets);

ii. average daily cash balances held with the Government 
Banking Services (GBS) and National Loans Fund 
(NLF) deposits, excluding cash balances held in GBS 
accounts that relate to a short-term working capital 
facility; 

iii. for 2013/14 only, net assets and liabilities transferred 
from bodies which ceased to exist on 1 April 2013; 
and 

iv. any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable. 

In accordance with the requirements laid down by the 
Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend 
for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net 
assets as set out in the “pre-audit” version of the annual 
accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should 
any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit of 
the annual accounts.

1.18 Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the NHS Foundation Trust are 
outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does 
not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. 
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure 
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of 
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.19 Corporation tax 

The Foundation Trust has determined that no activities took 
place during 2013-14 which would incur corporation tax 
liabilities.

1.20 Foreign currencies

The functional and presentational currencies of the trust are 
sterling. 

A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is 
translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange 
rate on the date of the transaction. 

Where the trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a 
foreign currency at the Statement of Financial Position date: 

• monetary items (other than financial instruments 
measured at “fair value through income and 
expenditure”) are translated at the spot exchange rate 
on 31 March; 

• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical 
cost are translated using the spot exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction; and 

•  non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date 
the fair value was determined. 

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on 
settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at the 
Statement of Financial Position date) are recognised in 
income or expense in the period in which they arise. 

Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and 
liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other gains 
and losses on these items.

1.21 Third party assets

The Trust does not hold any third party assets.

1.22 Losses and Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament 
would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the 
health service or passed legislation.  By their nature they 
are items that ideally should not arise.  They are therefore 
subject to special control procedures compared with the 
generality of payments.  They are divided into different 
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are 
handled.
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Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant 
functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, 
including losses which would have been made good 
through insurance cover had NHS Foundation trusts not 
been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums 
then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.23 Accounting Standards that have been issued but 
have not yet been adopted

The Treasury FReM does not require the following 
Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2013-14. 
The application of the Standards as revised would not have 
a material impact on the accounts for 2013-14, were they 
applied in that year:

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (amendment)

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
(amendment)

IAS32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (amendment)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

2. Operating segments
NEAS has not identified any operating segments as all services relate to the delivery of healthcare. In addition, segmental 
reporting is not currently provided to the Trust Board.

Howver, a breakdown of those customers who North East Ambulance Service received income from which accounted for 
at leat 10% or more of total income is shown below as a separate disclosure. A full breakdown is shown in notes 3, 4 and 
5. As Clinical Governance Groups are under common control they are classed as a single group of customers.

No other organisations paid NEAS income over the 10% threshold during 2013/14.

2013-14
£000

NHS Income - Clinical Commissioning Groups: non NHS income 109,232

non NHS income 0

Total income from customers >10% threshold 109,232
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3. Operating Income
3.1 Operating Income (by classification)

2013-14
£000
Total

2012-13
£000
Total

Income from activities 5,763 5,308

  A&E Income 73,887 74,015 

  PTS Income 22,362 22,946 

  Other Income 15,780 10,555 

Sub Total Income from activities 112,029 107,516

Other operating income

  Research and development 173 285

  Education and training 1,291 1,148

  Non-patient care services to other bodies 531 572

  Profit on disposal of land and buildings 49 430

  Reversal of impairments of property, plant and equipment 259 38

  Rental revenue from operating leases 66 65

  Other revenue 296 338

2,665 2,876

Total Operating Income 114,694 110,392

Income from activities is classified as Non Commissioner Requested Services.

The increase in other income is due to the full year effect of the roll out for the NHS 111 North East service.

3.2 Private Patient Income

The Trust had no private patient income during the reporting year.

3.3 Operating Lease Revenue

2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

 Rental income from operating leases - minimum lease receipts 66 66

Sub Total Income from activities 66 66

 Future minimum lease receipts due on leases of buildings expiring 66 65

    - not later than one year 259 259

    - later than one year and not later than five years 26 31

    - later than five years 351 355
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4. Revenue from patient care activities
2013-14

£000
2012-13

£000

  NHS Foundation Trusts 1,297 1,288 

  NHS Trusts 0 136 

  Clinical Commissioning Groups 109,225 0 

  Primary Care Trusts 0 103,697 

  Strategic Health Authorities 0 505 

  Local Authorities 15 62 

  Department of Health 298 592 

  NHS - Other 5 0 

  NHS Injury Scheme 480 463 

  Non NHS - Other 709 773 

Total revenue from patient care activities 112,029 107,516 

5. Other operating revenue
2013-14

£000
2012-13

£000

  Research and development 1,297 1,288 

  Education and training 0 136 

  Non-patient care services to other bodies 109,225 0 

  Profit on disposal of land and buildings 0 103,697 

  Reversal of impairments of property, plant and equipment 0 505 

  Rental revenue from operating leases 15 62 

  Other revenue 298 592 

Total other operating revenue 2,665 2,876

Total operating revenue (notes 4 and 5) 112,029 107,516 
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6. Operating expenses
2013-14

£000
2012-13

£000

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts (85) (73) 

Services from PCT's 0 (5) 

Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies (2,923) (948) 

Employee expenses - Executive directors (779) (590) 

Employee expenses - Non-executive directors (153) (203) 

Employee expenses - Staff (74,443) (72,216) 

Drug costs (339) (333) 

Supplies and services - clinical (474) (807) 

Supplies and services - general (1,204) (1,111) 

Consultancy services (738) (565) 

Establishment (2,218) (2,117) 

Business Travel (331) (280) 

Transport (6,543) (9,530) 

Premises (6,708) (4,836) 

Other services including payroll (83) (78) 

Inventories write down 0 (7) 

Inventories consumed (4,616) (1,609) 

Depreciation (6,905) (7,319) 

Amortisation on intangible assets (75) (51) 

Impairments of property, plant and equipment (1,494) (5,781) 

Audit fees - statutory audit (55) (57) 

Clinical negligence (317) (297) 

Research and development (not included in employee expenses) (22) (155) 

Research and development (included in employee expenses) (118) (209) 

Training, Courses and Conferences (781) (798) 

Legal fees (219) (80) 

Redundancy (74) (120) 

Hospitality (9) (10) 

Publishing (141) (39) 

Insurance (17) (50) 

Losses and ex-gratia payments (571) (488) 

Decrease in provision for impaired receivables 0 6

Rentals under operating leases - minimum lease payments (876) (943) 

Rentals under operating leases - contingent rent (151) (240) 

Rentals under operating leases - sublease receipts 31 31

Change in provisions discount rate (125) 0

Other (2) 0

(113,558) (111,908) 
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7. Employees expenses
7.1 Employee expenses

2013-14 2012-13

Total Permanently 
employed

Other Total Permanently 
employed

Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Salaries and wages (62,698) (62,698) 0 (61,255) (61,255) 0

Social security costs (4,700) (4,700) 0 (4,753) (4,753) 0

Pension cost - defined 
contribution plans   Employers 
contributions to NHS Pensions

(7,185) (7,185) 0 (6,881) (6,881) 0

Agency/contract staff (1,126) 0 (1,126) (655) 0 (655) 

Total Gross Staff Costs (75,709) (74,583) (1,126) (73,544) (72,889) (655) 

7.2 Average monthly number of people employed

2013-14 2012-13

Total Permanently 
employed

Other Total Permanently 
employed

Other

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Ambulance staff 1,791 1,791 0 1,724 1,724 0

Administration and estates 281 281 0 266 266 0

Healthcare assistants and other 
support staff

64 64 0 67 67 0

Nursing, midwifery and health 
visiting staff

9 9 0 17 17 0

Agency and Contact Staff 19 0 19 7 0 7

Bank staff 22 0 22 14 0 14

Other 2 2 0 2 2 0

Total 2,188 2,147 41 2,097 2,076 21

7.3 Employee Benefits

There were no employee benefits during the financial year other than the Trust’s employees are covered by the NHS 
Pension Scheme.

7.4 Early Retirements due to ill-health

There were 4 early retirements due to ill-health where the cost of the additional liabilities borne by the NHS Pensions 
Agency equates to £224k.         

7.5 Analysis of termination benefits

There were three cases at a cost of £48k. (One case at £120k during the year 1 April 2012- 31 March 2013).
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7.6 Directors Remuneration

2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

Executive Directors 1,294 1,426

Executive Directors - Employers Pension Contribution 81 74

Non Executive Directors 128 186

Highest Paid Director

Total remuneration 150 131

Employers Pension Contribution 21 18

7.7 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions 
of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits 
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS 
Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The 
scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers 
NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England 
and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way 
that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of 
the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution 
scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the 
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the 
scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in 
the accounts do not differ materially from those that would 
be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial 
valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between 
formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate 
assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these 
follows:

a) Accounting valuation

A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually 
by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting 
period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous 
accounting period in conjunction with updated membership 
and financial data for the current reporting period, and are 
accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial 
reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as 
at 31 March 2014, is based on valuation data as 31 March 
2013, updated to 31 March 2014 with summary global 

member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial 
assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant 
FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by 
HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is 
contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part 
of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) 
Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can 
be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be 
obtained from The Stationery Office.

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability 
in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking 
into account its recent demographic experience), and to 
recommend the contribution rates.

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the 
NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 
31 March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation 
would have been due for the year ending 31 March 2008. 
However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded public 
service schemes were suspended by HM Treasury on value 
for money grounds while consideration is given to recent 
changes to public service pensions, and while future 
scheme terms are developed as part of the reforms to 
public service pension provision due in 2015.

The Scheme Regulations were changed to allow 
contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for 
Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration 
of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate 
employee and employer representatives as deemed 
appropriate.
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The next formal valuation to be used for funding purposes 
will be carried out as at 31 March 2012 and will be used to 
inform the contribution rates to be used from 1 April 2015.

c) Scheme provisions 

The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which 
are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, 
and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the 
Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before 
these benefits can be obtained:

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are 
normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the 
best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of 
service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay 
per year of membership. Members who are practitioners 
as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual 
pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the 
relevant pensionable service.

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to 
give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax 
free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under 
HMRC rules. This new provision is known as “pension 
commutation”.

Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates 
defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based 
on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 
September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used and replaced the 
Retail Prices Index (RPI).

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available 
to members of the scheme who are permanently incapable 
of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or 
infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable 
pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension 
for death after retirement is payable.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the 
additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. 
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is 
charged to the employer.

Members can purchase additional service in the NHS 
Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVCs run by 
the Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing 
Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers. 

The National Employment Savings Scheme (NEST) is a 
defined contribution pension scheme that was created 
as part of the government’s workplace pensions reforms 
under the Pensions Act 2008. From 1st August 2013 this 
scheme was introduced in the foundation trust with those 
employees that qualified under the scheme auto-enrolled 
onto the NEST pension scheme. Employees are able to opt 
out of the scheme after auto-enrolment has taken place. 
There is also an option for the employee to take a break 
from their contributions if required.

From October 2012 to September 2017 the minimum 
contribution is 2 per cent, of this, the employer must pay 
at least 1 per cent. From October 2017 to September 
2018 this increases to 5 per cent, of which, the employer 
must pay at least 2 per cent and then from October 
2018 onwards this increases to 8 per cent, of which, the 
employer must pay at least 3 per cent.
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8. Operating leases
8.1 As lessee

North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust has 3 main operating lease liabilities, namely Land, Buildings and 
Vehicles.Land & Buildings include Ambulance stations and office buildings.  Vehicle leasing exclude Emergency Care 
vehicles wich are purchased outright.          

Future vehicle lease payments are shown in the “Other” category below.        

The future lease payments for land relate to the 9 Finance Leases which are disclosed in Note 40.

Contingent rent relates to Land & Buildings only and reflects increases in rent that were unknown at the inception of the 
lease and also include finance lease rental increases. 

Payments recognised as an expense

2013-14 2012-13

Buildings Land Other Total Buildings Land Other Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Minimum lease 
payments

(272) (62) (542) (876) (267) (90) (586) (943) 

Contingent rents (142) (9) 0 (151) (216) (24) 0 (240) 

Less sub-lease 
payments received

31 0 0 31 31 0 0 31

Total (383) (71) (542) (996) (452) (114) (586) (1,152) 

8.2 Arrangements containing an operating lease

Total future minimum lease payments 
Future minimum lease payments due

2013-14 2012-13

Buildings Land Other Total Buildings Land Other Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

not later than one year (272) (62) (521) (855) (259) (62) (586) (907) 

between one and five 
years

(457) (169) (373) (999) (505) (193) (146) (844) 

after five years (662) (214) 0 (876) (766) (250) 0 (1,016) 

Total (1,391) (445) (894) (2,730) (1,530) (505) (732) (2,767) 

Total of future 
minimum sublease 
payments to be 
received at the year 
end date 

£61k

An ex-control building has been sublet at £31k per annum until 8th March, 2016.
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8.3  Limitation on Auditors Liability

PwC LLP as external auditor specified a £1million limitation 
on auditors liability for the year, (£1million limitation on 
auditors liability in 2012/13)

8.4 The late payment of commercial debts (interest) 
Act 1998

There was no interest payable during the year.

8.5 Auditors Remuneration

There was no additional auditor remuneration other than 
for the statutory accounts for 2013/14 (2012/13: nil). The 
Foundation Trust auditors do carry out an independent 
examination of the Charitable

Fund Accounts but as consolidation of the Charity accounts 
has not been carried out then the expenditure of £1k is not 
shown within these accounts.

9. Discontinued operation
There were no discontinued operations for the year.

10. Corporation Tax
Corporation tax was not due in the year
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11.  Finance Income
2013-14

£000
2012-13

£000

Interest on bank accounts 64 117

Total 64 117

12.  Finance expenses
2013-14

£000
2012-13

£000

Interest on obligations under finance leases (153) (250) 

Other Finance Cost - interest (6) 0

Other Finance Cost - change in provision discount rate 0 (104) 

Total interest expense (159) (354) 

Note - change in discount rate 2013-14 is now disclosed in note 6, operating expenses.

13. Public Dividend Capital
The Trust is required to pay a dividend to the Department of Health equal to 3.5% of the average of opening and closing 
net relevant assets for the year. As set out in the Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, the calculation of the 
dividend excludes cash held with the Government Banking Service.       

£000

Opening Capital and Reserves (Total Assets Employed) 40,634

Closing Capital and Reserves (Total Assets Employed) 40,828

Average net assets 40,731 (A)

Average cash balance held in Government Banking Service Accounts 14,476 (B)

Average relevant net assets 26,255 (A-B)

Dividend (3.5% of average relevant net assets) 919

The forecast Dividend payment as notified by the Department of Health was £937k.

Therefore there is a debtor due to the Trust of £18k which will be deducted from the September 2014 dividend payment.

The above calculation is based on pre-audited accounts and is not adjusted for results in the audited accounts.
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14.   Impairments
2013-14 

Property, plant and 
equipment

2012-13 
Property, plant and 

equipment

£000 £000

Over-specification of assets (536) (5,237) 

Changes in market price (958) (544) 

Reversal of impairment 259 38

Total (1,235) (5,743) 

15. Intangible assets
15.1  Intangible assets - 2013/14

2013-14 
Software licences (purchased) 

£000

Valuation/Gross cost at 1 April 2013 441

   Additions purchased 98

Gross cost at 31 March 2014 539

Amortisation at 1 April 2013 208

  Charged during the year 75

Amortisation at 31 March 2014 283

15.2  Intangible assets - 2012/13

2012-13 
Software licences (purchased) 

£000

Valuation/Gross cost at 1 April 2012 282

   Additions purchased 159

Gross cost at 31 March 2013 441

Amortisation at 1 April 2012 157

  Charged during the year 51

Amortisation at 31 March 2013 208

15.3 Intangible assets financing

2013-14 
Software licences (purchased) 

£000

2012-13 
Software licences (purchased) 

£000

Net book value

  NBV - Purchased at 31 March 256 233
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16. Property, plant and equipment
16.1. Property, plant and equipment 2013-14

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Assets under 
construction

Plant and 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Furniture 
and 

fittings

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross cost/valuation 
at 1 April 2013

2,974 17,121 152 7,772 29,307 7,576 0 64,902

Additions purchased 0 3,276 52 359 0 3,687

Reclassifications 0 655 (2,329) 56 1,472 146 0 0

Revaluations 0 (1,675) 0 (39) (459) 0 0 (2,173) 

Transferred to/from 
disposal group as held 
for sale

0 600 0 0 0 0 0 600

Disposals 0 0 0 (20) (2,298) (2,264) 0 (4,582) 

Gross cost/valuation 
at 31 March 2014

2,974 16,701 1,099 7,821 28,022 5,817 0 62,434

Accumulated 
depreciation at 
1 April 2013

0 (1,525) 0 (4,643) (15,893) (4,956) 0 (27,017) 

Provided during  
the year

0 (1,309) 0 (990) (3,641) (965) 0 (6,905) 

Impairments 0 (1,193) 0 (39) (262) 0 0 (1,494) 

Reversal of 
impairments 

0 259 0 0 0 0 0 259

Revaluations 0 1,739 0 39 459 0 0 2,237

Disposals 0 0 0 19 2,219 2,265 0 4,503

Accumulated 
depreciation at  
31 March 2014

0 (2,029) 0 (5,614) (17,118) (3,656) 0 (28,417) 
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16.2. Property, plant and equipment 2012-13

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Assets under 
construction

Plant and 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Furniture 
and 

fittings

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation at 
1st April 2012

2,974 18,649 501 7,602 27,230 6,528 548 64,032

Additions purchased 0 0 12,101 20 0 859 104 13,084

Reclassifications 0 8,100 (12,450) 298 3,669 269 114 0

Disposals 0 (3,317) 0 (148) (1,592) (80) (766) (5,903) 

Revaluation 0 (6,311) 0 0 0 0 0 (6,311) 

Transferred to disposal 
group as held for sale

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

At 31 March 2013 2,974 17,121 152 7,772 29,307 7,576 0 64,902

Accumulated 
depreciation at  
1 April 2012

0 (985) 0 (3,791) (13,938) (3,758) (262) (22,734) 

Provided during  
the year

0 (1,432) 0 (1,000) (3,535) (1,228) (124) (7,319) 

Impairments 0 (5,781) 0 0 0 0 0 (5,781) 

Reversal of 
impairments 

0 38 0 0 0 0 0 38

Reclassifications 0 33 0 0 0 (20) (13) 0

Revaluations 0 6,141 0 0 0 0 0 6,141

Disposals 0 461 0 148 1,580 50 399 2,638

Accumulated 
depreciation at 
31 March 2013

0 (1,525) 0 (4,643) (15,893) (4,956) 0 (27,017) 
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16.3 Property, plant and equipment financing

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Assets under 
construction

Plant and 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Furniture 
and 

fittings

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Opening Net book 
value as at 1st April 
2013

2,974 15,596 152 3,129 13,414 2,620 0 37,885

Net book value - 31 March 2014:

Owned 2,974 13,189 1,099 2,207 10,904 2,161 0 32,534

Finance leased 0 1,483 0 0 0 0 0 1,483

Total at 31 March 
2014

2,974 14,672 1,099 2,207 10,904 2,161 0 34,017

Net book value - 31 March 2013:

Owned 2,974 13,057 152 3,129 13,414 2,620 0 35,346

Finance leased 0 2,539 0 0 0 0 0 2,539

Total at 31 March 
2013

2,974 15,596 152 3,129 13,414 2,620 0 37,885

There were no new donated assets or government granted 
assets during the course of the financial year.

Property assets including Land and Buildings were revalued 
as at 31 March 2014. The revaluation was undertaken by 
the ‘desktop’ valuation for the Trust’s owned property 
assets (as they were also valued by the VOA in March 
2010).

These valuations are based upon fair values applying 
Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) for Specialised Assets 
and Existing Use Values (EUV) for Non-Specialised Assets. 
Finance lease assets were valued on a Leasehold Interest 
Valuation method as at 31 March 2014.

There were no significant changes of asset lives during the 
financial year however we chose to revalue one specialised 
HART vehicle which was overvalued.

No compensation has been received from third parties for 
assets impaired, lost or given up, that is included in the 
trust’s surplus/deficit.     
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18.2 Economic life of property, plant and equipment

Min Life 
Years

Max Life 
Years

Land 1 104

Buildings - excluding dellings 1 104

Plant and machinery 5 15

Transport equipment 4 10

Information technology 5 5

Furniture and fittings 5 15

19. Analysis of property, plant and equipment in the revaluation reserve
As at 31 March 2014

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Assets under 
construction

Plant and 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Furniture 
and 

fittings

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Assets 2,974 14,672 1,099 2,207 10,904 2,161 0 34,017

As at 31 March 2013

Assets 2,974 15,596 152 3,129 13,414 2,620 0 37,885

17. Intangible assets aquired by 
government grant
There were no intangible assets aquired by government 
grant during the year.

18. Economic lives
18.1 Economic life of intangible assets

The Trust only holds software which has an economic life 
of 5 years

20.  Investments
There were none during the year

21. Jointly Controlled Operations
There were none during the year.
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22. Non-current assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups   
2013-14 

Property, Plant and 
Equipment 

£000

2012-13 
Property, Plant and 

Equipment 
£000

At 1 April 1,073 1,073

Less assets no longer classified as held for sale (600) 0

Less impairments 0 0

Less assets sold in the year 0 0

NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal groups at 31 March 473 1,073

23.  Other assets
There were none during the year.

24. Other financial assets
There were none during the year.

25. Inventories
There were none during the year.

25.1 Inventories

31 March 2014
£000

31 March 2013
£000

Land 606 636

Buildings - excluding dwellings 137 186

Total 743 822

25.2   Inventories recognised in expenses

2013-14 
£000

2012-13 
£000

Inventories recognised as an expense in the year (4,616) 636

Write-down of inventories (including losses) 0 186

Total (4,616) 822
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26. Trade and other receivables
26.1 Trade and other receivables

Current 
31 March 2014

£000

Non-current 
31 March 2014

£000

Current 
31 March 2013

£000

Non-current 
31 March 2013

£000

NHS receivables-revenue 3,101 0 1,997 0

Other receivables with related 
parties - revenue

3 0 314 0

Provision for the impairment of 
receivables

(15) 0 (15) 0

Prepayments 1,420 0 633 0

Accrued income 280 0 47 0

PDC dividend receivable 18 0 92 0

VAT 163 0 32 0

Other receivables 1,202 0 890 0

Total 6,172 0 3,990 0

 
The great majority of trade is with CCG’s, NHS England and Foundation Trusts, as commissioners for NHS patient care 
services.  As CCG’s and Foundation Trusts are funded by Government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring 
of them is considered necessary.

27.  Provision for impairment of receivables
27.1  Provision for impairment of receivables

Current 
31 March 2014

£000

Non-current 
31 March 2013

£000

At start of the year (15) (21) 

Other receivables 0 6

Total (15) (15) 
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27.2  Analysis of receivables       

Current 
31 March 2014

£000

Non-current 
31 March 2013

£000

Aging of impaired receivables Trade Other

 Over 180 days (15) (15) 

Aging of non impaired receivables past their due date

 0-30 days (255) 0

 30-60 days 78 0

 60-90 days 19 0

 90-180 days 100 0

 Over 180 days 183 0

125 0

Impairment of receivables includes invoices raised to offset costs incurred due to damage to Trust vehicles.

28. Finance lease receivables       
There were none during the year.

29. Cash and cash equivalents
Current 

31 March 2014

£000

Non-current 
31 March 2013

£000

Balance at 1 April 2013 / 1 April 2012 10,478 9,576

Net change in year 3,030 902

Balance at 31 March 2014 13,508 10,478

Made up of

Cash with Government banking services 13,507 10,473

Commercial banks and cash in hand 1 1

Current investments 0 4

Cash and cash equivalents 13,508 10,478

Bank overdraft - Government banking services 0 0

Bank overdraft - Commercial banks 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 13,508 10,478
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30.  Trade and other payables
30.1  Trade and other payables

Current 
31 March 2014

£000

Non-current 
31 March 2014

£000

Current 
31 March 2013

£000

Non-current 
31 March 2013

£000

Receipts in advance (10) 0 0 0

NHS payables-revenue (101) 0 (99) 0

NHS payables-early retirement costs 
due in 1 year

(21) 0 (21) 0

Amounts due to other related parties (912) 0 (867) 0

Non NHS trade payables - revenue (1,947) 0 (1,286) 0

Non NHS trade payables - capital (467) (609) (232) (591) 

Social Security costs (741) 0 (756) 0

Accruals (2,855) 0 (3,326) 0

Other Taxes Payable (688) 0 (726) 0

Other (8) 0 (7) 0

Total (7,750) (609) (7,320) (591) 

 
30.2 Early retirements in NHS payables above 
There were no payables to the pensions agency in respect of the buy-out of early retirements over 5 years.

31.   Borrowings
Current 

31 March 2014

£000

Non-current 
31 March 2014

£000

Current 
31 March 2013

£000

Non-current 
31 March 2013

£000

Finance lease liabilities (301) (2,043) (268) (2,363) 

Total (301) (2,403) (268) (2,363) 

The Finance Lease liabilities relate to the capital principal repayments due on the finance leases. 
Further information is provided in Note.40.

32.   Prudential Borrowing Limit
The NHS Foundation Trust is to no longer required to disclose information on this.  The prudential borrowing code 
requirement in section 41 of the NHS Act 2006 was repealed with effect from 1st April 2013 by the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012.          
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33.   Other liabilities
31 March 2014 31 March 2013

DH

£000

Health 
Education 

England

£000

CCG’s and 
NHS England

£000

External to 
Government

£000

Total

£000

Total

£000

Deferred income - grants (5) (96) (360) (8) (469) (173) 

Deferred income - goods 
and services

(55) 0 0 0 (55) (92) 

Other deferred income 0 0 0 (23) (23) (135) 

Total (60) (96) (360) (31) (547) (400) 

The Finance Lease liabilities relate to the capital principal repayments due on the finance leases. 
Further information is provided in Note.40.

34.   Other financial liabilities
There were none during the year.

35.   Provisions
35.1   Provisions

Current 
31 March 2014

£000

Non-current 
31 March 2014

£000

Current 
31 March 2013

£000

Non-current 
31 March 2013

£000

Pensions relating to former directors (13) (120) (13) (123) 

Pensions relating to other staff (68) (526) (68) (572) 

Legal claims (283) 0 (249) 0

Restructuring (68) 0 0 0

Other (Injury Benefits/frozen leave) (129) (1,861) (134) (1,654) 

Total (561) (2,507) (464) (2,349) 
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35.2   Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis

Pensions 
relating 

to former 
directors

£000

Pensions 
relating to 
other staff

£000

Legal claims

£000

Restructuring

£000

Other

£000

Total

£000

At 1 April 2013 (136) (640) (249) 0 (1,788) (2,813) 

Change in the discount rate (4) (21) 0 0 (100) (125) 

Arising during the year (3) (13) (359) (68) (186) (629) 

Used during the year - 
accruals

3 18 0 0 33 54

Used during the year - cash 10 53 210 0 97 370

Reversed unused 0 21 115 0 0 136

Unwinding of discount (3) (12) 0 0 (46) (61) 

At 31 March 2014 (133) (594) (283) (68) (1,990) (3,068) 

Expected timing of cash flows

Within one year (13) (68) (283) (68) (129) (561) 

Between one and five years (50) (261) 0 0 (494) (805) 

After five years (70) (265) 0 0 (1,367) (1,702) 

Legal claims are those recorded through the NHS Litigation Authority for Employer’s liability claims.

The ‘other’ class of provisions includes Injury Benefit provisions to ex-employees and Banked/Frozen Leave

The former directors pensions, other staff pensions and injury benefits provision balances are calculated by using an 
estimate of life expectancy based on the Office of National Statistics Life Tables. The future payments for early retirements 
and injury benefits are also discounted to take into account the time value of money using HM Treasury’s recommended 
discount rate.  This was amended from 2.35% to 1.8% on 31 March 2014.

The injury benefit payments assume a constant payment, however, as the individual loses or gains other state benefits 
these payments would alter and a revision to the carrying amount recorded.

£90k is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the 
Foundation Trust (31/03/2013 £580k).           
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36.  Contingencies
31/03/14

£000

31/03/13

£000

Contingent asset 500 0

Contingent liability (EL claims) (214) (183) 

36.1   Contingent liability           

Each employers liability claim is given a probability of the claim being successful, the remaining percentage is multiplied 
by the total liability to give the contingent element. The Foundation Trust’s maximum exposure per claim is limited to 
a £10k excess, the remainder is the liability of the NHSLA. The ‘legal claims’ total of £283k given in Note 35.2. is the 
corresponding provision element of these same claims. The Foundation Trust is likely to settle these liabilities within 12 
months.    

36.2   Contingent assets           

The Foundation Trust has one contingent asset, which it has had since 2002 and it may have this until expiry of a legal 
document in 2022. In September 2002, NEAS sold its interest in the Framwellgate Moor site to Durham County Council 
(on behalf of the Fire service).  The nature of the asset is that the Trust is due a contribution from any future sale of the 
site.  The Council are currently progressing the sale of the site and have notified the Trust of anticipated proceeds in the 
region of £500K.

37 Revaluation Reserve Movements
37.1 Revaluation Reserve Movements 2013-14

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Property plant 
and equipment

£000

Revaluation 
Reserve Assets 

Held for Sale

£000

Total

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013 3,355 387 3,742

Revaluations 64 0 64

Transfer to Income and Expenditure reserve 0 (370) (370) 

Asset disposals (76) 0 (76) 

Other reserves movements (455) 0 (455) 

Revaluation Reserve at 31 March 2014 2,888 17 2,905
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37.2 Revaluation Reserve Movements 2012-13

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Property plant 
and equipment

£000

Revaluation 
Reserve Assets 

Held for Sale

£000

Total

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2012 4,060 380 4,440

Revaluations (170) 0 (170) 

Transfer to Income and Expenditure reserve (7) 7 0

Asset disposals (39) 0 (39) 

Other reserves movements (489) 0 (489) 

Revaluation Reserve at 31 March 2013 3,355 387 3,742

38.  Related party transactions
Senior employee Jim Baines, Business Manager, Commercial Services has contracted a close relative to carry out training 
duties in a department for which they have overall responsibility.  The value of the transaction is £9,585 which is material 
to the related party rather than to the Foundation Trust.

Value of transactions with related parties during the year are shown below. Values are disclosed if income or expenditure 
has exceeded £100k or if receivables or payables exceed £50k       
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The Accounts

Income

£000

Expenditure

£000

Receivables

£000

Payables

£000

Department of Health 312 (975) 18 (100) 

NHS England 27 0 272 (157) 

Cumbria CCG 339 0 12 0

Darlington CCG 3,793 0 112 (2) 

Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgfield CCG 13,588 0 222 (37) 

Gateshead CCG 8,444 0 184 (4) 

Hartlepool and Stockton on Tees CCG 10,524 0 280 (5) 

Hambledon, Richmond and Whitby CCG 92 0 55 0

Newcastle North and East CCG 5,191 0 135 (3) 

Newcastle West CCG 5,388 0 129 (3) 

North Durham CCG 9,737 0 2 (23) 

North Tyneside CCG 7,575 0 201 (4) 

Northumberland CCG 13,721 0 350 (27) 

South Tees CCG 11,636 0 345 (2) 

South Tyneside CCG 6,776 0 164 (3) 

Sunderland CCG 12,236 0 545 (90) 

Health Education England 1,267 0 148 (96) 

NHS Litigation Authority 0 (317) 0 0

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 0 0 3 (174) 

Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 125 (67) 11 0

Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust 643 0 8 0

Tees Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust 558 (27) 7 (19) 

Newcastle upon Tyne City Council 10 (344) 348 0

Northumberland Unitary Authority 29 (213) 55 0

Sunderland City Metropolitan Borough Council 1 (111) 78 0

HM Revenue and Customs 0 (4,700) 161 (1,429) 

NHS Pensions Authority 0 (7,185) 0 (933) 

112,012 (13,939) 3,845 (3,111) 

The Foundation Trust also has its own registered charity.  Certain members of the trustees are also members of the NHS 
Trust Board.       

The North East Ambulance Service Trust Fund is registered with the Charity Commission, Charity number 1078575. The 
current balance of funds is £64k. The Trust Fund accounts are not consolidated into the Foundation Trust accounts due to 
the immaterial value of these funds.       
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39. Contractual capital and other financial commitments
The Foundation Trust had capital commitments for property plant and equipment to the value of £1,593k.

40. Finance lease obligations
The Trust has 9 finance building leases as at 31st March, 2014 (31st March, 2013, 9).

The rental for the land element of the Trust’s 9 finance leases are included within the operating lease note 8.1 as well as 
contingent rent which reflects increases in rent that were unknown at the inception of the lease.

The most significant finance lease (£1.230m) is for the Monkton Station and HART (Hazardous Area Response Team) site 
which is not due to expire until 2027/28 - there are no purchase options or escalation clauses within this lease.

The total future minimum lease payments at the end of the financial year have been discounted using the implicit finance 
charge rate to give the present value.

31 March 2014

£000

31 March 2013

£000

Gross lease liabilities of which liabilities are due (3,273)  (3,695)  

  - not later than one year (412)   (382)   

  - later than one year and not later than five years (1,136)   (1,341)   

  - later than five years (1,725)   (1,972)   

Finance charges allocated to future years 928 1,064

(2,345)   (2,631)   

Net lease liabilities (2,345)   (2,631)   

  - not later than one year (412)   (382)   

  - later than one year and not later than five years (978)   (1,167)   

  - later than five years (954)   (1,082)   

Included in: (2,345)   (2,631)   

  Current borrowings (301)   (268)   

  Non-current borrowings (2,044)   (2,363)   

(2,345)   (2,631)   

41. On SOFP PFI
The Trust has no PFI schemes.

42. Off SOFP PFI
The Trust has no PFI schemes.

43. Events after the reporting period
There were no events after the reporting period.
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44.   Financial instruments
44.1   Financial assets

At fair value 
through profit 

and loss

£000

Loans and 
receivables

£000

Available for 
sale

£000

Total

£000

NHS Receivables 0 3,291 0 3,291

Non NHS Receivables 0 1,294 0 1,294

Cash at bank and in hand 0 13,508 0 13,508

Total at 31 March 2014 0 18,093 0 18,093

NHS Receivables 0 1,997 0 1,997

Non NHS Receivables 0 938 0 938

Cash at bank and in hand 0 10,478 0 10,478

Total at 31 March 2013 0 13,413 0 13,413

44.2   Financial liabilities

At Fair Value 
Through Profit 

or Loss

£000

Measured at 
Amortised 

Cost

£000

Total

£000

NHS Payables 0 (101) (101) 

Non-NHS Payables 0 (4,639) (4,639) 

PFI and finance lease obligations 0 (2,344) (2,344) 

Total at 31 March 2014 0 (7,084) (7,084) 

NHS Payables 0 (99)   (99) 

Non-NHS Payables 0 (3,692)   (3,692) 

Finance lease obligations 0 (2,632)   (2,632) 

Total at 31 March 2013 0 (6,423)   (6,423) 

44.3  Fair value of financial assets at 31 March 2014 

Due to their short term nature the book values of the Foundation Trusts financial assets are the same as the fair value. 

44.4  Fair value of finacial liabilities at 31 March 2014 

Due to their short term nature the book values of the Foundation Trusts financial liabiities are the same as the fair value.
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44.5  Financial risk management

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure 
of the role that financial instruments have had during 
the year in creating or changing the risks a body faces in 
undertaking its activities.  Because of the continuing service 
provider relationship that the NHS Foundation Trust has 
with Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s) and the way 
those CCG’s are financed, the NHS Foundation Trust is not 
exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business 
entities.  Also financial instruments play a much more 
limited role in creating or changing risk than would be 
typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting 
standards mainly apply.  The NHS Foundation Trust has 
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and 
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day 
operational activities rather than being held to change the 
risks facing the NHS Foundation Trust in undertaking its 
activities.

The Foundation Trust’s treasury management operations 
are carried out by the finance department, within 
parameters defined formally within the Foundation Trust’s 
standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the 
Board of Directors.  Foundation Trust treasury activity 
is subject to review by the Foundation Trust’s internal 
auditors.

Currency risk

The Foundation Trust is principally a domestic organisation 
with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities 
being in the UK and sterling based.  The Foundation Trust 
has no overseas operations.  The Foundation Trust therefore 
has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

Interest rate risk

The Foundation Trust borrows from government for capital 
expenditure.  The borrowings are for 1 – 25 years, in line 
with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged 
at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the 
loan.  The Foundation Trust therefore has low exposure to 
interest rate fluctuations.

Credit risk

Because the majority of the Foundation Trust’s income 
comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, 
the Foundation Trust has low exposure to credit risk.  The 
maximum exposures as at 31 March 2014 are in receivables 
from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other 
receivables note.

Liquidity risk

The Foundation Trust’s operating costs are incurred under 
contracts with CCG’s, which are financed from resources 
voted annually by Parliament .  The Foundation Trust funds 
its capital expenditure from funds obtained within its 
prudential borrowing limit.  The Foundation Trust is not, 
therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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45.  Losses and special payments 
2013-14 

Number
2013-14 
£000’s

2012-13 
Number

2012-13 
£000’s

Losses

1. Losses of cash due to: 

a. theft, fraud etc 0 0 0 0

b. overpayment of salaries etc. 7 9 8 11

c. other causes 18,990 84 23,006 99

2. Fruitless payments 0 0 0 0

3. Bad debts and claims abandoned in relation to: 

a. private patients 0 0 0 0

b. overseas visitors 0 0 0 0

c. other 0 0 0 0

4. Damage to buildings, property etc. due to: 

a. theft, fraud etc 0 0 0 0

b. other 0 0 0 0

Total Losses 18,997 93 23,014 110

Special Payments

5. Compensation under legal 
obligation 

0 0 0 0

6. Extra contractual to contractors 0 0 0 0

7. Ex gratia payments in respect of: 

a. loss of personal effects 0 0 0 0

b. clinical negligence with advice 0 0 0 0

c. personal injury with advice 59 204 43 230

d. other negligence and injury 0 0 0 0

e. other 27 3 1 15

g. Patient referrals outside the UK 
and EEA Guidelines

0 0 0 0

h. other 3 48 18 1

8. Special Severance payments 0 0 0 0

9. Extra statutory and regulatory 0 0 0 0

Total Special Payments 89 255 62 246

Total Losses and Special Payments 19,086 348 23,076 356

The amounts in the table above are prepared on an accruals basis but exclude provisions for future losses.
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46.  Better Payment Practice Code
2013-14 

Number
2013-14 
£000’s

2012-13 
Number

2012-13 
£000’s

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in 
the year

25,407 37,435 17,199 27,856

Total Non NHS trade invoices paid 
within target

24,043 35,899 16,919 27,128

Percentage of Non-NHS trade 
invoices paid within target

95% 96% 98% 97%

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the 
year

1,363 2,978 1,113 2,546

Total NHS trade invoices paid within 
target

1,328 2,924 1,105 2,538

Percentage of NHS trade invoices 
paid within target

97% 98% 99% 100%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Foundation Trust to aim to pay 95% of all undisputed invoices by the due 
date or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later.      
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